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Based in Hong Kong, Blue River Holdings Limited is
principally engaged in, inter alia, land and property
development and investment in association with
ports and infrastructure development and operation
of logistics facilities in China’s Yangtze River region,
as well as securities trading and investment, and
provision of loan financing services. In addition,
Blue River Holdings Limited provides comprehensive
engineering and property-related services through

Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
IEHES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Blue River
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present our
shareholders with the annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2021.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Group recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$277 million (2020: HK$364 million). Net profit for the year
attributable to the owners of the Company was approximately
HK$151 milion (2020: net loss of approximately HK$572
million), and basic and diluted earnings per share were both
HK13.7 cents (2020: basic and diluted losses per share of
HK51.8 cents). Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company increased by 6% to approximately HK$3,899 million
(2020: approximately HK$3,678 million), representing HK$3.53
(2020: HK$3.33) per share (after adjusted for share
consolidation with effect from 30 October 2020).

OVERVIEW

The Board has resolved not to recommend payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

During the year under review, the Company maintained a
prudent approach in refining its strategy with a view to
strengthen the long-term value of the Group. In July 2020, the
Group completed the disposals of 90% equity interest in Jiaxing
Port International Container Feeder Port Limited and 100%
equity interest in Paul Y. Corporation Limited which held 40%
equity interest in Jiangyin Sunan International Container
Terminal Co., Ltd., recognised a total net gain after tax of
approximately HK$111 million. A total consideration of
approximately RMB654 million has been fully received in cash in
Hong Kong up to the date of this statement. A detailed review
of our operations during the year is set out in the Business
Review.
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The world faced unprecedented challenges during the year due
to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to
heightened downside pressure on the global economy.
Countries around the world including China have adopted
lockdown and quarantine policies that have significantly
reduced business activities worldwide. In June 2021, World
Bank forecasted the global economy to expand 5.6% in 2021,
largely on strong rebounds from a few major economies.
However, many emerging markets and developing economies
continue to struggle with the COVID-19 pandemic and its
aftermath.

The Company continues to pursue effective internal control
measures and endeavours to enhance the quality of its overall
corporate governance measures. We maintained transparent
communications with investors and stakeholders, persisted to
pursue consistent and effective internal control and audit
programs, and offered relevant trainings for directors and
management of the Group. Details of the Group’s corporate
governance practices are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report and Business Review.

The Company demonstrated a strong commitment to corporate
social responsibility. Details of the Group’s corporate social
responsibilities are set out in the Business Review and
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

PROSPECTS

It is expected that the global economy will continue to be
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic until vaccination programs
are thoroughly available and accessible around the world.
Amidst such uncertainties, the Group is reviewing, from time to
time, and will consider its options on the resort development in
Xiao Yangkou and LNG projects in Hubei Province due to the
anticipated long term commitment for large amount of capital
expenditure, as well as possible divestment from those non-
performing assets in its property portfolio. The Group will
continue looking for investment opportunities in a cautious and
pragmatic approach with a view to enhancing shareholders’
value.
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EFEHRES

APPRECIATION

| wish to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude
to my fellow Board members for their valuable guidance and
monitoring of the Group. On behalf of the Board, | would like to
express our appreciation to the Group’s staff for their dedication
and contribution that gave impetus to the development of the
Group. | would also like to send gratitude to our shareholders,
clients and partners for their continuous support and confidence
to the Group. | wish them all prosperity and continued success
in the coming year.

Benny KWONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT

Ports and Logistics

In light of current government policies directives which assert
particular emphasis on more efficient utilisation of port assets
and elimination of ill-fated competition in the Yangtze River
region by way of consolidation of ownership and operations, the
Company successfully captured the divestment opportunities
on the traditional container and dry bulk terminals in recent
years. Following completion of disposals of Jiangyin Sunan and
Jiaxing Port in July 2020, the Company will focus its port and
logistic business on other bulk commodities terminals and
infrastructures with higher growth potential, in particular
liquefied natural gas (“LNG”).

Jiangyin Sunan Container Terminal (40% owned
before the disposal in July 2020)

On 16 December 2019, a conditional agreement was entered
into for the disposal of the Group’s entire 40% equity interest in
Jiangyin Sunan (through disposal of its investment holding
company Paul Y. Corporation Limited). The disposal of Jiangyin
Sunan was completed in July 2020. Consideration of
approximately RMB294 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$325 million) has been fully received in cash in Hong Kong.

Jiangyin Sunan contributed approximately HK$57 million to the
segment profit for the year, which represented the gain on
disposal of Jiangyin Sunan (2020: HK$12 million, represented
share of operating result of Jiangyin Sunan). A tax charge of
approximately HK$15 million (2020: Nil) in relation to the
disposal was recognised in the consolidated income statement
for the year.

Jiangyin Sunan Container Terminal is situated at New Harbour
District of New Harbour City in Jiangyin City and occupies a
land area of 0.49 sq km, shorelines of 589 m long at outer port
and 1,090 m long at inner port with 11 berths. It is principally
engaged in containers loading and discharging as well as the
storage, maintenance, washing and leasing of containers.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
RBER

Jiaxing International Feeder Port (90% owned before
the disposal in July 2020)

On 16 December 2019, a conditional agreement was entered
into for the disposal of the Group’s entire 90% equity interest in
Jiaxing Port. The disposal of Jiaxing Port was completed in July
2020. Consideration, net of tax, of approximately RMB360
million (equivalent to approximately HK$395 million) has been
fully received in cash in Hong Kong up to the date of this annual
report.

Jiaxing Port contributed approximately HK$93 million (2020:
HK$9 million) to the segment profit for the year, which
comprised the gain on disposal of Jiaxing Port of approximately
HK$84 million (2020: Nil) and Jiaxing Port’s operating profit of
approximately HK$9 million (2020: HK$9 million). A tax charge
of approximately HK$15 million (2020: Nil) in relation to the
disposal was recognised in the consolidated income statement
for the year.

Jiaxing International Feeder Port is situated at Nanhu District of
Jiaxing City and occupies a shoreline of 570 m and a land mass
of 326,000 sg m. The port has 10 berths which are principally
engaged in loading, discharging and storage of containers. The
port also features a range of integrated logistics supporting
services such as examination, quarantine, storage and
information services etc.

LPG, CNG and LNG Distribution and Logistics (100%
owned)

Affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the liquefied petroleum
gas (“LPG”) and compressed natural gas (“CNG”) distribution
and logistics businesses of Minsheng Gas in Wuhan recorded
an operating loss of approximately HK$10 million (2020: HK$12
million) during the year. During the year, the public health
measures in Wuhan City were relieved in stages upon the
alleviation of the COVID-19 pandemic, while the public
transportation system and people’s daily activities gradually
returned to normal. The sales volume of Minsheng Gas has
substantially returned to the level before the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Sales of LPG decreased by 20% to approximately 3,700 tonnes
(2020: 4,600 tonnes) and the sales of CNG decreased by 21%
to approximately 15.5 million m® (2020: 19.5 million m?) for the
year ended 31 March 2021.
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Currently, Minsheng Gas owns and operates the largest LPG
storage-tank farm and a river terminal in Hubei Province, and
has four LPG and four CNG automotive fueling stations in
Wuhan City.

Since 2013 and in line with the policy of Wuhan municipal
government to promote more CNG-powered vehicles in Wuhan
City, Minsheng Gas has established a diversification strategy to
transform its LPG fueling stations into CNG stations to improve
sale and profitability. Several LPG automotive fueling stations
had been transformed into CNG stations. In view of the keen
competition of CNG fueling stations in Wuhan City, Minsheng
Gas will continue to look for transformation opportunities.

Meanwhile, the PRC Government has made a strong
commitment to reduce the carbon emission at the 2015 United
Nations Climate Change Conference in Paris and has issued
policies to speed up the development of clean energy such as
LNG. Given that LNG is more efficient in terms of storage and
long-distance transportation as compared to piped natural gas,
there is tremendous growth potential for LNG storage and
infrastructure development. In consideration of the LNG growth
potential, Minsheng Gas intends to seize the opportunity to
further expand its business by initiating a two-phase
development plan to construct new LNG storage tanks and
LNG berths catering to domestic transportation and industrial
demands. Under the development plan, the LNG storage
facilities of Minsheng Gas will be designated as a regional
storage and trans-shipment hub for LNG in Hubei Province.

As of 31 March 2021, the pre-construction works for the LNG
project had substantially been completed. Given the impact of
COVID-19 on the general trading conditions, Minsheng Gas is
considering its options on the commencement of the first phase
of LNG project. Under the first phase of the development plan,
a new LNG storage tank with a storage capacity of 30,000
cubic metres will be built, with connecting pipelines to the
municipal natural gas distribution network. In addition, a new
LNG berth will be built next to the existing LPG berth.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
RBER

Yangkou Port (9.9% owned)

The Group’s 9.9% equity interest in Jiangsu Yangkou Port
Development and Investment Co. Ltd. (“Yangkou Port Co”)
contributed dividend income of approximately HK$1 million to
the segment’s profit for the year (2020: Nil).

Yangkou Port Co is principally engaged in the business of
development of port and related infrastructures at Yangkou
Port, an offshore type deep-sea harbour along the South East
Coast of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Strategically located near
the mouth of the Yangtze River, Yangkou Port is ideally situated
to become one of China’s largest trans-shipment hubs for dry
and liquid bulk cargoes.

Following our several staged divestments over the years from
75% to the current 9.9% interest, the residue investment is
intended to be held for long-term purpose and is classified as
financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. As at 31 March 2021, the investment in
Yangkou Port Co was stated at fair value of approximately
HK$237 million (2020: HK$310 million), equivalent to
approximately 3.6% (2020: 5.5%) of the Group’s total assets.
The unrealised decrease in fair value of approximately HK$73
million (2020: HK$51 million) for the year was recognised in
other comprehensive expense.

Given the lack of a stable and attractive dividend policy
established in Yangkou Port Co, the Group is assessing its
options on this investment based on its value accretion
potential.

Property

The property business recorded an operating loss of
approximately HK$1,045 million (2020: profit of HK$15 million)
for the year which was mainly attributable to (a) loss on fair
value changes of investment properties of approximately
HK$408 million (2020: gain of HK$47 milion), before the
relevant deferred tax credit of approximately HK$184 million (2020:
deferred tax charge of HK$22 million) and (b) write-down of the
stock of properties of approximately HK$641 million (2020:
HK$18 million), before the relevant deferred tax credit of
approximately HK$168 million (2020: Nil), which were mostly
attributable to the Group’s properties at Xiao Yangkou.
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The Group has 11.42 sq km (2020: 11.5 sg km) land bank
situated at Xiao Yangkou, which is under development as a
regional tourism site of national standard with hotspring and
recreational facilities. As at 31 March 2021, approximately 6.81
sg km (2020: 6.89 sq km) out of the 11.42 sq km (2020: 11.5
sq km) land bank had reached the developing stage or the
developed and serviced stage. The development status of the
11.42 sg km land bank was summarised as follows:
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1.89 Land under development Sale Stock of properties
ik gl HE MERE

0.03 Developed land Self-use Right-of-use assets
ERE LT B A TREEE

4.61 Pending development Undetermined Project under development
5 ) AR R T ERTIER

11.42

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the tourism industry with
stringent public health measures and travel restrictions. Such
negative impact has been reflected with higher impact on tourist
land than urban residential and commercial land in terms of
selling prices and transaction volume. In determining the fair
values of the developed land and land under development
situated at Xiao Yangkou which are zoned for tourist and resort
use, the valuer has consistently adopted market approach with
reference to the actual land transaction prices of the emerging
tourist and resort use land within the vicinity. Details of the
valuation technique and inputs of Xiao Yangkou’s investment
properties are disclosed in Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements. As at 31 March 2021, the investment properties of
approximately 2.88 sq km were measured at fair value of
approximately HK$730 million (2020: HK$1,041 million) and
recorded a loss on revaluation (before tax and non-controlling
interest) of approximately HK$388 million (2020: gain of HK$50
million) for the year.

2019 BAREBERARIT TEREHNRAEBGEEE
RIRTTRBIEEREEX - HEBEERSHE L
E HAEAFEYREBMOZERNEME
EREERA - REEMRNFAOZKRERE
BRARZERABE LW ERER L AFEE
B HEM—ERAMEEL 2 E 55 8K
BREBRARIHMZERTI R ZER -
NEOREMEGMESFEZRBASBEZFBED
REAFBRERM F21F HE - HR2021F3 8
31H 288 FHREZIREMEXRAFER
2 AN73EE T(2020: 10418 E L) I
RERSEHRBRRIEEREZN2EHBBRY
3.8818 7% T (2020 : Y1 255,0008 B 7T) °
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Similarly, land and properties at Xiao Yangkou classified as
stock of properties also suffered from the decline in market
value of high-end resort properties during the year. In addition,
the central government has rolled out new measures to clamp
down on the over-concentration of capital in the property
market and has rigorously tightened the financing criteria in the
property sector in August 2020. Further tightening measures
are expected to be introduced by the provincial and local
governments to make sure the property control measures of the
central government are being closely followed, which posed
further negative impact on the property market. In evaluating
the net realisable value of the property project, the valuer has
taken into account the changes on selling prices, the estimated
development costs and the extended sales and development
cycle of high-end resort property project caused by the
pandemic and the market uncertainty. As at 31 March 2021,
the Group’s certain stock of properties at Xiao Yangkou were
written down to their net realisable value of approximately
HK$563 million (corresponding carrying amount in 2020:
HK$1,015 million) and recorded a write-down (before tax and
non-controlling interest) of approximately HK$542 million (2020:
Nil) for the year. Details of the stock of properties and its net
realisable value assessment are disclosed in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements. During the year, the Group
has realised developed land and properties with an aggregate
land area of approximately 0.08 sq km at approximately HK$80
million (2020: Nil).

As at 31 March 2021, a gross floor area of approximately 6,000
sq m of “Nantong International Trade Center”, a commercial
and office building in the central business district of Nantong
City, was rented out for hotel operation and classified as
investment properties. The investment properties recorded a
loss on fair value change of approximately HK$20 million (2020:
HK$3 million) for the year. The Group also holds a gross floor
area of approximately 7,400 sgq m (2020: 11,000 sq m) of
“Nantong International Trade Center” for sale while a write-
down of approximately HK$38 million (2020: HK$18 million)
was made during the year mainly attributable to the price drop
in commercial properties and underground car parking spaces.
During the year, the building contributed revenue from sales of
properties of approximately HK$27 million to the Group (2020:
HK$26 million).
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In the Hangzhou Hi-Tech Industry Development Zone of
Bingjiang, Hangzhou City, the Group holds, as joint venture with
Paul Y. Engineering, an office building known as “Pioneer
Technology Building”, which has a gross floor area of
approximately 20,000 sg m. The building recorded a loss on fair
value change of approximately HK$16 million (2020: HK$9
million) and generated rental income of approximately HK$12
million (2020: HK$11 million) during the year. Its occupancy
reached approximately 96% as at 31 March 2021.

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Company’s wholly-
owned subsidiary entered into a non-legally binding term sheet
with a potential purchaser for the sale of the entire equity
interest, and assignment of its loan, in target companies within
the Group, which are engaged in, inter alia, development,
investment and sale of properties and recreational facilities at
Xiao Yangkou, at a preliminary purchase price of RMB750
million, subject to the terms and conditions set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2021.

Securities

Despite the unsettled China-US tension and COVID-19
pandemic which continues to pose negative impacts on the
global economy and financial markets including Hong Kong, the
panic on the securities market has gradually stabilised during
the year. The Group adopted a cautious and disciplined
approach in managing the Group’s securities portfolio and
recorded an operating gain of approximately HK$981 million (2020:
loss of HK$197 million), before the relevant deferred tax charge
of approximately HK$103 million (2020: Nil), for the year which
was mainly attributable to the net fair value gain of investments
in debt and equity instruments held for trading of approximately
HK$959 million (2020: loss of HK$224 million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s portfolio in securities
business mainly consisted of (a) investments in equity
instruments held for trading amounted to approximately
HK$1,338 million (2020: HK$192 million), equivalent to
approximately 20% (2020: 3%) of the Group’s total assets and (b)
investments in debt instruments held for trading amounted to
approximately HK$224 million (2020: HK$248 million),
equivalent to approximately 3% (2020: 4%) of the Group’s total
assets.
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As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s investments in equity
instruments held for trading included an investment in
18,290,000 ordinary listed shares of China Evergrande New
Energy Vehicle Group Limited (“Evergrande Vehicle”, stock
code: 0708.HK), which represented approximately 0.19% of its
issued share capital with a fair value of approximately HK$1,057
million). The investment in Evergrande Vehicle equivalent to
approximately 16% of the Group’s total assets and
approximately 79% of the Group’s investments in equity
instruments held for trading portfolio. The Group invested in
Evergrande Vehicle in 2019 with an acquisition cost of
approximately HK$207 million. The Group’s investment in
Evergrande Vehicle recorded an unrealised fair value gain of
approximately HK$954 million during the year, while the
cumulative unrealised gain of this investment amounted to
approximately HK$850 million as at 31 March 2021. No
acquisition or disposal of the investment in Evergrande Vehicle
was made nor any dividend was received from Evergrande
Vehicle during the year.

Evergrande Vehicle is principally engaged in technology
research and development, manufacturing and sales services in
respect of new energy vehicles, as well as health management
businesses including “Internet+” community health
management, international hospitals, elderly care and
rehabilitation. Evergrande Vehicle strives to become the world’s
largest and most powerful new energy vehicle enterprise, with a
goal of achieving annual production and sales volume of over 1
million vehicles by 2025 and 5 milion vehicles by 2035,
respectively. The Group is optimistic about the prospect of
Evergrande Vehicle, with the beliefs that the development of the
new energy automobile industry will continue to improve in the
future. The Group’s investment in Evergrande Vehicle is for
trading purpose and aims to realise the gain in the future
subject to market conditions.

The Group will continue to monitor its portfolio of investments in

diversified securities products to improve performance in the
coming year.
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Financial services

The financial services business of the Group recorded an
operating loss of approximately HK$233 million (2020: HK$138
million) for the year which was mainly attributable to the
expected credit loss provision (“ECL Provision”) of approximately
HK$250 million (2020: HK$165 million) mainly on the loans and
related interest receivables which have been in default and
considered as credit-impaired, offset by interest income of
approximately HK$21 million (2020: HK$27 million) derived from
loans receivable.

As at 31 March 2021, carrying amounts of the Group’s portfolio
of high-yield loans receivable amounted to approximately
HK$72 million (being the loan principal of approximately
HK$190 million less cumulative ECL Provision of approximately
HK$118 million) (2020: HK$150 million, being the loan principal
of approximately HK$282 million less cumulative ECL Provision
of approximately HK$132 million), equivalent to approximately 1%
(2020: 3%) of the Group’s total assets.

The ECL Provision is determined by reference to the
independent professional valuer’s assessment in accordance
with HKFRS 9 by adopting its independently selected
parameters which contain credit rating portfolio similar to the
respective borrowers, also taking into account the historical
market default records and forward-looking factors.

Included in the ECL Provision of approximately HK$250 million
(2020: HK$165 million) recognised during the year, there were
approximately HK$202 million (2020: HK$88 million) arisen from
the credit-impaired loans and receivable portfolios held by the
Group’s former subsidiaries in liquidation, in which management
encountered huge difficulties in the recovery of debts in default.
In the course of restructuring of the Group’s loss-making
business, these former subsidiaries were put into liquidation
with effect from 31 March 2021. Accordingly, the portfolio
(included the gross amount of loans receivables of
approximately HK$145 million, other receivables of
approximately HK$72 million and amounts due from associates
of approximately HK$82 million) were fully impaired during the
year, resulted in the impairment losses recognised on loan
receivables, other receivables and amounts due from associates
of approximately HK$88 milion, HK$41 milion and HK$73
million respectively. Upon liquidation, the aforesaid portfolios
were deconsolidated from the Group. Any receivables eventually
recover by the liquidator will be distributed to the Group, as
being the major creditor of the former subsidiaries in liquidation,
in accordance with the relevant insolvency laws and regulations.
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The Group provided loan financing services through the
operation of treasury business. However, given the difference in
terms of risk level and nature in loan financing services and
customary treasury activities, management considered that
inclusion of the loan financing business within the treasury
business cannot provide a clear delineation of different business
units of the Group. The Group’s strategy in attaining the
objective of treasury management through the provision of loan
financing is proved to be undesirable. As such, management
has taken steps in restructuring the business segments, of
which the liquidation of aforesaid loss-making former
subsidiaries also forms part. Management will remain cautious
in monitoring the risks and collectability of the existing loan
portfolio.

The Group is confident that the financial market will be one of
the cornerstones of economy in Hong Kong and shall continue
to serve as one of the world’s leading fund-raising platforms.
Despite significant loss has been recorded in the loan financing
business, given the prospect of the Hong Kong stock market,
the management considers that the financial services, including
provision of loan financing services and financial related
services, will in future provide consistent and significant returns
to the Group.

Galaxy Vantage Limited (27.29% owned)

In February 2021, the Group subscribed 27.29% of the
enlarged share capital of Galaxy Vantage Limited (“Galaxy
Vantage”), at a consideration of HK$100 million. Galaxy Vantage
is an indirect 61% owned subsidiary of Touyun Biotech Group
Limited (stock code: 1332.HK) and principally engaged in the
provision of one-stop integrated financial services, including
securities brokerage, money lending, asset management,
financial services and securities trading businesses. Its indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, Hope Securities Limited, is a licensed
corporation under the Securities and Futures Ordinance to carry
out regulated activities Type 1 “Dealing in Securities”, Type 2
“Dealing in Futures Contracts”, Type 4 “Advising on Securities”,
Type 5 “Advising on Futures Contracts” and Type 9 “Asset
Management”.
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The management considers that Galaxy Vantage will be able to
take advantage of the growth potential of the Hong Kong stock
market and the acquisition will provide an opportunity for the
Group to diversify its business portfolio to participate in the
integrated financial services sector and related business. In
addition, the acquisition represents a milestone of the Group to
tap into integrated financial services business in Hong Kong and
to gain knowledge, expertise and network in the field.

Maxlord Enterprises Limited (33.33% owned)

In March 2021, the Group subscribed one-third of the enlarged
share capital of Maxlord Enterprises Limited (“Maxlord”), a
licensed money lender carrying out money lending business in
Hong Kong, at a consideration of HK$100 million. Maxlord is an
indirect 66.67% owned subsidiary of Planetree International
Development Limited (stock code: 0613.HK).

The Group intends to capitalise on the expertise and
competitive strength of Maxlord, which demonstrated profit-
making financial track record in its money lending operation, so
as to improve, develop and expand the Group’s loan financing
business. The management believes that the investment and
partnership with Maxlord may create various benefits to the
Group, such as (i) enabling the Group to benefit from the
expanding customers network and clientele of Maxlord; (ii)
share and exchange of business information and management
expertise between the parties; (i) referring to each other
potential business opportunities; and (iv) if considered
appropriate, joint participation in loan transaction for risk
allocation and profit sharing.

Paul Y. Engineering (48.23% owned)

Paul Y. Engineering contributed profit of approximately HK$67
million (2020: loss of HK$107 million) to the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021, after adjustment for the alignment of
accounting policy on ECL Provision of the Group regarding
certain non-trade receivables of Paul Y. Engineering. The
increase in profit was mainly attributable to government grants
received for the year.
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Headquartered in Hong Kong, Paul Y. Engineering is dedicated
to providing full-fledged engineering and property services, with
operations in Hong Kong, the Mainland, Macau, Singapore and
Malaysia. For over 70 years, Paul Y. Engineering has been at
the heart of some of the most challenging and impactful
construction projects that have shaped the iconic skylines of
Hong Kong and many other cities. Its projects include
commercial and residential buildings, institutional facilities,
highways, airport runways, railways, tunnels, port works, water
and sewage treatment facilities etc.

Subsequent to the reporting period, Paul Y. Engineering has
become a subsidiary of the Group. For further details, please
refer to the section headed “Events After the Reporting Period”.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Except for the investment in the equity interest of Evergrande
Vehicle held for trading set out in the Securities sub-section
under the Review of Operations and Business Development
section, the Group did not hold any significant investments in
any investee company with a value of above 5% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 March 2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

In July 2020, the Group completed the disposals of its entire
investments of (i) 90% equity interest in Jiaxing International
Container Feeder Port Limited and (i) 100% equity interest in
Paul Y. Corporation Limited, which held 40% equity interest in
Jiangyin Sunan International Container Terminal Co., Ltd., at an
aggregate consideration of approximately RMB669 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$735 million). Upon and after
the disposals, Jiaxing International Container Feeder Port
Limited together with its subsidiaries and Paul Y. Corporation
Limited ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group, while Jiangyin
Sunan International Container Terminal Co., Ltd ceased to be
an associate of the Group.

In February 2021, the Group subscribed 27.29% of the

enlarged share capital of Galaxy Vantage Limited, at a
consideration of HK$100 million.
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In March 2021, the Group subscribed one-third of the enlarged
share capital of Maxlord Enterprises Limited, a licensed money
lender carrying out money lending business in Hong Kong, at a
consideration of HK$100 million.

Apart from the above, the Group did not have material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 13 April 2021, the Group subscribed convertible bonds
issued by Imagi Brokerage Limited in the principal amount of
HK$100 million which bears interest at the rate of 5.5% per
annum. Further details of the subscription were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 13 April 2021.

On 21 April 2021, the Group subscribed convertible bonds
issued by Co-Lead Holdings Limited in the principal amount of
HK$100 million which bears interest at the rate of 6% per
annum. Further details of the subscription were disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 21 April 2021 and 4 June
2021.

On 1 June 2021, the Group has received an irrevocable and
unconditional assignment of the voting rights of a block of
approximately 10% shareholding (the “Voting Rights”) in Paul Y.
Engineering Group Limited from an independent third party at
nil consideration. As the date of this annual report, the Group
holds approximately 48.23% of the entire issued shares of Paul Y.
Engineering. Upon accepting the assignment of the Voting
Rights, the Group is entitled to exercise a total of approximately
58.23% voting rights at any general meetings of Paul Y.
Engineering’s shareholders and thus obtained control of Paul Y.
Engineering. Further details of the voting right assignment were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 1 June 2021.

Apart from the above, there were no major subsequent events
occurred since the end of the reporting period and up to the
date of this annual report.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Review of Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded a
consolidated revenue of approximately HK$277 million (2020:
HK$364 million), representing a decrease of approximately 24%
from last year, mainly due to decrease in income from the port
related services after the disposals of Jiaxing Port and Yichang
Port Group in the current year and last year respectively,
despite the increase in revenue from the sale of properties
during the year. The Group’s gross profit decreased by 15%
from last year to approximately HK$122 million (2020: HK$143
million), which represented a gross margin of 44% (2020: 39%)
of the consolidated revenue.

During the year, the Group recorded a loss before taxation of
approximately HK$173 million (2020: HK$507 million), which
was composed of:

()  net gain of approximately HK$141 million (2020: HK$114
million) in ports and logistics business;

(i)  net loss of approximately HK$1,045 million (2020: gain of
approximately HK$15 million) in property business;

(i) net gain of approximately HK$981 million (2020: loss of
approximately HK$197 million) in securities business;

(iv) net loss of approximately HK$233 million (2020: HK$138
million) in financial services business;

(v)  share of profit of Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited (“Paul Y.
Engineering”) of approximately HK$67 million (2020: loss
of approximately HK$107 million);

(vi)  net corporate and other expenses of approximately
HK$114 million (2020: HK$144 million);

(vii) net exchange gain of approximately HK$48 million (2020:
loss of approximately HK$26 million); and

(viii) finance costs of approximately HK$18 million (2020:
HKS$24 million).
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After taking into account the tax credit of approximately
HK$222 million (2020: tax charge of approximately HK$58
million), the Group recorded profit for the year of approximately
HK$49 million (2020: loss of approximately HK$565 million).

Net profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
was approximately HK$151 million (2020: net loss of
approximately HK$572 million) and basic earnings per share
was HK13.7 cents (2020: basic loss per share of HK51.8
cents). The net profit was mainly attributable to (a) gain on
changes in fair value of investments in debt and equity
instruments held for trading of approximately HK$856 million
(2020: loss of approximately HK$224 million), after netting off
relevant deferred tax charge of approximately HK$103 million
(2020: Nil); (b) write-down of stock of properties of
approximately HK$421 milion (2020: HK$18 million) after
netting off relevant deferred tax credit of approximately HK$168
million (2020: Nil) and share of loss by non-controlling interest of
approximately HK$52 million (2020: Nil); (c) loss on fair value
changes of investment properties of approximately HK$173
million (2020: gain of HK$18 million), after netting off relevant
deferred tax credit of approximately HK$184 million (2020:
charge of HK$22 million) and share of loss by non-controlling
interest of approximately HK$51 million (2020: share of profit of
HK$7 million); (d) impairment loss on financial assets of
approximately HK$252 million (2020: HK$166 million); (e) a net
gain after taxation on disposals of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$111 milion (2020: HK$61 million); and (f) net profit of
associates shared by the Company of approximately HK$65
million (2020: loss of HK$94 million).
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Review of Financial Position

When compared with the Group’s financial position as at 31
March 2020, total assets increased by 16% to approximately
HK$6,580 million (2020: HK$5,667 million). As at 31 March
2021, net current assets amounted to approximately HK$2,677
million (2020: HK$2,787 million), whereas current ratio deriving
from the ratio of current assets to current liabilities decreased to
2.65 times (2020: 5.19 times). After taking into account (a) the
net profit of approximately HK$151 million; (b) the post-tax
impact for the decrease in carrying amount of financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$81 million recognised in the investment
revaluation reserve; (c) the Renminbi exchange surplus of
approximately HK$114 million arising from translation of foreign
operations; and (d) the reclassification of exchange deficits to
profit or loss upon disposal of Jiaxing Port and Jiangyin Sunan
of approximately HK$37 million, equity attrioutable to owners of
the Company increased by 6% to approximately HK$3,899
million (2020: HK$3,678 million), representing HK$3.53 (2020:
HK$3.33) per share as at 31 March 2021.

Net cash outflow from operating activities was approximately
HK$469 million (2020: HK$120 million) mainly attributable to the
enlargement of the trading securities portfolio. Net cash inflow
from investing activities was approximately HK$237 million (2020:
HK$76 million) and net cash inflow from financing activities was
approximately HK$4 milion (2020: outflow of approximately
HK$77 million). Consequently, there was a net decrease in
available cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$228
million (2020: HK$121 million) during the year.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$6,580 million (2020: HK$5,667 million) which
were financed by shareholders’ funds and credit facilities. A
variety of credit facilities were maintained to meet its working
capital requirements and committed capital expenditure, which
bore interest at market rates and had contracted terms of
repayment ranging from on demand to nine years. The Group
mainly generated revenue and incurred costs in Hong Kong
dollar and Renminbi. During the year, no financial instruments
had been used for hedging purpose and no foreign currency
net investments are hedged by currency borrowings or other
hedging instruments. The Group adopts a prudent funding and
treasury policy and manages the fluctuation exposures of
exchange rate and interest rate on specific transactions.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank and other borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$401 million (2020: HK$392
million) with approximately HK$229 million (2020: HK$191
million) repayable on demand or within one year and
approximately HK$172 million (2020: HK$201 million) repayable
after one year. Borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollar of
approximately HK$40 million bore interest at fixed rate (2020:
HK$36 million bore interest at floating rate). Borrowings
denominated in Renminbi of approximately HK$361 million bore
interest at fixed rate (2020: HK$10 milion bore interest at
floating rate and HK$346 million bore interest at fixed rate). The
Group’s gearing ratio was 0.10 (2020: 0.11), which was calculated
based on the total borrowings of approximately HK$401 million
(2020: HK$392 million) and the Group’s shareholders’ funds of
approximately HK$3,899 million (2020: HK$3,678 million).

Cash, bank balances and deposits of the Group as at 31 March
2021 amounted to approximately HK$189 million (2020:
HK$356 million), of which approximately HK$146 million (2020:
HK$222 million) was denominated in Renminbi, approximately
HK$12 million (2020: HK$82 million) was denominated in Hong
Kong dollar and approximately HK$31 million (2020: HK$52
million) was denominated in other currencies mainly in United
States Dollar. The balance of approximately HK$7 million (2020:
HK$12 million) had been pledged to bank to secure general
credit facilities granted to the Group.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Pursuant to a special resolution for the capital reorganisation of
the Company passed in the special general meeting on 28
October 2020, the Company undertook a capital reorganisation
which comprised (a) the consolidation of every five issued and
unissued existing shares in the authorised share capital of the
Company of HK$0.10 each into one consolidated share of
HK$0.50; (b) the reduction of the issued share capital of the
Company by cancellation of the paid up capital of the Company
to the extent of HK$0.40 on each of the issued consolidated
shares such that the par value of each issued consolidated
share will be reduced from HK$0.50 to HK$0.10; and (c) the
subdivision of every unissued consolidated share of HK$0.50 in
the authorised share capital of the Company into five adjusted
shares of HK$0.10 each. As at 31 March 2021, the total
number of issued shares of the Company was 1,103,916,114
shares with a par value of HK$0.1 each.

Upon the effective of the capital reorganisation on 30 October
2020, the reduced share capital of approximately
HK$441,566,000 has been transferred to the contributed
surplus account of the Company.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATE

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
mainly denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and US
dollars. The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk
with respect to Renminbi which may affect the Group’s
performance. The Group regularly reviews the balances of
assets and liabilities and the currencies in which the transactions
are denominated so as to minimise the Group’s exposure to
foreign currency risk. During the year, no financial instruments
had been used for hedging purpose and no foreign currency
net investments are hedged by currency borrowings or other
hedging instruments.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no contingent liability (2020:
Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, certain property interests, property, plant
and equipment and bank balances of the Group mainly in the
PRC with an aggregate value of approximately HK$537 million
(2020: HK$493 million) were pledged to banks and financial
institutions to secure general credit facilities granted to the
Group.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had expenditure contracted
for but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of acquisition of certain property, plant and
equipment and properties interests in a total amount of
approximately HK$31 million (2020: HK$117 million).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company has resolved not to recommend
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021
(2020: Nil).

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed a total of 557 (2020:
566 which included 104 employees of Jiaxing Port) full time
employees. Remuneration packages consisted of salary as well
as performance-based bonus. Further, the Company has
adopted share-related incentive schemes to provide alternative
means to motivate employees and promote their loyalty in line
with the Group’s strategy. Such schemes benefited both the
Group’s staff in Hong Kong and the Mainland.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
COMPLIANCE MATTERS

Environmental Policies and Performance

We aim to operate our business with good environmental
protection practices which comply with applicable laws,
regulations and standards and we endeavour to:

v Apply practices which minimise, lessen or remediate the
impact of our activities on the environment including
potential air and greenhouse gas emissions, wastewater
discharges, land contamination as well as generation of
wastes;

v' Use raw materials, energy and natural resources as
efficiently as possible and strive to improve that efficiency;
and

v Adopt measures to mitigate the negative effects of
environmental incidents.

The aforesaid principles are enshrined in our Environmental,
Social and Governance Policy adopted in June 2014. The
Company is committed to managing all business operations
with sensitivity to environmental protection. We will review our
environmental protection practices from time to time and will
continue to apply eco-friendly measures and practices in our
operation.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers and Other Stakeholders

The Company has committed to responsible practices by
adopting three guiding core values: Genuine; Exceptional; and
Involved as expressed in our Code of Conduct. Operating with
integrity, being ethical and treating others with respect; creating
exceptional experiences that delight our stakeholders; and
inclusive, open and actively engaging our stakeholders and
serving communities. In essence, we adhere to integrity,
respect, responsibility, competence and safety in carrying out
our business. The following principles, which are enshrined in
our Environmental, Social and Governance Policy and Code of
Conduct, are being adopted:
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Employees

v' Providing a healthy and safe working environment;

v Adopting and maintaining a positive safety culture and
behaviour;

v' Instituting occupational and community health/hygiene
programmes with an aim to eliminate or mitigate safety,
occupational and community health and hygiene hazards;

v' Offering suitable training and development opportunities;

v Providing equal opportunity throughout the Group and
treating employees fairly; and

v' Providing fair remuneration.

Customers and Suppliers

v

Providing efficient and courteous services with good value
of money to customers;

Offering products and services with high standard of
safety, quality and reliability and accepting the social
responsibility for improvement;

Promoting fair and open competition for procurement
procedures through providing an environment of mutual
trust and impartiality to suppliers and contractors; and

Prohibiting bribery and corrupt practices and promoting
responsible and ethical business practices.

Information about the major customers, the credit terms of
customers and the Group’s management on new customers
and credit monitoring are set out in Notes 7, 31 and 47(b) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively in this annual
report.
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Community Involvement and Other Stakeholders

v Building and maintaining good relationships with the
communities and other stakeholders associated with our
operations;

v Working with local authorities, governments, inter-
governmental and non-governmental bodies and other
relevant stakeholders to develop projects that benefit the
communities connected to our operations in a sustainable
manner;

v' Minimising the negative impacts of our operations on the
communities where we operate;

v' Investing in charitable and educational contribution;

v Supporting the community as a whole, especially those
communities in which our offices are based; and

v’ Supporting and encouraging our employees for their
charitable and community involvements.

Further discussion on the Company’s environmental policies
and performance and the account of key relationships of the
Company with its stakeholders are contained in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” (‘ESG Report”)
from pages 76 to 99 of this annual report.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

The responsibilities of the Corporate Governance and
Compliance Committee (a board committee of the Company)
include general oversight of the Company’s compliance with the
legal and regulatory requirements of its business operations.
Significant non-compliance with laws and regulations, if any, will
be investigated by the Corporate Governance and Compliance
Committee and escalated to the board as necessary. During
the year under review, no material non-compliance of the laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group was
noted.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is affected by a number of risk factors, some of
which are likely to affect the performance of businesses
generally. Some risks are particular to the Group’s operations.

As stated in the Risk Management Framework of the Corporate
Governance Report, key risks facing the Group have been
identified, assessed and prioritised according to the likelihood of
their occurrence and the significance of their impact on the
business of the Group. Moreover, risk management measures
are in place to manage the risks to an acceptable level. This
section sets out a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, based on our risks assessment
outcome. They are categorised under “Strategic Risks”,
“Operational Risks” and “Financial Risks” and are not set out in
priority order.

Risk categories Risk description

B Bx 28 B B B 4t
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EHETABOE AR

gL .
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BUSINESS REVIEW
RBER

Risk categories

[ B 38 51

Risk description

2 B 4 3

Risk change
during the
reporting
period
BEBRREE
HMANKRE FEZEMEBRE

Key mitigating measures

Operational Risks
&iER

Environmental
RiE

As a substantial part of the
Group’s operations are conducted
in China, we are subject to various
inspections, examinations,
inquiries and audits by relevant
PRC regulatory authorities in
accordance with applicable PRC
environmental, health and safety
(“EHS”) laws and regulations, in
which the outcomes form part of
the conditions for obtaining,
maintaining or renewing various
licenses, certificates and permits
required for conducting our
businesses. As the PRC EHS laws
and regulations continue to evolve,
such changes may bring additional
compliance challenges and costs
to the Group’s businesses.

REBARBAIWNEBKIES E
HET BMERRBRERNPEIR
5 REMZ2([EHS)) & &
RMEXBETEEERE TR
B E - Bl BRMEE - E

BES HEREFLFRME
$BFEHEEER BEANH

AEERHNEHORE-BEETH
EHSE@BIERM TH BHR - % F
BEAIEERALAEENEBTR
RN AR LR PRERA A o
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Remained »  Group legal team has been
broadly the working closely with
same operation units to assess
RNEAER the impact of those

promulgated environmental,
health and safety laws and
regulations.

SEMERZBBRELER
RIEEmEIE  STHEEMR
RBERZRERERD

S 488
i

» Policies to minimise the

environmental impacts from
operations have been
formulated and updated
regularly by reference to the
aforesaid laws and
regulations.
il 7E 8 B B3R DAORL A A
EEXMRREZETRE
FHMERERETERE
o

For more discussion, please see
the “ESG Report” from pages 76
to 99 of this annual report.
EEZWMmBE2 AR AFERER
FT6EREZIREFE - HEMNE
BEE]



BUSINESS REVIEW
RBER

Risk change
during the
reporting
Risk categories Risk description period Key mitigating measures
BEBRREE
2 B 3 B | B 8 HMANKRE FEZEMEBRE
Rules and regulations Changing rules and regulations in Increased »  Monitor changes to rules
EEFER the places in which the Group %0 and regulations and evaluate

operates may adversely affect the
Group’s capacity to consummate
important transactions, enforce
contractual agreements or
implement specific strategies and
activities.
NEBEKEEMRERTER
TR e gEAER TKE
EXG HITERMENEERE
TE B ME B Y BE F E A DA &2
288

=

their impacts to the Group.
EEEEMERN BT
AEEHANEENTE -

>  Establish policies and
procedures to manage
those rules and regulations
that will have impact to the
Group.
# E R R A2 7R BB A
HEAEEEEZENEAE
FER

» Monitor the Group’s
compliance with rules and
regulations that have
significant impact to the
Group.
ERAEEETHASEHE
BEARZERERENER -
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BUSINESS REVIEW
RBER

Risk change
during the
reporting
Risk categories Risk description period Key mitigating measures
BB R | &
2 B 3 B [ B 4 4 HAnXE IEEHER
Financial Risks
B % B B
Exchange rates As a substantial part of the Remained »  Establish mechanism for
&% Group’s operations and assets are  broadly the regularly reviews of the
conducted and located in China, same balances of assets and
the fluctuation in the exchange KXE4E[F liabilities and the currencies

rates of RMB may adversely affect (i)
the value of the Group’s investments
and monetary assets denominated
in RMB when they are converted
into Hong Kong dollar, and (i) the
repayment of RMB loans with
funds denominated in currencies
other than RMB.

REB KB E ERLFEH -
EBRBOMRFBEET AR
MEXREREB AT H AEE()
NARBHAEBENRELEBEE
EIBEBE TR RIAFEAREE
PENARBABNERKESE
DR

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report

in which the transactions are
denominated so as to
minimise exposure to foreign
currency risk.
BUYTHRNEERERE
HEHRNMR 5 E BB’
Bl - BRBERLAEE 2
HNE B o

For more discussion, please see
Note 47(b) to the consolidated
financial statements from pages
267 to 270 of this annual report.
EENmaBa2RAFERSESR
267TE270H 2 iR & M B KMt
5F47(0) °



BUSINESS REVIEW
RBER

Risk change
during the
reporting
Risk categories Risk description period Key mitigating measures
[ B A 3R 5
2 B 3 B | B 8 HAnXE IEEHER
Credit default Loans and receivables held by the Increased »  Perform credit evaluation
EHEXN Group which are in default and %0 before providing credit to

become credit-impaired have led
to impairment losses to the Group.
AEEHANERLRERKEAED
BRAWEBRERAME EHAE
IR EEE -

Other significant financial risks and uncertainties on, inter alia,
valuation of assets are also set out in Notes 4, 5 and 47 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

customers.
TMEPFPRHBEERZATE
TE A

»>  Establish credit policy and
monitor the possibility of
credit default on a regular
basis.

BV ERAEE - EHEEE
REAMA -

>  Take timely and appropriate
action to minimize credit
loss once credit default is
noted.
—BEREAELN  REFR
NEEMNITEHUETEERD
EREX

For more discussion, please see
Note 47(b) to the consolidated
financial statements from pages
271 to 279 of this annual report.
FEEmaE 2R AFERER
2T E2798 2 47 & Bt % &K I
FL47(0) °

EMmEAUERBMABAEAZERRIEEE
MEETARAFTFERERLGEMIEREAOM T
4~ 5FATEETR o
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS* -.

EEREMN

MR KWONG KAI SING, BENNY
B RN & &
Non-executive director and chairman

FBRITEFRLE

Mr Kwong Kai Sing, Benny, aged 62, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company on 9 February 2021. He
was appointed as the non-executive chairman of the Company
on 1 April 2021. Mr Kwong holds a Bachelor’s degree in Arts
from Simon Fraser University in British Columbia, Canada. He
held senior positions with major international banks in Hong
Kong in respective lending departments and China department
and has served as executive director of various listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr Kwong has extensive experience
and knowledge in banking and financial services industry.

Mr Kwong was an appointed member of the China People’s
Political Consultative Conference of the Hubei Province and
Zhaoqging City of the Guangdong Province. He is the Audit
Committee member of Tung Wah College since 2013 and was
the Hospital Governing Committee member of Tai Po Hospital
from 2012 to 31 March 2021. He is currently an executive
director of Tai United Holdings Limited (stock code: 0718), a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since April 2018. His interest in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company, which is disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, is set out in the Directors’
Report.

*

The executive directors are regarded as members of the Group’s senior
management

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report

BERUR &£ - 625% 0 M2021F2 A9BEZRIT A
RRABFERTER -MBE2021F4 A 1HEES
ERARAIFBITERE BEERBEMNERE
J& EF fm Lt 58 Simon Fraser University £ 3 & + £
ot BREEZRARIBKRITH G EFF
RPBEHMEETSRBAL WEREEZR L
MAREARITES BAETRITEER
BITERFLETOEB LA -

BrAEeEZEATRAARBGAHE M
EREREEREMZE - K E2013F RIEFER
EBRRZEZEENE - WHN2012F £2021F
SHASIEAREEREREREZEEKE - &
B AT B2018F 4 B BIEERMIERER 28 (K
MR 0718 —ERBEEBMETIMAERA
A ETHARDMRITES RIH(BHRHE
BB EXVEBE2 R B3 E 2 E 3 MAR A
BREREAARARDREBROPOEZ  &7F
BHINNEZRREER -

Y O REHRTEERERIFENSREEEKR



MR AU WAI JUNE
M ESREE
Executive director

HITEF

PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EEREMT

Mr Au Wai June, aged 57, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 18 January 2021. He is also a
member of the Company’s nomination committee, corporate
governance and compliance committee and share repurchase
committee. He is a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He graduated from University of Windsor, Canada
with a Bachelor of Arts degree. Mr Au was the managing
director of a telecommunication equipment manufacturing and
trading company with more than 16 years of experience and
extensive knowledge in product development, purchasing,
production, business administration and merchandising of both
the People’s Republic of China and overseas market.

MEREE 5755 KN2021F1A18HEZ £
REARABPITESFS BN AARAIREEZE
g PEEAREARZESEIRNOBEZES
KE BEFRARFAZRMEATZESE -
EENRMNMERBIRE BEXELTE -1
FHECET - ZRXEAMRBRERESI QAL
BEEFEARENBEREGINTISZE M
BORE O AE - EXNTELRMEIE BEES
16F KRR EE M -
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EEREMT

MR MARC ANDREAS TSCHIRNER
MARC ANDREAS TSCHIRNER % 4
Executive director and managing director
HITEFFRAEZ

Mr Marc Andreas Tschirner, aged 49, was appointed as an
executive director and the managing director of the Company
on 18 January 2021. He is also a member of the remuneration
committee, corporate governance and compliance committee
and share repurchase committee of the Company. He is a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr Tschirner
graduated from University of Konstanz with a Master Degree in
Law in 1998. Mr Tschirmer was admitted to the German Bar in
2002, all Higher German Regional Courts in 2007 and as a
registered foreign lawyer in Hong Kong in 2018. He worked as
a director at Roed! & Partner Limited from 2017 until 2019 and
most recently as external chief representative. Mr Tschirner is
also a registered foreign lawyer at Lee Law Firm, Hong Kong
since July 2020. Before he worked as a registered foreign
lawyer at Shum & Co. Solicitors and Roedl & Partner.
Previously, Mr Tschirer also worked for Arthur Andersen in
Zurich and Emst & Young in Zurich with a primary focus in tax
law. In addition, between 2004 and 2008, Mr Tschirner held a
position as vice president at Credit Suisse Group, Zurich.
Between 2008 and 2015, Mr Tschirner was an executive
director at Bank Julius Baer, Zurich. Between 2016 and 2017,
Mr Tschirner was a director at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Hong
Kong.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report

Marc Andreas Tschirner 5t 4 © 495% @ 7220214
1A18HEZTAARAIRTTES RBE - &K
MEARAFMEEE EBEAREGHREES
ekRMHEBZEEKRE BEALAQRFEX
BB A Al 2 & % ° Tschirer 4t 4£ 1998 F £ ¥
7 BE H7 48 Yk A £ (University of Konstanz) » # & &
2 18 + 2L - Tschimer 5t & 72002 F & # i1 A
1% [ 722 Bf 177 & (German Bar) ~ 72007 £ & /& in A
Fra@EEEM A ARk RR2018F EME BT
i Oh th 2 Bl & 48 - FA2017F E20194 > % HH
THREEBBERAFESTARNZE/ELIN
BREMRE - 8202067 A * Tschimert £ 71 B &
7 Lee Law Firm &) 5 fift b 2 Bl © 48 & (1) 1 2 BB
7 72 B =5 75 P (Shum & Co. Solicitors) & 2 12 12 Al
= 75 Pt (Roed| & Partner) #) 5+ i 4b 3 72 Bl o 7E 1t
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MR SAM NICKOLAS DAVID HING CHEONG
MEFHEE
Executive director and vice chairman

HITEFREEE

PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EEREMT

Mr Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong, aged 39, was
appointed as an executive director and the vice chairman of the
Company on 1 April 2021. He is also a member of the
Company’s remuneration committee, nomination committee
and share repurchase committee. He holds a Bachelor of Laws
with Honours and a Bachelor of Arts from the University of
Waikato, New Zealand. Mr Sam is admitted as a solicitor in
England and Wales, the British Virgin Islands, New Zealand and
also as an attorney in the Republic of the Marshall Islands. Mr
Sam is presently a senior registered foreign lawyer at Hauzen
LLP, a specialist corporate law firm. He is also a non-executive
director of Oshidori International Holdings Limited (stock code:
622), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited which is a substantial shareholder of the Company.

B ELE 395 N2021F4R1BEZER
RARMITESREERE - I BAEAR A FH M
ZEg RAZESABRMEBZESHKE -
b 55 B 31 78 3 8 R 5T K 2 (University of Waikato)
EREBEBLBNENEBLTEN L EEER
ARARRELER LT RBRELZBESEFAH
MEBEM TAEARESHENBENERS
ERIEA 3L %&£ BBl BHauzen LLP(— R H %
NEEMEBHA) N &SR EMINOER - IR A
BREFEERBR AT (RO R 622) (—ER
EEBAERZHEBRARLEMHAR)KIEHR
TEE ZARARARAINEERRE -
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' PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EEREN

MR LEUNG CHUNG KI
RMERE

Independent non-executive director
BUIFBMITEE

Mr Leung Chung Ki, aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 1 June
2018. He is also a member of the Company’s audit committee,
remuneration committee, nomination commmittee and corporate
governance and compliance committee. Mr Leung holds a
Bachelor Degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong and a Master Degree in Business
Administration from the De Paul University in the United States
of America. Mr Leung has over 20 years of experience in
banking industry. He is also an independent non-executive
director of China Dili Group (stock code: 1387).

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report

RIMELE 6455 N2018F6A1HEZER
RABBUFRTEE - BNR/REARBEZRE
BEg FTMEZES IREZEGROEEA
EHEEEKE RAERBBEAPNKRER
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MR MA KA KI

Independent non-executive director
BUIFBMITEE

PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EEREMT

Mr Ma Ka Ki, aged 41, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 3 February 2021. He is
also the chairman of the Company’s audit committee,
remuneration committee, nomination committee, corporate
governance and compliance committee and share repurchase
committee. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting and
Information System with merit from the University of New South
Wales, Australia. Mr Ma is a member of both the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England & Wales. He is also a
member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries (now known as The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute) and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators (now known as The Chartered Governance
Institute). He has over 15 years of experience in auditing and
accounting sectors and has extensive experience in financial
and corporate secretarial services.

BEEHLE 415 R2021F2H3BEZ &£
RARNABIYIFRTEE - BN RBARAFEZ
ZEg FMWEEE® REZEg 0BEEAR
RERZEERRMHEBEZESER -KEE
BN AR AR EGH REARGEL
B -BEERBLGHAMAERERERE
RiTFETetmree8 - BAREERFITW
EAERBEBLAAGERY) REMFFTW
ERTBRAERAEERBEAAFAERAR)E
B -BREBEFRETESEBBRBISFLR
MR BEERRARIMERG T EHEBELEEAER -
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EEREMT

MR WILLIAM NICHOLAS GILES
WILLIAM NICHOLAS GILES % 4

Independent non-executive director

BUIFHNTEF

Mr William Nicholas Giles, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 3
February 2021. He is also a member of the Company’s audit
committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee,
corporate governance and compliance committee and share
repurchase committee. He holds a Bachelor of Laws degree
(Hons) from The University of Sheffield. Mr Giles was admitted
as a solicitor in England & Wales in 1987 and in Hong Kong in
1990. Mr Giles is a partner of Hart Giles, Solicitors & Notaries.
Mr Giles has over thirty years of extensive experience in
practising law as a specialist in largescale commercial litigation,
insolvency work, restructuring and regulatory investigations. Mr
Giles has acted in numerous cases in the High Court and Court
of Appeal concerning civil fraud, white-collar crime, financial
services, employment, commercial contracts and shareholder
disputes. Mr Giles has also acted as liquidator of more than 70
companies. Mr Giles is currently an independent non-executive
director of Esprit Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 330).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) strives to attain and uphold high
standard of corporate governance and maintain well-established
corporate governance practices for the benefit of shareholders
of the Company and other stakeholders.

To demonstrate the Company’s continued commitment to high
standards of corporate governance, the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”) adopted a Board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”), a summary of which is set out at page
49 of this report, in June 2013.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) applicable to the Company’s directors as well
as its relevant employees. After having made specific enquiries,
all directors and relevant employees of the Company have
confirmed their compliance with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2021 (the
“Reporting Period”).

Since the launch of the Code of Conduct of the Company (the
“Code of Conduct”) in October 2009, all directors, senior
management and staff of the Company have been under
specific obligations to comply with the ethics and principles
under which our business is conducted and have been allowed
to report actual or potential violations of the Code of Conduct
through stated procedure. Non-compliance with the Code of
Conduct will result in disciplinary action. During the Reporting
Period, we are not aware of any non-compliance with the Code
of Conduct.

SREAEE

XERTA

Blue River Holdings Limited &% ] #5 i% A R 2 & ([ 4
AR EREWNBREBIAEEDHRNER
REBEKENGEES UHEBEE SR
MEEERERTH UWEERAARKRELHE
fib 3510 & B F %5 o

BRTITREARAHHERSKFELEEIRMNA
#HARREFR(EFRIN201346 A KM
TEERKEZTIBRRTEZFRKEZ T
BE])  ZBRZBEHIINAREFLI9H -

ARRNELRMEEBRARZMAERRAA
Fxm EmRAD(CETR R M 15 rcE
MBETAEFETEFRZNEEST DGR
FFADD  MORETADEAREARARESER
EREE -RBETENR ARAEShAHE
ENHRAEBRE021FIANBIEFE(RSE
H)-—BEAET(RETANDIE 2 AFHRE-

BH2009%10 A T AR A 01T A ERI(KTT A
RN MAEARBEERE SREEEMET
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MRA LB BEEREFREERNEEE
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EREB®RSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE TEERER

The structure below shows the key parties involved in our UTERERRAEB A ESAERERERN
corporate governance practices and policies within the Group: SNy EEAE

SHAREHOLDERS OF

THE COMPANY
RRBRER

Reporting

Approval of key
corporate actions i i Reporting
HEFZLXETH ’ r M ¥R
|

Appointment
ZE

OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY
AATHMEHE
¢ I;lvésg) rs Appointment Reporting Appointment Reporting and/or
=~ ZE [& iR EE recommendation

¢ ERE HRHEER

BOARD COMMITTEES

® Lenders
BHA ¢ |
* Regulators SELEED (ECEEEEEEEEr PEEEED
== ! !
RES MANAGING DIRECTOR

e Customers Review = o EXTERNAL
P Es T mw RSN AUDITOR
e Suppliers ‘ | e Corporate Governance and
IR ! 3 Compliance B AR £ ShEE

3 Reporting * Nomination 12 % B
; el E N 2 © Remuneration S
' Supenision  Reporting * Share Repurchase i # [
| B i 35 3 o Audit E#
Communication g l | Reporting Con};_ucting j_Udit
i | 1 S SET
G : . INTERNAL AUDIT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT FUNC;I'I?r;fb
: EREEE ; NIRRT TN EE
} T Conducting

Supervision Reporting internal audit

e o 5 TR

OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP
rEEMZEE

Internal Parties The Group External Parties

7 B [ B REHE HMRATE
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

Board Composition

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, there are seven directors in our Board consisting
of a non-executive director, three executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors as at the date of the
Directors’ report. Mr Ma Ka Ki (“Mr Ma”), being the chairman of
the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”), is an
independent non-executive director of the Company with the
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under the Listing
Rules. Independent non-executive directors represented not
less than one-third of the Board members, thus exhibiting a
strong independent element which enhanced independent
judgement.

The directors of the Company during the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this report were:

Non-executive director

° Mr Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (“Mr Kwong”)
(chairman) (the “Chairman”)
(appointed as non-executive director with effect from 9
February 2021 and subsequently appointed as Chairman
with effect from 1 April 2021)

Executive directors

o Mr Au Wai June (“Mr Au”)
(appointed as executive director with effect from 18
January 2021)

° Mr Marc Andreas Tschirner (“Mr Tschirner”)
(managing director) (the “Managing Director”)
(appointed as executive director and managing director
with effect from 18 January 2021)

o Mr Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong (“Mr Sam”)
(vice chairman)
(appointed as executive director and vice chairman with
effect from 1 April 2021)

° Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen (“Mr Lau”)
(stepped down from the role of managing director with
effect from 18 January 2021 and was redesignated from
Chairman to vice chairman, China with effect from 1 April
2021 and subsequently resigned as executive director and
vice chairman, China with effect from 17 May 2021)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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° Mr Sue Ka Lok (“Mr Sug”)
(resigned as executive director with effect from 3 February
2021)

o Ms Wu Yan Yee (“Ms Wu”)
(resigned as executive director with effect from 3 February
2021)

Independent non-executive directors

° Mr Leung Chung Ki (“Mr Leung”)

° Mr Ma
(appointed as independent non-executive director with
effect from 3 February 2021)

° Mr William Nicholas Giles (“Mr Giles”)
(appointed as independent non-executive director with
effect from 3 February 2021)

° Mr Chan Shu Kin (“Mr Chan”)
(resigned as independent non-executive director with
effect from 3 February 2021)

° Ms Wong Lai Kin, Elsa (“Ms Wong”)
(resigned as independent non-executive director with
effect from 3 February 2021)

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among members of the
Board, particularly between the Chairman and the Managing
Director (equivalent to chief executive officer of the Company
(“CEQ)).

Brief biographical details of each director (including his age,
gender, term of office, professional qualification and experience)
are set out on pages 36 to 42 of this annual report and also
available on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.
com.hk).

The Company has also maintained on its website and website
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEx’s
website”) an updated list of its directors identifying their roles
and functions and whether they are independent non-executive
directors. Independent non-executive directors are also
identified as such in all corporate communications that disclose
the names of directors of the Company.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report
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Each independent non-executive director is required to inform
the Company as soon as practicable if there is any change in
his own personal particulars that may affect his independence.
No such natification was received during the Reporting Period.
Pursuant to the requirement in the Listing Rules, the Company
has received a written confirmation on independence from each
independent non-executive director. The Company considers all
of the independent non-executive directors to be independent.

All Board members have complied with the requirement of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance regarding disclosure of their
respective interests in the Company and its associated
corporations, if any, during the Reporting Period. Interests and
short positions of the Company’s directors in shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations are disclosed in the Directors’ Report on pages
111 and 112 of this annual report.

Board’s Role and Delegation

The primary role of the Board is to maximize long-term
shareholder value. It assumes the responsibility for providing
effective and responsible leadership and control of the
Company and directing and supervising the Company’s affairs
in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board, led by our Chairman, Mr Kwong, who approves and
monitors group-wide strategies and policies, evaluates the
performance of the Group and supervises the management.

To enhance efficiency, the Board has delegated to Mr Tschirmer,
the Managing Director, the day-to-day leadership and
management of the Group. The senior management of the
Group, on the other hand, is responsible for the management
and administrative functions and the day-to-day operations of
the Group under the supervision of the Managing Director. The
corporate governance structure of the Company as disclosed in
this report at page 44 shows the detailed relationship between
the Board, the Managing Director and the senior management
as well as other stakeholders.
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Below is a summary of specific matters which are reserved for LA TREEZERISTETHMHE -
the Board:

SUMMARY OF SPECIFIC MATTERS RESERVED FOR THE BOARD
ESREESEHHNREE

¥~ Financial reporting and control
RS & B

v~ Equity fund raising
BAREE

y* Recommendation/declaration of dividend or other distributions
BEREMDIRNERE ST

¥~ Notifiable and connected transactions under the Listing Rules and inside information under the Securities and

Futures Ordinance
CEMBADFTMMZBE T AHMEER S MEHFLBEKRADFTHAANEE R

v~ Capital reorganisation or other significant changes in the capital structure of the Group
EARBHSIAEEEARAEBENHMBE NS

Board’s Responsibility for the Consolidated EEFRYHESHBBRENIE
Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the EERRREEMCHRETEBEGREYBHRE
consolidated financial statements of the Group and for ensuring THEREGREAEBRGESVBERREFILZRBRET
that the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of BRMEEAAER o

the Group is in accordance with statutory requirements and

applicable standards.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company AARIINEZBMRAEEGAEVERRER
concerning its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated EREBRETHER IR AFRFEI23E
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent 120 BT ZHBAIREER -

Auditor’s Report on pages 123 to 129 of this annual report.
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Board Diversity Policy

As mentioned above, a Board Diversity Policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board was adopted in
June 2013. Under the policy:

(@ the Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level
as an essential element in achieving a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company;

(b)  the nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) is primarily responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
and selecting suitable individuals to the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes
to the Board; and

(c) selection of candidates for directorship with the Company
will be based on diversity of perspectives which can be
achieved through consideration of a number of factors
including without limitation gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional and
industrial experience, skills, knowledge and independence
(if applicable).

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
the policy and review the policy, where necessary, to ensure its
continued effectiveness.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”), setting out the principles, which guides the Nomination
Committee to identify and evaluate a candidate for nomination
to the Board for his/her appointment and for shareholders of
the Company in respect of his/her election as a director of the
Company.
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Under the Nomination Policy, the factors listed below will be
considered in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

(@ Qualifications, professional experience, skills and
knowledge which are relevant to the businesses of the
Company and its subsidiaries;

(b)  Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

(c) Regulatory requirements for appointment of independent
non-executive directors and the independence criteria set
out in Chapter 3 of the Listing Rules; and

(d) Diversity perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy.

The above factors are not meant to be exhaustive and decisive.
The Nomination Committee has the discretion to take into
account additional factors as it considers appropriate.

For filling a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Board, the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations
for the Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing
candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for
its consideration and recommendation.

On making recommendation, the Nomination Committee may
submit to the Board for consideration a proposal comprising,
inter alia, the personal profile of the proposed candidate, which
contains at least the candidate’s information required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51 of the Listing Rules.

The Board shall be vested with power to make the final decision
on all matters relating to the recommendation of candidates for
appointment as well as for standing for election at a general
meeting as a director of the Company.
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Board Meetings and Process

In order to ensure that the Board plays an effective role in
steering the Group to do businesses in the interest of
shareholders, a schedule of Board and Board committees
meetings to be conducted within the next financial year is
issued in advance to all members, thus facilitating more
participation by the directors in every meeting. Within the
Reporting Period, seven Board meetings were held and the
overall attendance of Board and Board committee meetings
attained 100%, particulars of which were set out in the section
“Attendance Record of Meetings held during the Reporting
Period”.

The Board meets at least 4 times a year to review financial
performance, strategy and operations. Notice of not less than
14 days (or other reasonable period) will be given for each
meeting and agenda and board papers will be given 3 days (or
other reasonable period) prior to the meeting.

Senior management and professional advisers are invited to
attend Board meetings to brief the Board on issues considered
by the Board where appropriate. In the event where
independent professional advice is required, the request for
seeking such advice was abided by pre-approved procedures.

The minutes for all of the Board meetings, which were recorded
in sufficient detail, were circulated to all directors within a
reasonable time period after meetings for their comments and
were kept in the minute book for inspection by directors.

Also, each director is required to make disclosure of his
interests or potential conflict of interests, if any, in any proposed
transactions or issues discussed by the directors at Board
meetings. Any director shall not vote on any resolution of the
Board approving any contract or arrangement or any other
proposal in which he is materially interested nor shall he be
counted in the quorum present at the meeting.
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Board Tenure

As stipulated by the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”), all
directors (including non-executive directors) are required to
retire by rotation at least once every three years and seek for
re-election at annual general meeting. At each annual general
meeting, one-third of the directors for the time being shall retire
from office. Any new directors appointed either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board during the Reporting
Period by the Board following the recommendation of the
Nomination Committee are subject to re-election by
shareholders of the Company at the next following general
meeting after their appointment.

All directors (including non-executive directors) had entered
into letters of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years subject to retirement from office by rotation and re-
election at annual general meeting.

At the annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) held
on 4 September 2020, Ms Wong and Mr Leung, who retired
from office in accordance with the Bye-laws, were re-elected as
directors of the Company.

At the special general meeting of the Company (the “SGM”)
held on 26 March 2021, Mr Kwong, Mr Au, Mr Tschirner, Mr
Ma and Mr Giles, who retired from office in accordance with the
Bye-laws, were re-elected as directors of the Company.

At the SGM held on 3 May 2021, Mr Sam, who retired from
office in accordance with the Bye-laws, was re-elected as
director of the Company.

In accordance with bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of Bye-laws, Mr
Leung, Mr Ma and Mr Giles will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM.

The retiring directors, being eligible, seek for re-election and

their respective biographies are set out in the circular for
re-election of directors.
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Directors’ Commitments

All directors are committed to devoting sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. They have disclosed to the
Company the identity of public companies or organizations in
which they have held offices, and the number and nature of the
offices, as well as other significant commitments and are
required to notify the Company of any changes of such
information in a timely manner. Directors are also required to
confirm details of biographies and their time commitments to
the affairs of the Company as well as the time committed to
other public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments on an annual basis.

Training and Professional Development

For all newly appointed directors, a comprehensive and tailored
induction programme is administered to ensure full awareness
of director’s duties and responsibilities under statute and
common law, the Code of Conduct, the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements and the business and governance
policies of the Group.

The Company recognises the importance of continuing
professional training for directors and management and believes
that it is effective to enhance corporate governance through
regular training within the Group. Apart from monthly updates
provided by the management, directors are encouraged to keep
up to date on all matters relevant to the Group and attend
briefings and seminars at the expense of the Company on an
ongoing and regular basis.

This Reporting Period, our directors and management
continued to keep abreast of any updates on the governing
laws and regulations of the jurisdictions where the Company
operates businesses and applicable guidelines and rules issued
by regulatory authorities and attended seminars organised by
professional bodies and/or had been provided with materials of
such seminars.

All directors and senior management are required to provide the
Company with their training records on an annual basis, and
such records are maintained by the Company Secretary for
regular review by the corporate governance and compliance
committee of the Board (the “Corporate Governance and
Compliance Committee”). The training records of the directors
and senior management for this Reporting Period were
reviewed by the Corporate Governance and Compliance
Committee in June 2021.
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According to the records, the Company’s directors received the BELEE A2 EENHEHEEY TME
following training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and ELTMRAFREFAG B REFE2HFI U
duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with FE(EMMBDWEE T UATSE 2R EEAT
Code Provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code set BB =7 BID]) 2 <P AR X EA6.51 2 #
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”) during JE

the Reporting Period:

Type of Training
3= 3 38 Bl

Attending internal
and external

Reading seminars or

Directors materials conferences
B K S AR

BE=s R AR mMAEeRNER

Non-Executive Director

FHITES

Mr Kwong B 5t 4=

(appointed with effect from 9 February 2021 ) (& 202142 59 A #£ 1 Z {F) v

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr Au 17 5 4

(appointed with effect from 18 January 2021) (620214 1 4 18 A #E E Z {£) v

Mr Tschirner Tschirner 5t &£

(appointed with effect from 18 January 2021) (£ 20214 1 518 H £ EZE 1) v v
Mr Lau 215t & v

Mr Sue &k 5t &

(resigned with effect from 3 February 2021) (5202142 5 3 3 #E 5 () v v
Ms Wu #§ % +

(resigned with effect from 3 February 2021) (5202142 A3 H ¥ BF ) v

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BYKBITES

Mr Leung 2 4% 4 v

Mr Ma 55 % &

(appointed with effect from 3 February 2021) (5 202142 A 3 H # # Z (F) v

Mr Giles Giles %t 4

(appointed with effect from 3 February 2021) (5202142 H 3 A # EZ (F) v

Mr Chan B %t £

(resigned with effect from 3 February 2021) (5 202142 A 3 B # & {T) v

Ms Wong &= %+

(resigned with effect from 3 February 2021) (£ 2021 2 5 3 H £ B (F) v v
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Board Committees

Constantly striving to achieve greater transparency and
accountability to the Company’s shareholders, the Board has
established five Board committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the remuneration committee of the Board (the
“RBemuneration Committee”), the Nomination Committee, the
Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee, and the
share repurchase committee of the Board (the “Share
Repurchase Committee”); each having specific roles, authority
and functions as detailed in the respective written terms of
reference which are available on the Company’s website
(www.blueriverholdings.com.hk). A majority of members of all
Board committees except the Share Repurchase Committee
are independent non-executive directors.

The Board may also establish committees (including
independent board committee) on an ad hoc basis to approve
projects as it deems necessary.

All Board committees have adopted, to a large extent, the same
principles, procedures, and arrangements as those of the Board
and are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties. The Board committees will make recommendations to
the Board on a regular basis unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS HELD DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

RBEHARTHERZ HFERR

BOARD COMMITTEES
EEREEY

Corporate
Governance
and
Compliance Share
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination TEER Repurchase Shareholders

EER & # "’& ER B 40 = B8 B’®R

Number of meetings held during
the Reporting Period
RBESHANETEERE 7 3 3 2 2 0 3

Non-Executive Director

FHITES

Mr Kwong 8 5t 4

(appointed with effect from 9 February 2021)

(B2021%F2A9H E#EZ(F) 2/2 — — — — - 1/1

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr Au #7] %2 £

(appointed with effect from 18 January 2021)

(B2021%1 /18 A EZE(T) 2/2 — — 0/0 0/0 0/0 1/1
Mr Tschirner Tschirer 5t 4

(appointed with effect from 18 January 2021)

(520211 A18H E#EZ () 2/2 — 0/0 - 0/0 0/0 11
Mr Lau 2%t £ 77 - 3/3 2/2 — 0/0 3/3
Mr Sue # 5t &

(resigned with effect from 3 February 2021)

(8202142 A3HEFHE) 5/5 — — 2/2 — - 0/2
Ms Wu #i %z +

(resigned with effect from 3 February 2021)

(62021F2A3HEFE) 5/5 — — — — - 0/2

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr Leung 22 5t 4 77 3/3 3/3 2/2 2/2 — 1/3**
Mr Ma 5 5t &

(appointed with effect from 3 February 2021)

(6202142 H3HEZ(F) 2/2 11 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 11
Mr Giles Giles 5 4=

(appointed with effect from 3 February 2021)

(B2021%F2A3HEEZ(TF) 2/2 11 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 1/1
Mr Chan [ 4t 4

(resigned with effect from 3 February 2021)

(5202142 A3HEFHE) 5/5 2/2 3/3 2/2 2/2 0/0 2/2
Ms Wong & Z +

(resigned with effect from 3 February 2021)

(B 202142 A3HEFHE) 5/5 2/2 — 2/2 2/2 - 2/2

Company Secretary

ARWE

Ms Ho Sze Nga, Maggie ] 25 7 % +

(appointed with effect from 22 April 2020)

(B 202044 /22 A tEEZT) 77 3/3 3/3 2/2 2/2 - 3/3
Mr Chan Kai Ki [ {3 & 4t 4

(resigned with effect from 22 April 2020)

(B 202044 22 H#E & (F) 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 — 0/0

b Mr Leung was unable to attend the AGM on 4 September 2020 and the o B RE M B T8 L B2 T ER20197 M A & ik &

SGM on 26 March 2021 due to other pre-arranged commitments and the IERBEZIEH - R5EAEKBE M R2020F9 F 4 H
circumstances under the COVID-19 outbreak. ZHREHAFKXER2021F3HA26H 2 RE 55 X

= o
=
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The following tables show the composition of the Board LTI ERBERABMEAARBEARNREB R IE
committees, their respective roles and functions and a summary EEXERTEemAER HACHEBENRETIE
and/or report of the works performed by them during the WER S

Reporting Period and up to the date of this report:

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
FMESS

Composition

A

Mr Tschirner Tschirner 5t 4

(executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)

($7TEE  BH2021F2H3AHLEZTEKE)

Mr Sam Jii o 4

(executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 1 April 2021)

(B7TEE - H2021F4 1AL EZTEKE)

Mr Leung 22 % 4

(independent non-executive director) (¥ 7 JF %177 & &)

Mr Ma f§ %t 4 (chairman) (% /%)

(independent non-executive director, appointed as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BUIENTESE 2021 F2ASHBEZFARLE)

Mr Giles Giles %t 4

(independent non-executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BIIRTEE 2021 F2H3HEEZ(TAKE)

Mr Lau %5t £

(executive director, resigned as a member with effect from 1 April 2021)

(RTEF  H2021F4F1HEFIKE)

Mr Chan [ % 4 (chairman) (F &)

(independent non-executive director, resigned as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)

(B IFHRITEE  H20214F2FH3HEFTEE)

Role & v’ Reviews the remuneration policy of the Company
Function* 8 AT AR A R
A BRI AL v’ Makes recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of all directors and senior
management and on the establishment of formal and transparent procedures for developing a policy on such remuneration
MABEFESREBENTFNBEREREE URANEZEFNBRR LI —EERMAFSHAEZNEF [
EERELER
v’ Determines or makes recommendations to the Board on the specific remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment
REXMEERERERNNTESLRRERENRTFTHNEE  BEEDAE RReBMNEREEHE (BEF
ARERRRIEEBBREEMEMNEMFHEES)
v Makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive directors
MEEFRERFVTESNETH
Summary of ¥ Recommended the aggregate amount of directors’ fees for shareholders’ approval at 2020 AGM
Work BREFHMAT HRFE2020FRRBFRE Li#E
Plegﬁo;ﬁmgd ¥ Considered and approved the key performance indicators of Managing Director and Senior Management for the Reporting

Period

EELPERBERNEAREHRSAEEEN T EATIEE

Considered and approved the grant of additional incentive bonus

R R AR B EINSB AL

Reviewed the remuneration packages of directors (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors), Managing Director and Senior Management for the Reporting Period

R EF(BRHT FRTRBIUEJTES) LIRSREEBRREMOFHNGTE

Considered and approved the granting of discretionary year-end bonus to Managing Director, senior management and

relevant employees and additional incentive bonus to senior management
ZREMERNLEY SREEEREHEIREMBERICARMARMERE R L EINSE LA

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.
 BRIE KIS EEE FE R L F A (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) 2 £ BN Z S & Bt i & F -
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Performance-based Remuneration Policy

Director’s fee is determined with reference to factors including
prevailing market conditions, salary paid by comparable
companies, duties and responsibilities of a director, employment
conditions elsewhere and time committed by the director
concerned.

A performance-based element was considered instrumental in
aligning the interests of individuals with those of the Group and
has been built into top-management compensation.

The Company has adopted its own reward strategy which
forms an integral part of its remuneration policy and the basis
for future awards to employees. The key aspects of such
reward strategy include:

v’ to attract and retain talents, base pay and benefits will be
market competitive;

y'  to support the growth strategy of the Group, short-term
and long-term performance-based rewards will be
emphasized;

y* to align employee interest with shareholders, the
performance-based rewards will either be equity-based
and/or cash-based; and

v equity-based and/or cash reward will be considered in
light of an employee’s level of responsibility and influence
on the Group’s performance and share price.

The Company effectively deploys an appropriate mix of its
existing equity-based reward vehicles, including the share

option scheme as well as cash bonus.

Details of remuneration of directors and senior management are
set out in Note 14 to the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
REEEE

Composition e

AR

Mr Au 7] 4 4

(executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)

(B7TEE 202162 A3HEEZ T RKE)

Mr Sam i % &

(executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 1 April 2021)

(BI7TEF 2021 F4A1ALEZHRKE)

Mr Leung 22 % 4

(independent non-executive director) (3§ 17 FE# 77 & %)

Mr Ma 5 5% 4 (chairman) (3 JZ)

(independent non-executive director, appointed as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BIIEBITEE  H2021F2A3HEEZ (T AEE)

Mr Giles Giles %t 4

(independent non-executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BUIHBITEFE  H2021F2H3HEEZEARKE)

Mr Lau 2l 4t 4

(executive director, resigned as a member with effect from 1 April 2021)

(ITEE 52021 F4A1HEFHEKE)

Mr Sue &k 5t £

(executive director, resigned as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)

($177EF - 52021 F2A3HEFFHKE)

Mr Chan [ % 4 (chairman) (F &)

(independent non-executive director, resigned as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)
(B IEBTEE  H2021F2A3HEFHTERE)

Ms Wong & % £

(independent non-executive director, resigned as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)

(BUHMITEE  BH2021462H3A#EIEKE)

Role & ¥’ Reviews the structure, size and diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
Function* ethnicity, professional and industrial experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least annually and
A G R makes recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes \
ELFFRAEERNEE  ABRRSTE(BEETRNERN  Fik XCRBAEER Bk FERTEE
o8k K BEIREEH)  UHEMBREEHRNESRRELES
v Identifies individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and selects, or makes recommendations to the Board on
the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships
MEAEEERNABAERETEERKE  AMKEXNESRREEZABFUALTLHAEES
v Assesses the independence of independent non-executive directors
AIZBYIEMITEENE I
v Makes recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular, the Chairman and the Managing Director
MEBEZEAEHNZE URESF(LHEHRFTFHRAR)ETFIARNESRIEHES
¥’ Develops, reviews and recommends to the Board for adoption of measurable objectives for achieving and improving
diversity on the Board
REVRAZEEFXESZ T HIF] BRAREBAEEARETESREERREMN
v Develops and reviews the policy, criteria and procedures for identification, selection and nomination of candidates for
appointment as directors
HETRBEYE BERREEREAUFREZEEAER ZHR ERIRERF
¥’ Monitors the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy (@ summary of which is set out on page 49)
ERSERNESZTIBR(ARMEHINEI9ER) HHRTHER
¥ Monitors the implementation of the Nomination Policy (@ summary of which is set out on page 49)
ERRAER(EREHINFEQR)NHTER
Summary of Nominated the retiring directors for re-election by shareholders at 2020 AGM
Work RERTEFME2020FRRBF ARG FRIEET
Performed Reviewed and assessed individual independent non-executive director’s annual confirmation of independence declared
THRE pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules

D Y N N N N

*

FB R B IEMITEFRRBCEMARBIDEIABKM R 2 FE B MR R

Reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board from time to time

THRBRNEERDAEE  ABRAK

Reviewed the Board Diversity Policy

WA EEFRBKEZITILEE

Discussed and considered the recommended disclosure in 2020 Corporate Governance Report regarding the Board
Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy and recommended them to the Board for approval

AR EEEE020FEZ(EEERBE)FTNEHEREERXES TR ERREBRNEZRENS - I
BEBERTUAIE

Please refer to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.

BRI FRE F R KR A (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) Z 18 £ Z B S Bt 1 # E -
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NOMINATION PROCEDURES, PROCESS AND

CRITERIA

Nomination Committee
makes recommendations
to the Board on any
proposed changes

Nomination Committee
identifies individuals
suitably qualified to
become directors

Nomination Committee
selects or makes
recommendations to the
Board on the selection of
persons nominated for
directorships

REERF BREUAKRER

The Board makes formal
invitation to selected
persons for appointment to
the Board
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

CEEARERESR

REZEEVWEAHKS
BERALTHEES

REZEGHERAE
ERRELERLEEMN
ATHEES

EERMAEEEALTHE
HEEESHWERBF

Composition

N2

Mr Au 1] % 4

(executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)

(B17TEF  H2021F2HA3ALEZHERKE)

Mr Tschirner Tschirner 5t 4

(executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)

(B7TEF H2021F2A3AEEZTAKE)

Mr Leung 2 5 4

(independent non-executive director)

(BB TEF)

Mr Ma 5 5% 4 (chairman) (3 J&)

(independent non-executive director, appointed as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BUIENTTESE 2021 F2ASHBEZFBEE)

Mr Giles Giles %t 4

(independent non-executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BUIHBTEE  H2021F2H3HEEZERKE)

Ms Ho Sze Nga, Maggie {r] 55 Jf 22 +

(company secretary, appointed as a member with effect from 22 April 2020)

(REIWE - B2020F 4 H22 A E#EZFRKE)

Mr Chan [ % 4 (chairman) (3 &)

(independent non-executive director, resigned as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BB TEF  §2021F2H3HEFEERE)

Ms Wong & Z +

(independent non-executive director, resigned as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BB TTESE  H2021F2H3AM#FILKE)

Mr Chan Kai Ki [ 2 B 5t &

(company secretary, resigned as a member with effect from 22 April 2020)

(R A]#E - B20209F 4 F22 A EFFEMK B)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

CEEARERESS (H)

Role &
Function*

A G R

Develops and reviews the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and makes recommendations to the
Board

FIERBTAATANCEESRERER TMESRREES

Reviews and monitors the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior management

B REREEEGREEENBIIRSEETERR

Reviews and monitors the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and meets
with the management of the Company to assess the Company’s compliance policies, programs and procedures

B RERARNFEHRTEZREERETEANBERER THRARANERERTEE  UTEARRFHN
BRER  TRERIERF

Develops, reviews, monitors and approves any code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and directors of the Company

BE B BERRBEHEARAAFAEEREETNEMNITRERRERFME)

Investigates or causes to be investigated any significant instances of non-compliance or potential compliance violations that
are reported to the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee

FAELLRHRBEMPEE AR EREZEGERNEMNERERRNELERBNR

Reviews the Company’s compliance with the CG Code as contained in the Listing Rules and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report

BARRABEFCEMBADA (R ETRADOBER REE(EEB ARE) NN K E

Reviews the Company’s compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as contained in the
Listing Rules and disclosure in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BAARRABEF(ETRADAZCERE L@ REAREEDNBEAREHNANCRE HEREBBREIAD
&

Summary of
work
performed

THERE

*

D Y N W N

N W N

Reviewed the Corporate Governance Report for the Reporting Period

EHRMER2(BEEBRE)

Reviewed updated compliance reports of the Company and its major subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China
BEHARAREMRAEARKMBAZ T EWNBRANENTHERRE

Reviewed the report on recommendation of disclosure in the Directors’ Report (Business Review)
EHNEREREESRBESE EBER)NMERECRE

Reviewed the form for confirmation of directors’ participation in training provided by each director in compliance with the
CG Code

EHNREFRACEF2EEII2BARE - LNEBF(RETRD

Reviewed the policy on disclosure and public relations

BEt B ER R A BRI R

Reviewed the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the Reporting Period

FEHRMERCRE LB REBBRSE)

Reviewed and recommended the revised Code of Conduct for the approval by the Board
FHRERLEITGTREADAEES BILE

Reviewed the Shareholders Communication Policy

B E AR 5 S BUR

Please refer to the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee on the Company’s website

(www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.
© BTG ERE F# R R A A (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) 2 1R EER K EME E S B EFE -
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SHARE REPURCHASE COMMITTEE
BROEBESS

Composition e

AR

Mr Au 7] 4 4

(executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)

(B7TEF  H2021F2A3HEEZ T RKE)

Mr Tschirer Tschirner 5t 4

(executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)

(BI7TEF  H2021F2H3AHLEZHRKE)

Mr Sam i 5t &

(executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 1 April 2021)

(BN7TEE - H2021F4 1AL EZITEKE)

Mr Ma 5 % 4 (chairman) (£ /&)

(independent non-executive director, appointed as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BUIHBITEFE  H2021F2H3HEEZEARFE)

Mr Giles Giles 5%t 4

(independent non-executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BUIHNITTESE 2021 F2ASHBEZFAKE)

Mr Lau %) 5t &£

(executive director, resigned as a member with effect from 1 April 2021)

(B177EF 52021 F4A1HEFFKE)

Mr Chan F& %t 4 (chairman) (& /&)

(independent non-executive director, resigned as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)

(BT IFHITEE  H2021462F3HEEHTEE)

Role & v
Function*

AGERE

Exercises the general mandate granted by shareholders to the Board to repurchase shares of the Company in accordance

with the Listing Rules, Bye-laws and the applicable laws of Bermuda
BRBE(ETRAD  ARAAARBREEREZE TERERTEZREBARARMH 2 EN

Summary of
work
performed

THERE

During the Reporting Period, no Share Repurchase Committee meeting was held.
RBEPRN TEREFROEEZESSH -

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Share Repurchase Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for

further details.

BRI —AFIE B RE BRI L B8 (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) 2 % 17 [0] 5 Z 8 & B 1 & [ -

AUDIT COMMITTEE
EREEE

Composition e

924

Mr Leung 22 % 4

(independent non-executive director) (¥ 17 FE# 77 & F)

Mr Ma 5 % & (chairman) (3 /&)

(independent non-executive director, appointed as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BIINTEE  H2021F2H3HEEZ(LAERF)

Mr Giles Giles 5t 4

(independent non-executive director, appointed as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)
(BUINITESE 2021 F2ASHBEZFABKE)

Mr Chan [& 4t 4 (chairman) (3= &)

(independent non-executive director, resigned as the chairman with effect from 3 February 2021)
(B IEBITEE  H20214F2A3HEETEE)

Ms Wong & Z +

(independent non-executive director, resigned as a member with effect from 3 February 2021)

(BT IFHITEE  B20214F2 3 EEHLHKE)

¥  Each of Mr Ma and Mr Chan is currently a certified public accountant with extensive experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management services.

fOBRERRAERER R - REMEHE ERE S RMBEERE I AEFEELR -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

EREEE (R)
Role & v’ Makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of external auditor
Function® REEIIEZBMAEERHREES
AEERAE ¢ Reviews the Group’s financial information
EHAEEIBER
¥’ Oversees the Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems
EEAEEMBERGE RRERRANIEZERLR
v’ Reviews the interim and final results of the Group prior to submission to the Board for approval
ERREFRUMEZR - BEHAEEPHMRPEE
¥’ Reviews financial reporting and internal control matters and to this end has unrestricted access to both the Company’s
external and internal auditors
FHMEERMAIEZTET - Wl AL B 6 iR R R A 7SN AZ BUAD K N 2028 FT AT ER IS I 22
Report on v’ Reviewed unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and audited annual consolidated financial statements of the
work Group with a recommendation to the Board for approval
performed BEHAEERLCERNTREEVBBRRLCERNFEGAVBRR TE2ZESRHEN
THEHE v Reviewed internal control and risk management framework of the Group
BEHAEENDEEREAREEESR
¥ Received and reviewed progress reports on internal control, risk management and internal audit actions implemented/
planned by the Group
R RENAEEMETXENANET RAREERADES TIENERRSE
v’ Approved audit fee proposal of external auditor in connection with the audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the Reporting Period
HENEZEMRAEZEAEERNREP AU BRRAERNZHE
v’ Approved the engagement and the review fee proposal of external auditor in connection with the review of the Group’s
condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2020
HEZTAIIEZEMEERENAREEZ2020F9A30B It XNAAZERLEVEREMEZNENE
v Reviewed connected transactions of the Group
EHAKEEZHAER S
¥’ Recommended the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) as the Group’s external auditor at 2020 AGM
BER20FRRBAFAG FEMEZERY s BAEMRASET(1EH ) AAE EINEAZ BAED
v Reviewed the resignation of Deloitte and recommended the appointment of Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe (HK)”) as the
Group’s extemal auditor
EHRY BT URZZEHREEE (BB GMFEBMERAR(TEEEE(FEB) ) BAS BN 2 EED
v Met with external auditor in the absence of executive directors of the Company

ERBAARRABNTESESHNBERT - & BRI EZEE

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.
 BRIE KIS EEE FE K D F A (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) Z B E S & B E#E -
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SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with Shareholders

As part of corporate governance, the Company is committed to
safeguarding shareholders’ interests. To achieve this, the
Company has established a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy setting out various channels of communication with
shareholders and investor community for ensuring effective
disclosure of the Company’s performance and business
activities.

The Company regards its shareholders’ meetings as valuable
forum for shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board face to face. All our directors
and senior management and representatives from external
auditor will make effort to attend shareholders’ meetings and
address queries from shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held three general
meetings. Voting on resolutions put forward at the general
meetings has been taken by way of poll and the poll results
have been published and posted on the website of the
Company and the HKEx's website. All resolutions put to
shareholders were passed at the said general meetings. The
resolutions and the percentage of votes cast in favour of the
resolutions are set out below:
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THE COMPANY’S GENERAL MEETINGS HELD DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

REEHMABTHNRIAARRAE

Annual General Meeting on 4 September 2020
M2020F9 B4 ETHRRBFAE

v
v
v

D N N N

Approval of the 2020 audited accounts

BiB2020F E MR EZIR B

Re-election of Ms Wong as director

BREEBENTRES

Re-election of Mr Leung as director

BERGRERES

Approval of directors’ fees in aggregate amount of not exceeding HK$4,000,000 per
annum for all directors

ARG TERESFHEIBEBEF400000ETHEEHS

Re-appointment of Deloitte as auditor and authorisation to the Board to fix their remuneration
HEZAEYRREMEAERESERECHMS

Grant of general and unconditional mandate to directors to issue shares
BTEERTRMN —BEERERRE

Grant of general and unconditional mandate to directors to repurchase shares
HTEELERM — R RERERE

Extension of the share issue mandate to directors

BMAERTESEBRTROZEN

Election of Mr Simon Gordon Littmann as director

#E % Simon Gordon Littmann 7t 4 & & =

Special General Meeting on 28 October 2020
M2020F10 A28 B BITHRR&GHI K&

v

Approval of the capital reorganisation
ABEAREMR

Special General Meeting on 26 March 2021
N2021 F3H26 B BITHRREH RS

v
v
v

D U N N

v

Approval of change of company name

ABENNF A

Approval of the termination of the share financing plan

BB KRG, L E 58

Re-election of Mr Au as director

BEMNEERES

Re-election of Mr Tschirner as director

E#Tschimerft £ A& 5

Re-election of Mr Kwong as director

BEBMATERES

Re-election of Mr Ma as director

BEERFEERES

Re-election of Mr Giles as director

EEGilestERES

Removal of directors’ fee cap in an aggregate amount of not exceeding HK$4,000,000
per annum

BiHE B0 S R F T8 1B 8 5 4,000,000 7T 2 R

Authorisation to the Board to fix and vary the remuneration of the Directors from time to time

ERESRITRETLEREZTME

EERRE

% of Votes Cast For

BREHMNER
98.95%
96.16%
96.16%

98.95%

96.16%
96.14%
100.00%
96.14%
4.58%

% of Votes Cast For
EREHENER
99.87%

% of Votes Cast For
EREHENLR
99.99%
99.99%
99.99%
99.99%
99.99%
99.99%
99.99%

99.99%

99.99%

EmEZERAERLDA 2021 F 3R
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Apart from holding shareholders’ meetings, the Company also
endeavours to maintain effective communication with all
shareholders through other channels such as publication of
annual and interim reports, announcements as well as circulars (all
in bilingual) so as to provide extensive information on the
Group’s activities, financial position, business strategies and
developments to enable them to make informed decision on
matters relating to their investment and exercise of their rights
as shareholders of the Company. Such information is also
available on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.
com.hk) and the HKEX’s website.

Our website is an effective means of communication with
shareholders. Any shareholders who have questions or
comments on what we are doing are most welcome to contact
us at any time through our website. We will use our best
endeavour to answer the questions within a reasonable time.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Company recognises the importance of ensuring that
shareholders’ rights are protected. In accordance with Bye-laws
and the applicable laws of Bermuda, all the Company’s
shareholders are entitled to attend or be represented by proxy
and vote at general meetings. The Company’s shareholders
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings have
the right to require a special general meeting to be convened
and propose transaction of business.

All shareholders of the Company have the right to propose
person for election as director of the Company in accordance
with its Bye-laws, which is made available on the website of the
Company, setting out the relevant procedure for proposing a
person for election as director of the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL

INTERNAL

Responsibility

The Board considers that sound risk management and internal
control systems are vital to the achievement of the Group’s
strategic objectives and acknowledges its responsibility to
establish, maintain and review the effectiveness of such systems
on an ongoing basis.

Management is responsible for the design, implementation and
ongoing monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group to achieve the following business
objectives:

v Effectiveness and efficiency of operations

v'  Reliability of financial reporting and non-financial reporting

y*  Compliance with applicable laws and regulations

Such systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and aim to
provide a reasonable, as opposed to an absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee has ongoing responsibilities to review the

effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and to report to the Board at least annually.
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The table below shows the roles and responsibilities of the key TERERREZABERMHEREEMA S EE

parties in our risk management and internal control systems:

ERGAMEZNAGLREBE -

Board

BEER

¥’ Sets strategic objectives v Evaluates and determines the < Provides direction on the
S E B ER B 12 nature and extent for the Group’s importance of risk management

v’ Oversees management in the principal risks and risk management culture

Managing Director & Senior Management
HEREREEE

v

design, implementation and SEAEE®EZRR R A E BEBREREEMHNRERE

monitoring of the risk HMEBEMEE

management and internal control
systems
EEEEEYRREERAR

ERZRORT  BHAER

Assesses risks group-wide and develops
mitigating measures

& EERBN ARG R RS E R R &R
i)

Designs, implements and monitors the risk
management and internal control systems

®Et  BEMEREREENAIBEZERZR
Provides confirmation on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems to the
Board/Audit Committee
HEBREBNABEERFNERERES
B/ EREBERMRE

Operation Management

BEEERE

B XL R A

Audit Committee
EREES

v Reviews the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems of the Group

BRAAEERREEMABLEZERZROHE R

i3
Internal Audit Function
A =B 2 51 58 B2 3B Y

v Supports the Audit Committee in reviewing the
effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems
TERERZESHRREEMABEZ RS
2B R Et

¥ Implements and monitors the risk management and internal control procedures across the business operations and

functional areas of the Group

ERMEREREXGEENBESMANRAREEMABEIERF
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Risk Management Framework

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The diagram below shows the risk management framework

adopted by the Group:

Strategy K&

Vision

Statement

BREH

Policy
BR

Process &2

Elements 7T&

Organization
Structures

R

Performance
Measure

AR

Monitor

Identify

w5l

Risk

Management

Process

ERERRRE

Human
Resource
Mechanisms

AN B

Management
Commitment

B g A

Analyze

D

Respond

Communications
and Training

BERIE

Assurance

R

EERRE

R EEAER
T B R A S BT ER A ) LB IR AR 2R ¢

Risks are considered
when setting strategy.

TE Il & 5 B B -
ZRERRAEE-

Process applies standard
procedures, assessment tools
and market practices.

BERERTRENERF
AHE A RIS MO

Elements that are brought
together to support, promote
and drive risk management
throughout the Group.

PE B S (RE NS BB E
SBRAREEMTHNITE -
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Risk assessment is performed annually to evaluate the nature
and extent of the risks to which it is exposed. During the risk
assessment process, the Group has identified principal and
significant risks faced by the Group. The Business Review
section of this annual report provides description of the Group’s
principal risks and uncertainties, which some of them could
affect the performance of the Group’s business and operations.
Moreover, risk management measures are in place to manage
the risks to an acceptable level.

To support management in responding to risks arising from the
complex and changing business environment, regular training is
provided to our management to strengthen their awareness of
risk and capability to manage risks.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Group’s systems of internal control were developed by
making reference to the Internal Control Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) in the United States in 2013
and the Guide on Internal Control and Risk Management issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Operating subsidiaries are required to perform control self-
assessments annually to assess the effectiveness of their
systems of internal control. The control self-assessment
performed is in the form of a questionnaire that sets out key
factors in each of the five components of the COSO Internal
Control Integrated Framework. These five interrelated
components are Control Environment, Risk Assessment,
Control Activities, Information and Communication, and
Monitoring.

During the Reporting Period, the Internal Control, Legal and
Finance & Accounts Departments of the Company have carried
out reviews on operational, financial and compliance controls of
the relevant operating subsidiaries to ensure that their
compliance with the Group’s risk management and internal
control policies and procedures and the accuracy of relevant
reports submitted to the Group.
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Every year the internal audit function of the Company (the “Internal
Audit Function”) carries out independent audits to evaluate the
effectiveness of the Group’s systems of risk management and
internal control according to the approved three-year internal
audit plan for the Group. This audit plan was determined using
a risk-based approach and is re-assessed annually to ensure
that adequate audit resources are deployed to achieve the
objectives of the internal audit plan.

Finally, management has formulated remedial action plans to
address the gaps and weaknesses identified during control self-
assessments, internal control reviews and internal audits. The
head office of the Company conducts follow-up reviews
periodically to ensure that the remedial actions are taken on a
timely basis, and has reported the results of the follow-up
reviews to the Audit Committee.

The Board has assessed the scope and quality of the Group’s
ongoing monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems. Based on the results of the control self-assessments
performed by operating subsidiaries, the reviews performed by
the Internal Control, Legal and Finance & Accounts Departments
and the independent audits performed by the Internal Audit
Function, the Board considered the risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate. The Board
was not aware of any significant areas of concerns that may
affect the Group to achieve its strategic goals.

Every year, the Board has, through the Audit Committee,
reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget, and was satisfied with the results of the review.
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Procedures and Controls for the Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

Proper measures have been taken by the Group to comply with
the requirements under “Part XIVA — Disclosure of Inside
Information” of the Securities and Futures Ordinance to ensure
that inside information remains confidential until the disclosure
of such information has been properly approved, and
disseminate in an effective and consistent manner. Such
measures include establishment of the inside information
identification, reporting, and disclosure protocol and
procedures. A review of the procedures and controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information was completed
by the Internal Audit Function around November 2020.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit Function, which played an important role in the
internal governance of the Group, was headed by Group
Internal Audit Senior Manager reporting directly to the Audit
Committee. With the assistance from external internal audit
consultant whenever necessary, the Internal Audit Function is
primarily responsible for conducting analysis and independent
appraisal on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
systems of risk management and internal control on an annual
basis.

The Internal Audit Function is independent from operational
management and is fully empowered to access to data required
in performing internal audit review. Moreover, the function
comprises well qualified and capable staff and is provided with
adequate resources to perform its duties.

Since 2008, internal audit assignments have been directed by
an internal audit strategic plan approved by the Audit
Committee. This strategic plan is developed by adopting risk-
based approach for every three years and reviewed annually. In
addition, ad hoc internal audit assignments will be performed on
request by the management or assigned by the Audit
Committee. In the past twelve years, the Internal Audit Function
has executed four three-year internal audit strategic plans.
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During the process of audits, the Internal Audit Function
identified internal control weakness, made recommendations for
improvement, obtained remedial action plan of management
and followed up remedial status of the management action plan
and its timeliness.

The Group has engaged Crowe (HK) Risk Advisory Limited
(“Crowe Advisory”), a professional consultant, in April 2021 to
assist the Audit Committee in reviewing the Internal Audit
Function, assessing and evaluating the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. If necessary, to make recommendations
to the Board and Audit Committee for compliance with
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Crowe Advisory will also assist
the Board in assessing if the Company has established and
maintained appropriate and effective risk management strategy
with recommendation in enhancement and improvement of risk
assessment and three-year audit plan.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Deloitte has been re-appointed as the Company’s external
auditor at 2020 AGM and subsequently resigned as the
Company’s external auditor with effect from 1 March 2021.

To fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte,
the Company has appointed Crowe (HK) as the Company’s
external auditor with effect from 1 March 2021 until the next
AGM of the Company.

The Audit Committee in its meeting on 28 June 2021
recommended the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) as the
Company’s external auditor at 2021 AGM and the Board has
adopted the same view as that of the Audit Committee.

In order to maintain independence, Crowe (HK) is primarily
responsible for providing audit services in connection with the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, and only provides
non-audit services that do not impair their independence or
objectivity and are approved by the Audit Committee.
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REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE TO DELOITTE FOR AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

ENSENTRENKBRFLBBRENS

1/4/2020- 1/4/2019-
1/3/2021 31/3/2020
2020F4H1BZE 2019F4A18ZE
2021 3H1H 20209%3A31H

HK$’000 HK$’000
Services Rendered BHOR®E FBT Tt
Audit services ZH R - 2,876
Non-audit services I B AR 7%
Review of interim condensed consolidated 25 [ 2 5 AR
financial statements REBBIREK 1,297 1,278
Taxation advisory WA 91 89
Special engagements FEZE 3,356 4,615
Total g 4,744 8,858

REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE TO CROWE (HK) FOR AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

ENSENTREESE (FR)NRBARFLBREN

1/3/2021- 1/4/2019-
31/3/2021 31/3/2020
20213A1HZE 2019F4A18ZE
20213 HA31H 202043 A31H

HK$’000 HK$’000
Services Rendered BENRE FEx FETT
Audit services % B8R % 1,880 —
Non-audit services IEZ B RS -
Review of interim condensed consolidated E R EIS e
financial statements SREVBIHRE - -
Taxation advisory WA 40 -
Special engagements FEZE 240 —
Total oG] 2,160 —
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS HBERXH

The Company’s memorandum of association and Bye-laws (in KRB 2 HEEERKNME DT 48 (R TR
both English and Chinese) are available on the website of the ) EEH R A QD F I (www.blueriverholdings.
Company (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) and the HKEx’s com.hk) & & 2 5 BT uf; -

website.
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No amendments have been made to the Bye-laws during the
Reporting Period.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance practices of the Company and continued
to apply the principles of, and complied with, the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code except for certain deviations as
specified with considered reasons set below.

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of the Chairman and CEO should be separated and performed
by different individuals. Following the retirement of Dr Chow
Ming Kuen, Joseph on 16 September 2011, Mr Lau, the
Managing Director at the material time had been appointed as
the Chairman and performed the roles of Chairman and CEO
since 26 September 2011.

With effect from 18 January 2021, Mr Tschirner was appointed
as the executive director and Managing Director and Mr Lau
stepped down from the role of Managing Director, as a result of
which the Company complies with the requirement of
separation of the roles of Chairman and CEO pursuant to Code
Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code since then.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Mr Kwong (who was a non-executive director appointed on 9
February 2021 and subsequently appointed as the non-
executive Chairman on 1 April 2021), Mr Ma and Mr Giles (both
being the independent non-executive directors of the Company
appointed on 3 February 2021) had no fixed term of service
with the Company, but are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election pursuant to the Bye-laws. Mr Kwong, Mr Ma and Mr
Giles,
appointment with the Company for a fixed term of 3 years
effective retrospectively from their respective first date of
appointments.

inter alia, have then entered into with a letter of
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This environmental, social and governance (the “ESG”) report (the
“Report”) of Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021
(the “Reporting Period”) covers environmental (Subject Area A)
and social (Subject Area B) as set out in the environmental,
social and governance reporting guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix
27 1o the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Corporate governance is
addressed separately in the corporate governance report (the
“Corporate Governance Report”) set out in pages 43 to 75 of
this annual report (the “Annual Report”).

SCOPE OF THIS REPORT

The ESG information in this Report covers material issues (which
assessment process is set out in the section headed “Materiality
Assessment and Stakeholders Engagement” below) of all of our
business segments discussed in the “Business Review” section
of the Annual Report, with the exception of those business
entities: (i) in which the Company does not have a controlling
interest; and (i) which ESG implications shall be insignificant to
the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
disposed its businesses in relation to port operation in Jiaxing (the
“Jiaxing International Feeder Port”) and Jiangyin (the “Jiangyin
Sunan Container Terminal”). The scope of this report for the
Reporting Period mainly covers (i) the liquefied petroleum gas (the
“LPG”) and compressed natural gas (the “CNG”) distribution
and logistics business of Minsheng Gas in Wuhan City ; (ii)
operation at the LPG storage-tank farm and a river terminal of
Minsheng Gas in Hubei Province (() and (i) are collectively
referred as the “Minsheng Gas Business”); and (i) property
business at Xiao Yangkou and Nantong of Jiangsu Province (the
“Property Business”), as compared to the same report for the
financial year ended 31 March 2020.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE COMPANY’S APPROACH TO ESG
RISKS, IMPACTS AND OPPORTUNITIES

We consider ourselves are duty-bound to assess and manage
all foreseeable risk factors as effectively as possible, as we
believe that an effective management of ESG risks, impacts and
opportunities can deliver more sustainable and better financial
performance in the long term.

We recognise the need to consider ESG risks in our investment
and the operation process of our subsidiaries and their impact
on financial performance and the communities in which both we
and our subsidiaries operate.

Our vision and strategy on ESG is set out broadly in our ESG
Policy. The guiding principles in respect of each ESG area (as
set out in the “Business Review” section of the Annual Report)
have been developed to provide guidance on our ESG
management approach and strategy. Through dialogue with the
management of the business units and other stakeholders, we
develop strategic approaches to address ESG challenges and
integrate them into business practices. We also monitor ESG
performance through risk-assessment reviews and enhance
awareness through training. Relevant findings and
recommendations are reported to the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) on an on-going basis.

We require all business units to implement the requisite level of
risk management control to ensure compliance with our ESG
Policy, taking into account their business needs and local
circumstances. Appropriate operational procedures and
controls are in place and all employees are provided with
relevant information, training and supervision to reduce and
manage the risks concerned. Strong emphasis is placed on
preventing accidents and incidents, but should they happen we
have appropriate emergency plans which are rehearsed
routinely.

Business units are required to perform control self-assessments
annually to assess the effectiveness of their internal control
systems. The control self-assessment is performed in the form
of a questionnaire which includes ESG matters. The approach
on reviewing the effectiveness of these risk management and
internal control systems is discussed under the section headed
“Review of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems” of
the Corporate Governance Report in the Annual Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRSE

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE RE HERERFENERES

Board of Directors
BEER

P Has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting
HARAMERE HEREARBRERAKEZIAET

P Delegates the day-to-day responsibility for ESG-related matters to senior management and ESG reporting committee of the
Company (the “ESG Reporting Committee”)
BIRE e REAHBESENAEREZTL AR ASRAEEERARE HELERREZES((RE T
hEAHREEZEEE])

P  Approves ESG Policy and ESG Report
EMRR HEREOBRERERE H@RELAWmSE

Audit Committee Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
ERZEBER TEEAREREZEER
P Reviews the effectiveness of risk P>  Reviews ESG policies and practices developed by senior management and ESG
management and internal control Reporting Committee and makes recommendations to the Board
systems related to ESG matters BRTHEAEEERRE HEREAREZECMHENERRE 8K
WA ERERR HERERFER ERABELER TRMEFRIELES
HENRBREEMAILEEZ P Reviews and monitors the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory
FH BB requirements related to ESG matters and meets with the management to assess

related compliance policies, programs and procedures
B RERAQNBEETRE HEREAFEHNEANEZEREERTES
HMER WHERERTEH UG HENGHREE FEEER
P  Investigates or causes to be investigated any significant instances of non-
compliance or potential compliance violations that are reported to the corporate
governance and compliance committee of the Company
AEKLHPAEEAMRAARAACEERAREZAZEGERNERERILE
TEEREM
P  Reviews ESG Report developed and prepared by senior management and ESG
Reporting Committee
EHESREEERRE HEREAREZESMGECZESR HEk
SN £ A
EDEE =
Senior Management and ESG Reporting Committee
EREEERRE HEREARBREEZEESR
Develops the Company’s ESG policies and practices
FIEARAINIRE HEREABKRER
Designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal control systems related to ESG matters
BE BRMERERE HELEARFTEMABNAREEMADET RS
Ensures compliance with legal and regulatory requirements related to ESG matters
WRETHERE HEhELFEEBNEERREERTE
Prepares ESG Report with the assistance of external consultant
SN G THRERE e RERRE

ESG Working Group
BE HERERIMEA

vvyVvyy

P Assists senior management and ESG Reporting Committee in developing ESG policies and practices and preparing ESG
Report
HEREEEREE HEMEARSZECHERE HEREABRELERANRRIRE HERERBRE
P Assists senior management in coordinating and implementing ESG policies and practices

BHMEREEEAELERRE HEREABRERER

Departments and Business Units
HPAREBKSEE N

P Complies with ESG policies and practices developed by senior management and ESG Reporting Committee
BEHESREREBRRRE HehkBOREZESHENRE HEaRhREABRERER
P Implements good operation practices and ensures ESG compliance in daily operations

BRI EERTUHERERIFTHRARSRE HEREANARMK
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RE  HEREBRSE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND EEUHTFEHENZTHESHE
STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

In deciding what ESG data or information is included in this ERTMERE e RESHERER TN
report, we have taken into account the materiality of the relevant ARNBER  BRMEZEHEBEHEIERNEE
data or information, that is, its importance and relevance to the 1 BITH A AR X B RCL SR EB MM o
Company’s business and operations.

The Materiality Matrix below shows the result of our materiality UTHEZEHEEETRTRMEZUAMHBEE
assessment process: B AR -

Crucial

E

» Total non-hazardous waste produced
BREBRRNES

> Water consumption

> Water sourcing
2K

> Packaging material used
fERzaEmH

> Suppliers by geographical region
Rt =8 D HER

> Intellectual property rights
I ERE

» Commitment to community

El it &

SEBER G (HERENTKE)

External assessment (Impact on stakeholders)

Not relevant Internal assessment (Impact on business) Crucial

i RS (HEBOEY) s
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The matrix is based on internal and external materiality
assessment conducted during the Reporting Period by
engaging our key stakeholders through survey and the
assessment results provide an important reference for our ESG
management and information disclosure. Internal materiality
assessment involved senior managers and other key employees
of the Company. External assessment involved outside
stakeholders such as relevant government and regulatory units,
customers, suppliers and the communities where our
businesses are operating. These stakeholders are identified
through consulting various departments of our business units
such as sales and marketing, procurement, legal and finance.

Key stakeholders of the Company are engaged through on-

going and comprehensive communication channels to
understand their concerns and expectations.
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Below is the table listing our key stakeholders, their key
concerns and our channels to engage with them on an ongoing

basis:

Key stakeholders

BERHE

Shareholders and

Key concerns
BEE%

>

Financial performance and position

Engagement channels

» Annual and interim reports

investors BB ERIREAMRR FIRF P RS
REFIEEE > Corporate governance P Announcements and circulars
TtEER NEKB BK
P Sustainable development P General meetings
CIEST 953 RERAE
» Meetings and interviews
EEHIE
P Information disclosed in the Company’s website
RARB RN EZEER
Lenders P> Financial performance and position P> Business visits
BERA BB RIE MR LRl
P Corporate governance p Information disclosed in the Company’s website
hEER RARB R NEEZEER
P Liaison through email and telephone
BRETFEHGREERA
Regulatory bodies p Compliance p Compliance reporting
REHE s B R E R
p Corporate governance p Consultation
hEER i
P Laws, regulations and practices P Meetings
ERCERMER =
P Seminars and workshops
Mg kRIES
Customers p Quality of products and services p Daily operations
[ EmMREE= HE2E&E
p Corporate reputation P> Business visits
PEER LRl
p Data privacy » Meetings
BERFLE &
P Business integrity and conduct p Customer satisfaction survey
EBBENTR EFEmMEERAE

>

>

Complaint handling mechanism
15 5 BE B 1

Brochures and leaflets

M R B 5k
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RE - HERERRSE

Key stakeholders

EERRHNE

Suppliers
HER

Employees
EE

Community
Zan )

Key concerns
BEEER

p Corporate reputation
hEEE

p Fair and ethical business practice

N ERBEREERHTE
P Long-term relationship
REAERR

Health and safety
REEL S
Remuneration and benefits
FA A

Training and development
1591 B 8 R

Equal opportunities
TEKRE

Corporate culture

P EXE

vV v . v. vy

P Social contribution
a =1\

P Environmental responsibilities

RIBEEME
p Community participation
a2y
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Engagement channels
BERRE

p Procurement and tendering process
PRAE B IR A2

P> Business visits
[EEEsHil

P Seminars and workshops
Mer=E T e

P Training workshops and seminars
B TIES R &

P Regular performance reviews
EHIR I E

P Meetings and discussions
EELBE

p Company activities
NEEH

p Company notices
NGIEG RS

» Enquiry and complaint handling mechanism
15 7 B 4% 5 w12 # )

P Charitable donation
RERE

P Community investment
HRRE

P Volunteer activities
EREE B
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

We strive to comply with all relevant environmental laws and
regulations that are applicable to our various business
operations. Our legal team has been working closely with our
business units to assess the impact of those promulgated
environmental protection laws and regulations such as:

° the “Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”)”;

° the “Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution of
the PRC”;

° the “Prevention and Control of Water Pollution of the
PRC”;

° the “Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Waste of the PRC”; and

° the “National Environmental Emergency Response Plan”,
etc.

Policies to minimise the environmental impacts from operations
have been established and updated promptly in accordance
with the aforesaid laws and regulations. Moreover, a reporting
system has been developed and all our business operating
units are required to report promptly of any significant non-
compliance issues including those relating to environment.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to
environment that could have a significant impact on the Group.
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IEO
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BRI HERERAERE

AIR EMISSIONS

After the disposals of our Jiaxing International Feeder Port and
Jiangyin Sunan Container Terminal in July 2020, the emission
sources mainly come from the operation of the Minsheng Gas
Business as well as the Property Business. For example,
sulphur oxide (SOx) and nitrogen oxide (NOx) are generated
from fuel consumption of the LPG filling trucks, lawn mowers,
electricity generators through diesel run and office vehicles. The
combustion of fuels from the above mobile sources also causes
greenhouse gas (the “GHG”) emission. There are dust,
exhausted gases and other airborne particles generated from
the operations at fuel storage-tank farm, the LPG fueling
stations and the office canteens. A few fugitive emissions are
discharged between storage tanks and pipelines during the
LPG and CNG transmission.

Various preventive and corrective measures are in place to
tackle the air emission issues arising from our operations.
Environmental impact assessments have been carried out for
new construction projects (including project development of
liquefied natural gas (the “LNG”)) to ensure simultaneous design,
construction and use of pollution control facilities with the main
works (i.e. the “Three Simultaneity”). Controlling vehicles’ speed
at fuel storage-tank farm and LPG/CNG fueling stations as well
as performing regular cleaning and maintenance of paved
access roads have been performed to minimise the impact of
SOx, NOx and fugitive emissions. LPG and CNG leakage
detectors have been used frequently to monitor and ensure that
no incidents of vast leakage occur during the LPG transmission
and LPG/CNG filling services. Furthermore, in order to minimise
greenhouse gas emission, diesels that comply with national
standards have been used on all vehicles and regular
maintenance of vehicles has been performed. Clean energy
fuels such as LPG has been selected at office canteen to
ensure a good ventilation.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report

REHK

M20204 7 A & 5= H A B R A 5E OT & &k
HAERAEHEEEZ FHRDEEFTERERER
MEBRMEEBNEE  fluERRLEA
HRMNES FEHK LhBERIBARE
HERETE £ M A (L WESONFI A |y
(NOX) o il B BRI ERSEEELRE
REFM REEMRBREEE  RIEGHIT
MEUBERAETREREGEEANE BERALHE
A RBFEN - BRI AHERERERARH
BEHREECHNGXBIEFEELELER
BB -

BPERI T &P 8 KA IE A it K &L H
EEMEKOREBHENRBE -E2RFEE (2
EHERERARTBRIERARDER) K
SETREZENE  UERHASRNRE
HMIBTRERKRT REEIERAKRE
EAEI=ZREHE]D - HAA IR THEH R
WA 8 B B3 ROBRAE B SRR AR IR
WHERERER UREHEREGEECER
BREZSHERRBRSBALCH REly hEA
BEGERM T E - ZAKEEER R AR
FEBAARRRAREKE NERKBERE
BAL B Oh R X BRI AR E SR AR
RRBEHBEPIEHLERERTNER - 1
S BT RABERBHR MAEWHDEA
NAEBRFENSH  WETTHEWHERE -
MOERZEZRRCOMREFTRERME
AR RAFHVBRIRE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SEWAGE

Domestic sewage is generated from staff working on the barge,
fueling stations and property management, which is precipitated
by septic tank. It is partially used by local villagers for vegetable
farming or discharged into the municipal sewage network. In
addition to domestic sewage, industrial sewage (such as
wastewater from stockyard and machinery cleaning) is also
generated in our ports and logistics operations at fuel storage-
tank farm and river terminal. The LPG carrying vessels that
berth at the river terminal produce oil sewage.

Sewage treatment facilities such as sediment tank, oil-water
separation system and cargo ship sewage reception facility
have been set up. A new transit collection device has been
installed on the deck of the river terminal to collect domestic
sewage and oil sewage from berthed vessels since November
2020.

Sewage is treated to remove contaminants before being reused
or duly discharged in compliance with the “Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution of the PRC”. Ground flushing water is
duly discharged into the nearby river after oil-water separation
treatment. Spray water after cleaning and cooling of storage
tanks is recollected through pipe network to water pool for the
purposes of recycling or for fire emergency. At our river terminal,
local sanitary company has been engaged to collect sewage
produced by those LPG carrying vessels that berth there.

BRI HERERERE
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BRI HERERAERE

WASTE MANAGEMENT

The availability of suitable land for landfill is decreasing while
concerns about environmental and health impacts of landfill
sites and waste treatment (both hazardous and non-hazardous
ones) are increasing. We endeavour to reduce the amount of
waste being transported to landfill or processed otherwise by
source reduction and to encourage reusing and recycling as
much as possible.

Hazardous waste such as used engine oil, discarded fluorine
lamps, used printer cartridge and vehicle batteries are required
to be first stored at designated storage area and then collected
by licenced contractors or delivered to designated recycle
stations.

In connection with the update on “Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste of the PRC” with effect
from September 2020, our domestic waste management
system was being adopted in classification, collection, delivery
and treatment. Non-hazardous waste such as employee’s
domestic and office waste is classified into recyclables or non-
recyclables waste. Non-recyclables waste is collected by local
eligible sanitary companies periodically following the revised
laws and regulations. To promote waste recycling by tenants,
rubbish bins for recyclables and non-recyclables are set up in
different areas in our Pioneer Technology Building located in
Hangzhou.
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USE OF RESOURCES

Energy consumption has a direct effect on our environment,
operational costs and exposure to fluctuations in energy supply
and prices. It is because most of the energy consumption come
from fossil fuel. The extraction, transportation and processing of
fossil fuels may cause land degradation, water and atmospheric
pollution and the usage of these fossil fuel will generate GHG
which is the major cause of climate change. On the other hand,
water is becoming a precious resource especially under
increasing pressure from factors such as drought, population
increase and rising demand for industrial uses. Moreover,
withdrawals of water from underground and from rivers by
some of our operation sites may also affect the environment
and quality of life in that area. To reduce its environmental
impact, we have adopted policies on the effective use of
resources in accordance with the relevant requirements of the
“Energy Conservation of the PRC”, the “Water Law of the PRC”
and the “Mineral Resources Law of the PRC”.

Various measures have been implemented to encourage
energy-saving. The results of implementation of energy-saving
plans are linked with the management’s annual performance
appraisal. At our river terminal and fueling stations, regular
maintenance of motor vehicle and truck has been conducted as
well as LED lights have been used to enhance energy efficiency.

In office, efficient use of electrical appliances has been
promoted and communicated to staff such as turning off of
lighting during breaks and shutting down all appliances after
office hours. Some of our offices are installed with temperature
guide for switching on air-conditioners only when temperature
has reached a pre-set level.
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BRI HERERAERE

The Company participated in “Earth Hour 2021”, the world’s
largest collective environmental action again during the
Reporting Period. All the nonessential lights and appliances in
the office of our headquarter in Hong Kong were turned off at 8:30
p.m. on 27 March 2021 (Saturday) and encouraged all our staff
together with their families and friends to join this campaign, in
order to promote the concept of reduction of energy
consumption and environment-caring.

For water usage, measures such as efficient use of water have
been promoted and communicated to staff. Water efficient
fixtures and fittings such as showerheads, taps and hoses have
been used in some operation sites. In our LPG storage-tank
farm, pools have been maintained to collect used water which
is recycled for tank cooling during summer heat and for fire
emergency purpose. By the nature of our businesses, sourcing
water was considered as non-key issue to the Group.

The Company is committed to managing all business operations
with sensitivity to environmental protection. We will review our
environmental protection practices from time to time and will
continue to apply eco-friendly measures and practices in our
operation.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KPIs”)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE  HERERRE

— ENVIRONMENTAL "otes 748

RRERENER(HERENERD -

fﬁfiﬁmﬁms

ENVIRONMENTAL KPIs PORTS & LOGISTICS PROPERTY
RERBENER B0 EYR /S
Emissions
BB
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) Tonnes 2.04 12.40 0.44 0.52
RE 7
Sulphur oxides (SOx) Tonnes 0.01 0.06 0.001 0.001
maty 7
Particulate matter (PM)"e®e2 Tonnes 0.04 0.70 0.04 0.05
R i
Greenhouse gas (GHG)—Scope 1/¢®? Tonnes 394.04 2,483.28 212.78 236.30
BERE — @E I8
Greenhouse gas (GHG)—Scope 28 Tonnes 744.70 2,037.56 2,194.41 2,440.33
BERE — HE2M T8
Tonnes/10,000 Tonne 13.06 6.81 [Not Applicable | Not Applicable
Greenhouse gas (GHG) emission Throughput &R iE A
—intensity (Scopes 1 and 2) W,/ 10,000 7 ot &
BERBHENR -®E Tonnes/Square Meter |Not Applicable | Not Applicable 0.05 0.05
(#EA12) Gross Floor Area TEA TER
W, FHKEEEE
Wastes
REEY
Hazardous waste*“ Tonnes 1.24 4,02 0 0
HERREY i
Non-hazardous waste"*®5 Tonnes 41.38 109.44 42.27 49.98
mEERY 7
Tonnes/10,000 Tonne 0.49 0.17 |Not Applicable |Not Applicable
Throughput TER i@ A
Total waste — intensity M,/ 10,000 &1 &
BEEYEE - BE Tonnes/Square Meter |Not Applicable | Not Applicable 0.001 0.001
Gross Floor Area TER i@ A
Wi,/ FAHKRELEERE
Energy consumption
BERH #E
Gasoline KWH 196,653 320,841 428,822 493,181
b TRE
Diesel KWH 1,208,931 8,519,995 48,154 53,465
L0 TR
LPG KWH 121,856 149,192 321,504 311,975
BIL BB FEBS
Electricity KWH 1,211,760 3,705,710 3,722,300 3,763,300
BN TRE
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BRI HERERAERE

ENVIRONMENTAL KPIs PORTS & LOGISTICS PROPERTY
REBRENER 7 0 B YR ES
Energy consumption
BE R H #E
KWH/10,000 Tonnes 31,425 19,124  |Not Applicable | Not Applicable
Throughput TER T iE A
F ELB,/10,000
Total energy consumption — intensity | &t &
gERERAEE - BE KWH/Meter Square Not Not 92 84
Gross Floor Area Applicable Applicable
TRE/F7HX TEH TEA
BEWEE
Water consumption
RN
Municipal water supplies Cubic Meter 8,324 17,676 118,228 93,580
[RIECYN AN
Water drawn from river Cubic Meter 0 58,743 0 0
ISLFEREWN SR
Ground water Cubic Meter 0 0 84,043 77,704
Hy R K SR
Cubic Meter/10,000 95 115 |Not Applicable |Not Applicable
Tonne Throughput TER A iE A
3 J57K,/10,000
Total water consumption — intensity | &HE
KEHEEE - B E Cubic Meter/Square Not Not 4.11 3.13
Meter Gross Floor Area Applicable Applicable
MK FERK TEA A iE A
BEEE
Notes: B et -
1. Environmental KPls in this data table reflect the data for the reporting 1. B IE 2R N IR IR R 5 AR BB IR 5 Bl R e T 2020
periods from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 and from 1 April 2019 to 31 F4H1H EZ2021F3H31H K K2019F4H1H
March 2020 respectively. 20209331 H#H & HfE a9 2% -

Environmental KPls in this data table exclude data of Jiaxing International
Feeder Port for period after July 2020 upon which the Company
completed the disposal of 90% interest in Jiaxing International Container
Feeder Port Limited.

2. Particulate matter reported here refers to the dust arising from fuel 2.
consumption by vehicles, trucks, vessels and cargo handling equipment.

3. The source of our direct GHG emission (Scope 1) is from use of gasoline, 3.
diesel and LPG, while that of indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) is from
consumption of purchased electricity and heat.

4. Hazardous wastes are mainly the used engine and lubrication oils for 4.
machinery maintenance.

5. Non-hazardous wastes are mainly the employees’ domestic and office 5.
wastes.

6. The Company’s business has almost no environmental impact regarding 6.

packaging material for finished products and therefore no relevant KPI is
disclosed in the table.
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SOCIAL

Credibility and reputation are invaluable assets for the Company
which operates in diverse economic, social and cultural
contexts. Therefore, we have developed common principles,
values and responsibilities that guide our relations with the
market, the communities in which we operate, the people who
work with us and all those who have a legitimate interest in our
activities.

In social context, the Company will maintain the following core
values:

Genuine

We are sincere, trustworthy and reliable.
Operating with integrity, being ethical and respecting others is
at the heart of the Company’s culture.

Involved

We are inclusive, open and actively engaged with our
customers, partners, employees and the communities we serve.
People are our greatest asset.

Exceptional

We are committed to creating exceptional experiences that
delight our employees and customers.
At the Company, good enough is not good enough.

These core values reflect the importance that the Company
attaches to the integrity, respect, responsibility, competence
and safety in carrying out our business.

BRI HERERERE
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BRI HERERAERE

EMPLOYMENT

We believe that focusing on talent management and
emphasizing staff engagement will in turn drive the growth of
our business. Meanwhile, we have established policies to
regulate compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare in
accordance with laws and regulations such as:

° the “Labour Law of the PRC”;

° the “Labour Contract Law of the PRC”;

o the “Social Insurance Law of the PRC”;

° the “Provision of Minimum Wages”;

° the “Law of the PRC on the Protection of Disabled
Persons”; and

° the “Law of the PRC on the Protection of Rights and
Interests of Women”, etc.

In practice, a transparent career path with performance-based
remuneration and appraisal system has been adopted to ensure
fair pay to our employees and to attract and retain talents. Our
Group offers competitive salary, which is assessed to reflect the
market from time to time. Other than salary, regular staff welfare
and benefits such as social insurance, statutory holidays,
maternity and breastfeeding leaves, high temperature subsidies,
meal allowance, communication allowance etc., have also been
provided. The salaries and fringe benefits of employees are
strictly confidential and protected.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-

compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to
employment that could have a significant impact on the Group.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

We recognise the importance of occupational health and safety,
and endeavour to provide a safe working environment to our
staff by encouraging safety practices and enhancing their
awareness through regular training and safety drills.

Occupational health and safety policies have been established
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations such as:

° the “Law of the PRC on Work Safety”;

° the “Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases”;

° the “Fire Prevention Law of the PRC”; and

° the “Technical specification of dust and poison control for
city gas industry” etc.

Various measures have been employed to ensure health and
safety of our employees. Our ports and logistics operations
have set up their safety committee or supervision department to
conduct comprehensive supervision and management of work
safety within their scope of operation with a view to complying
with the national laws and regulations and mandatory
standards. Regular training and drills on safety and fire have
been organised, in particular the training and drills in LPG, CNG
and LNG distribution and logistics business. At fuel storage-
tank farm and fueling stations, safety inspections are carried out
on a regular basis to prevent major disasters and safety
accidents. Moreover, all employees are required to be licenced
for engaging in specialty works (such as workers in our LPG/
CNG fueling stations). Annual health examination and sport
activities have also been arranged to promote good health and
well-being.
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Since the widespread outbreak of the COVID-19 in early 2020,
most of our business units in the PRC have implemented the
prevention measures to tackle the pandemic, including without
limitation establishing an pandemic control team to develop an
emergency plan for pandemic preventive controls and
information distribution channels; emergency procurement of
anti-pandemic supplies (i.e. face masks, alcohol disinfectant,
googles etc.) for distribution to employees; regularly tracking
and reporting the temperature and itinerary of employees and
their close family members; implementing the work from home
policies; arranging work shift; organising remote conference;
disinfecting regularly in the workplace; and arranging vaccination
for employees, etc.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to
occupational health and safety that could have a significant
impact on the Group.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We believe that continuous staff training and development is
essential for enabling our staff to discharge their duties and
responsibilities effectively and efficiently. Our training and
development programmes including without limitation on-job
training, internal seminars conducted by internal and external
professionals etc. Subsidies, as an incentive, are provided to
staff at middle and senior levels who take external training and
professional examinations.

Our Hangzhou training centre is responsible for organising
various regular internal training programmes and publication of
training newsletter for the Group’s supporting functions while
our operating business units are responsible for organizing
training for front-line operation staffs. In addition to internal
training programmes, employees are also encouraged to take
part in seminars, workshops and conferences organised by
both governmental and professional bodies.
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The followings list out our major training or drill activities
orgainsed by our training centre and operation sites during the
Reporting Period:

Nature of training

EIHEE

China taxation updates

B B B RS ) T B R
Occupational safety and health training
BEZ T HEERIEI

Safety training

Z 2

ESG training

BIR g RkEREI

Nature of drill

SRR E

River terminal emergency and fire drills
ORI S SR E = OB P R B

CNG station fire drills

B4 R AR IR A EE

Further discussion on training provided to directors and senior
management, and for certain training programmes, which forms
part of our risk management and internal control systems, is set
out in pages 53 and 54 of the Annual Report.

LABOUR STANDARDS

We have established policies that strictly prohibit the
employment of child and forced labour, such as verification of
identity. Employee’s right on working hours and leave
entittement are strictly complied with relevant laws and
regulations and have been promoted and communicated to all
staff, especially to newly employed ones. The relevant laws and
regulations include but without limitation:

o the “Labour Law of the PRC”;
° the “Labour Contract Law of the PRC”; and
° the “Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors”.
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During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to
labour standards that could have a significant impact on the
Group.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We recognise that proper management of our supply chain
could bring positive impact on our natural and social
environment and therefore we strive to promote and
communicate with our partners along the supply chains about
our environmental and social practices. Policies and procedures
have been established in our procurement and tendering
process for our selection of capable and responsible suppliers
and contractors for management of environmental and social
risks of the supply chain. In accordance with the established
policies and procedures, quality of materials from suppliers are
strictly controlled during the process of goods acceptance. For
example, Minsheng Gas has implemented and maintained the
quality standards of incoming LPG and CNG through the LPG
testing from laboratory of fuel storage-tank farm and obtaining
certificates of CNG quality inspection from the suppliers on a
regular basis, Property Business has required its food suppliers
to provide certificate of quality supervision on each batch of
food ingredients like inspection and quarantine certificate of
meat, pesticide residue certificate of vegetable and fruit, etc.

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant incidents
and irregularities relating to business ethics, environmental
protection, and employment practices of our major suppliers
and contractors.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

We commit to offering products and services with high
standards of safety, quality and reliability as well as protecting
the personal data of our customers so as to maintain their trust
in us.

Policies have been established in accordance with relevant laws
and regulations such as:

° the “Product Quality Law of the PRC”;

° the “PRC Law on the Protection of Consumer Rights and
Interests”; and

° the “Regulation on the Administration of Urban Gas”, etc.

Quality management teams have been set up in our operations
to conduct regular inspection, quality analysis or sample checks
on products and services provided. For example, our LPG
distribution operation in Wuhan has been conducting sample
tests of the LPG at various stages, for example, (i) before and
after purchase; (ii) at its storage-tank farm; and (i) subsequent
storage and delivery to ensure the product quality. Various
communication channels have also been established by the
customer support team to collect information about customers’
satisfaction to the services and products they provided for
operation improvement. As our major businesses do not
advertise or have labelling for their products and services, no
policies for such activities are formulated.

In respect of Property Business, we only collect the basic
personal data directly from our visitors for the purposes of our
accommodation and hospitality as required by the local laws.
The data is maintained in the information system at customer
centre. Only those designated and authorised employees have
been granted the access rights on a need-to-know basis.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to
product responsibility that could have a significant impact on
the Group.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are
important assets in business of the Company. We are
committed to ensuring that the Company’s reputation is not
tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption. Our code of
conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) containing, inter alia, the anti-
corruption policy, and our whistleblowing policy help to maintain
the highest ethical standards of transparency, fairmess and
accountability in accordance with relevant laws and regulations
such as:

° the “Hong Kong Prevention of Bribery Ordinance”;
o the “Law of the PRC on Anti-money Laundering”;
° the “Company Law of the PRC”; and

° the “Criminal Law of the PRC”, etc.

All of the Company’s business dealings must be on arm’s-
length terms and free of any favourable treatment resulting from
the personal interest of the staff. As outlined in our Code of
Conduct, it is our policy that no employee in the Group shall
solicit and accept advantages from suppliers, customers,
competitors or any person in connection with our business;
and, under no circumstance shall any employee in the Group
offer any advantage, without lawful authority or reasonable
excuse, to any person as an inducement or reward in
connection with that person’s work. Certain employees of the
Group, such as senior management, are required to sign an
undertaking to commit to maintain their integrity and self-
discipline on their duties.

All employees are trained and encouraged to assist in tackling
fraud, corruption and other malpractice, and to report any
suspicions of bribery through the enquiry and complaint
procedures of the Group. We have established specific
channels for the employees to make confidential report on
irregularities that come to their attention. We also have
measures in place to ensure that no employee will ever suffer
any disadvantage in the workplace as a result of reporting
irregularities. The effectiveness of the procedures is reviewed
and monitored by the audit committee of the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to anti-
corruption that could have a significant impact on the Group.

COMMITMENT TO COMMUNITY

The Company is strongly committed to corporate social
responsibility, focusing on education and youth development by
sponsoring educational exchange programs for secondary
school students between Hong Kong and Nantong and other
cities in the PRC for over thirteen years.

During the Reporting Period, we donated HK$1 million and
HK$4 million to Friends of Hope Education Fund to support
their educational works in the PRC and Hong Kong and
CQOVID-19 vaccine development works by Hong Kong University
respectively. We also encouraged our staffs to participate in
social activities such as “Dress Casual Day”, “Love Teeth Day”
and “Earth Hour” organised by Hong Kong local charity
organisations.

For the thirteenth consecutive years, we were awarded with the
title of “Caring Company” by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service in recognition to our corporate citizenship and our
ongoing effort in caring the community. Our PRC operations are
committed to making contribution to the society and to
enhancing the relationships with the nearby communities. For
example, our Minsheng Gas had provided limited LPG/CNG
filling services to support the basic needs for local transportation
at Wuhan during the outbreak of COVID-19. Minsheng Gas was
honoured by Wuhan Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment to be an excellent foreign-invested enterprise for
fulfilling social responsibilities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERHEE

The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of Blue River
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as at 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 56 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review is set out on pages 9 to 35 of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated
income statement on pages 130 and 131 of this annual report
and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial

statements.

No interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 was
declared during the year (2020: Nil).

The directors have resolved not to recommend for shareholders’
approval the payment of any final dividend for the year ended

31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

Details of the distribution are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 23% of the
Group’s revenue and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to approximately 16%. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 35%
of the Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 17%.

As far as the directors are aware, none of the directors and their
close associates within the meaning of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), or those shareholders who to the
knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital, has an interest in any of the five
largest customers and/or five largest suppliers of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group currently maintains a variety of credit facilities to
meet its working capital requirements. As at 31 March 2021,
the Group’s total borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$401 million with approximately HK$229 million repayable on
demand or within one year, approximately HK$172 million
repayable after one year. Cash, bank balances and deposits as
at 31 March 2021 amounted to approximately HK$189 million.
The Group’s current ratio (calculated as total current assets
divided by total current liabilities) was 2.65 and the gearing ratio
(calculated as total borrowings divided by equity attributable to
owners of the Company) was 0.1 as at 31 March 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has
adopted a dividend policy with no pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. In considering payment of dividends, there
shall be a balance between maintaining sufficient capital
reserves for future growth of the business of the Group and
allowing shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment
of dividends:

(@ the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group;

(b) retained profits and distributable reserves of the Group;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on
equity and the applicable financial covenants that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

()  general economic conditions, cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; and

(@@ any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
also subject to compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations including the laws of Bermuda and the Company’s

bye-laws.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

1. Share Option Scheme

A share option scheme of the Company (the “2012 Share
Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted by the
shareholders of the Company at its annual general
meeting held on 10 September 2012. A summary of the
2012 Share Option Scheme is set out below:

(1)

2

3

Purpose

To provide incentive or reward to the participants (as
defined in paragraph (2) below) for their contribution
to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of,
the Group.

Participants

Any employee (whether full time or part time),
executives or officers, directors (including executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive
directors) of any member of the Group or any entity
in which the Group holds an equity interest (“Invested
Entity”) and any celebrity, consultant, adviser or
agent of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity, who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have
contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Total number of shares available for issue

(@ Mandate Limit — Subject to paragraph (b)
below, the total number of shares in the
Company, which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Company’s
issued shares as of 1 September 2017, being
110,391,611 shares (as adjusted after the
capital reorganisation of the Company with
effect from 30 October 2020).
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(4

(%)

(o) Overriding Limit — The Company may by
ordinary resolutions of its shareholders refresh
the Mandate Limit as referred to in the above
paragraph (a) provided that the Company shall
issue a circular to its shareholders before such
approval is sought. The overriding limit on the
number of shares in the Company, which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2012 Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must
not exceed 30% of the Company’s issued
shares from time to time.

(c) As of the date of this annual report, the total
number of shares in the Company available for
issue under the 2012 Share Option Scheme
was 110,391,611 shares, which represented
approximately 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company (that is, 1,103,916,114 shares)
on that date.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of options (whether
exercised or outstanding) in any 12-month period
granted to each participant must not exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue. However,
subject to separate approval by the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with the relevant
participant and his close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) (or his associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) if the participant is a connected person
(as defined in the Listing Rules)) abstaining from
voting and provided that the Company shall issue a
circular to its shareholders before such approval is
sought, the Company may grant a participant
options which would exceed the aforesaid limit.

Option period

The period during which an option may be exercised
as determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
at the time of grant, save that such period must not
exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant option.
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Minimum period for which an option must be
held before it is vested

The minimum period, if any, for which an option
must be held before it is vested, shall be determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion. The 2012
Share Option Scheme itself does not specify any
minimum holding period.

Payment on acceptance of the option and
period for acceptance

HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee to the Company
on acceptance of the option offer. An offer must be
accepted on or before a date as specified in writing,
being a date not later than 30 days after () the date
on which the offer was issued; or (iij the date on
which the conditions for the offer are satisfied.

Basis of determining the subscription price
The subscription price shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion at the time of grant
of the relevant option but shall not be less than the
higher of: (i) such subscription price as is permissible
under the Listing Rules from time to time; and (i) the
nominal value of the share of the Company.

Remaining life

The life span of the 2012 Share Option Scheme is
10 years commencing from 10 September 2012 and
will expire on 9 September 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no share options
were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2012 Share Option
Scheme. Also, there were no outstanding share options
granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme as at 31
March 2021.
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Share Award Scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at its special general
meeting (the “May SGM”) held on 3 May 2021 (the
“Adoption Date”), the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”). The specific
objectives of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognise
the contributions by certain eligible participants and to
provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group,
particularly in respect of the principal business of the
Group from time to time; and (i) to enhance the Group’s
competitiveness in attracting and/or retaining suitable
personnel or professionals who are capable of making
contributions to the continual operation, growth and
development of the Group, particularly in respect of the
principal business of the Group from time to time.

Eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme are
any employee (whether full time or part time), executive or
officers, directors (including any executive director, non-
executive director and independent non-executive
director) and senior management, of any member of the
Group, who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or may contribute to the continual operation,
growth and development of the Group, particularly in
respect of the principal business of the Group from time
to time.

The Share Award Scheme would be valid and effective for
ten years commencing on the Adoption Date and the
maximum number of awarded shares that may be issued
pursuant to the Share Award Scheme would be 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company at the Adoption
Date (the “Share Award Scheme Mandate Limit”), being
110,391,611 shares. The Board may from time to time at
its absolute discretion to grant the awarded share(s) to the
eligible participant(s) without affecting the operation of the
Share Award Scheme in general and in such number and
subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may in
its absolute discretion determine.
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The Board is also subject to the following mechanisms to
operate the Share Award Scheme:

M

subject always to the Share Award Scheme Mandate
Limit, a limit equal to 3% of the Company’s issued
share capital as at the date on which the specific
mandate is approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the general meeting as the maximum
number of awarded shares which can be issued (the
“Annual Limit”") from the date of such general
meeting of the Company to the earliest of (a) the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company; (b) the expiration of the period within
which the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by its bye-laws or any
applicable law to be held; and (c) the revocation or
variation of the approval by members of the
Company in general meeting; and

the Company may, on an annual basis, seek
approval from shareholders of the Company at a
general meeting to refresh the Annual Limit such that
the maximum number of awarded shares (excluding
awards that have been cancelled or lapsed) will not
exceed 3% of the Company’s issued share capital
as at the date of the general meeting approving such
refreshment.

Currently, the Board is authorised by the shareholders of
the Company at the May SGM for an annual limit of
33,117,483 shares, being equal to 3% of the Company’s
issued share capital as at the date of the May SGM.

No share is granted or allotted under the Share Award
Scheme since the Adoption Date.
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3. Share Financing Plan

The share financing plan, adopted by the Company on 14
February 2006, allowed eligible persons (including
employees, directors, consultants, advisers and agents of
the Group) to borrow funds from the Company or from a
company within the Group to acquire new or old shares of
the Company on a non-recourse basis with the subject
shares pledged to the Company as security, subject
always to connected transaction and other relevant
provisions under the Listing Rules, details of which were
set out in the circular of the Company dated 27 January
20086.

During the year, no financing to eligible persons was
provided by the Group under this plan.

The share financing plan was terminated by the Company
at its special general meeting held on 26 March 2021 (the
“March SGM”).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Incentive
Schemes”, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share incentive schemes disclosed above, at no
time during the year or at the end of the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company’s reserve available for distribution to shareholders
as at 31 March 2021 amounted to approximately
HK$2,448,711,000 (2020: HK$1,888,337,000).

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Non-executive director

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (“Mr Kwong”) (chairman)
(appointed as non-executive director with effect from 9 February
2021 and as chairman with effect from 1 April 2021)

Executive directors

Au Wai June (“Mr Au”)

(appointed as executive director with effect from 18 January
2021)

Marc Andreas Tschirner (“Mr Tschirner”) (managing director)
(appointed as executive director and managing director with
effect from 18 January 2021)

Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong (“Mr Sam”)

(appointed as executive director and vice chairman, China
with effect from 1 April 2021)

Lau Tom Ko Yuen (“Mr Lau”)

(stepped down as the role of managing director with effect from
18 January 2021, redesignated from chairman to vice chairman,
China with effect from 1 April 2021 and resigned as executive
director and vice chairman, China with effect from 17 May
2021)

Sue Ka Lok (“Mr Sue”)

(resigned as executive director with effect from 3 February
2021)

Wu Yan Yee (“Ms Wu”)

(resigned as executive director with effect from 3 February
2021)
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Independent non-executive directors

Leung Chung Ki (“Mr Leung”)

Ma Ka Ki (“Mr Ma”)

(appointed as independent non-executive director with effect
from 3 February 2021)

William Nicholas Giles (“Mr Giles”)

(appointed as independent non-executive director with effect
from 3 February 2021)

Chan Shu Kin (“Mr Chan”)

(resigned as independent non-executive director with effect
from 3 February 2021)

Wong Lai Kin, Elsa (“Ms Wong”)

(resigned as independent non-executive director with effect
from 3 February 2021)

In accordance with bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company’s
bye-laws, Mr Leung, Mr Ma and Mr Giles will retire from office
by rotation and, being eligible, will stand for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Directors (including non-executive directors) are subject to
retirement by rotation requirements under the Company’s bye-
laws, and they are appointed for a specific term of
approximately three years, particulars of which are set out on
page 52 of the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of each
of the directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company, as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”) or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules,
are set out below:
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Number of shares/underlying shares held

BER®G HEROGHE
(Note 13 1)
Approximate
Name of director/ Personal Family Corporate Other % of issued
chief executive Capacity interests interests  interests interests Total share capital
He#T
Ex B8 Rz
THRABHS g7 BAERZ RKEzx LFEz% HaER mE BMABESH
(Note H132)
Mr Kwong Beneficial owner 166,753,200 — — — 166,753,200 15.10%
BB 5% 4 ERBBA (Note #f#%3)

Notes: Hiat -

1. All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the 1. FMARRANRRD RBBERGD ZESYE BT

Company were long positions. None of the directors and the chief
executive of the Company held any short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 March 2021.

2. As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s total number of issued shares was
1,103,916,114.

3. Such interests held by Mr Kwong comprised 166,753,200 shares.

B R202143A318  ARBIEENES
TTERABHEER AR R 5 & A8 B AR (5
BHETMKE -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the
directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2021, none of the directors of the Company is
interested in any business (apart from the Group’s businesses)
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly and
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER

PERSONS

As at 31 March 2021, so far as is known to the directors and
the chief executive of the Company, the interests and short
positions of the substantial shareholders/other persons in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO

are as follows:

e

1) 5 336 & &
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R2021F3ASIH  ARFEEREBITH
ABFA EZREHiALTRARRRM
MEBBROFHEECHERBEGESF LB ER
FHEEzELMRZERZR AR

Number Approximate
of shares/ % of
underlying the issued

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held share capital
RERERE 514 BFER®G HEBRITRE
HEARMHEE MBI
(Note ftz#1) (Note f1z#2)
Oshidori International Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 315,000,000 28.53%
(incorporated in Bermuda) R EE R
BEEERER AT (Note f77#3)
(RERZFMAE L)
Enerchina Investments Limited Interest of controlled corporation 315,000,000 28.53%
(incorporated in the Biritish Virgin Islands) R AR R
Enerchina Investments Limited (Note K1z+3)
(R & &R B S M z)
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation 315,000,000 28.53%
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands) RIEEE R
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited (Note K1z+3)
(RESESTMMEL)
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation 315,000,000 28.53%
(incorporated in the Biritish Virgin Islands) R AR R
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited (Note K1z+3)
(R &8 B S M z)
Uptown WW Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 315,000,000 28.53%
(incorporated in the Biritish Virgin Islands) R AR R
Uptown WW Holdings Limited (Note ff13)
(R & &R B S M z)
Kenson Investment Limited Beneficial owner 315,000,000 28.53%
(incorporated in Bermuda) EmBEAA
Kenson Investment Limited (Note K1z+3)
(RBERZFMAE )
Mr Kwong Beneficial owner 166,753,200 15.10%
B8 %% A= EmBEA A
(Note fffz+4)
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Notes:

1. All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company were long positions.

2. As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s total number of issued shares was
1,103,916,114.

3. Kenson Investment Limited (“Kenson”) owned 315,000,000 shares in the
Company. Kenson is wholly owned by Uptown WW Holdings Limited (“UWW
Holdings”) which is wholly owned by Uptown WW Capital Group Limited
(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, “UWW Capital BVI”) which is
wholly owned by Uptown WW Capital Group Limited (incorporated in the
Cayman Islands, “UWW Capital Cayman”) which is wholly owned by
Enerchina Investments Limited (“Enerchina”) which is wholly owned by
Oshidori International Holdings Limited (“Oshidori”). Accordingly, UWW
Holdings, UWW Capital BVI, UWW Capital Cayman, Enerchina and
Oshidori were deemed to be interested in the said 315,000,000 shares
held by Kenson.

4, Such interests held by Mr Kwong comprised 166,753,200 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company
had not been notified of any interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under section 336
of the SFO.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors are independent.
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

Including the directors of the Company, as at 31 March 2021,
the Group employed a total of 557 (2020: 566 which included
104 employees of Jiaxing Port) full time employees.
Remuneration packages consisted of salary as well as
performance-based bonus. In appreciation of continuing
support of the Group’s employees, a bonus payment to
employees was made during the year.

Under the Group’s existing emolument policy, pay rate of
employees are maintained at competitive level with reference to
the merits, qualification and competence of the employees while
promotion and increments are based on performance of the
respective employees.

The emolument of the directors of the Company is decided by
the remuneration committee of the Company, having regard to
various factors including the prevailing market conditions, salary
paid by comparable companies, the duties and responsibilities
of a director, employment conditions elsewhere and the time
committed by the director concerned.

Further, the Company has implemented share-related incentive
schemes to provide alternative means to motivate employees
and promote their loyalty in line with the Group’s strategy. Such
schemes benefited the Group’s staff in both Hong Kong and
the Mainland.

Details of remuneration policy of the Company are set out on

page 58 of the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefit schemes is set
out in Note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders although there are no restrictions against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices
are set out on pages 43 to 75 of the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company’s performance in various environmental and
social aspects during the year is set out on pages 76 to 99 of
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of this annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company, at least 25% (that is, the prescribed public float
applicable to the Company under the Listing Rules) of the
issued shares in the Company were held by the public as at the
date of this report.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

In July 2020, the Group completed the disposals of its entire
investments of (i) 90% equity interest in Jiaxing International
Container Feeder Port Limited and (i) 100% equity interest in
Paul Y. Corporation Limited, which held 40% equity interest in
Jiangyin Sunan International Container Terminal Co., Ltd, at an
aggregate consideration of approximately RMB669 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$735 million). Upon and after
the disposals, Jiaxing International Container Feeder Port
Limited together with its subsidiaries and Paul Y. Corporation
Limited ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group, while Jiangyin
Sunan International Container Terminal Co., Ltd ceased to be
an associate of the Group.

In February 2021, the Group subscribed 27.29% of the
enlarged share capital of Galaxy Vantage Limited, at a
consideration of HK$100 million.

In March 2021, the Group subscribed one-third of the enlarged
share capital of Maxlord Enterprises Limited, a licensed money
lender carrying out money lending business in Hong Kong, at a
consideration of HK$100 million.

Apart from the above, the Group did not have other material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the year.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Changes in directors’ information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out
below:

(1) Mr Sue has resigned as a non-executive director and the
chairman of Courage Investment Group Limited (1145.HK)
with effect from 12 January 2021;

(2)  Mr Au has been appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 18 January 2021;
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Mr Tschirner has been appointed as an executive director
and the managing director of the Company with effect
from 18 January 2021;

Mr Lau has stepped down from the role of managing
director of the Company with effect from 18 January
2021;

Mr Au has been appointed as a member of the nomination
committee, the corporate governance and compliance
committee and the share repurchase committee of the
Company with effect from 3 February 2021;

Mr Tschirner has been appointed as a member of the
remuneration committee, the corporate governance and
compliance committee and the share repurchase
committee of the Company with effect from 3 February
2021;

Mr Ma has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director and the chairman of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination
committee, the corporate governance and compliance
committee and the share repurchase committee of the
Company with effect from 3 February 2021;

Mr Giles has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director and a member of the audit committee,
the remuneration committee, the nomination committee,
the corporate governance and compliance committee and
the share repurchase committee of the Company with
effect from 3 February 2021;

Mr Sue has resigned as an executive director and a
member of the nomination committee of the Company
with effect from 3 February 2021;

Ms Wu has resigned as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 3 February 2021;

Mr Chan has resigned as an independent non-executive
director and the chairman of the audit committee, the
remuneration committee, the nomination committee, the
corporate governance and compliance committee and the
share repurchase committee of the Company with effect
from 3 February 2021;
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(12)

(15)

(17)

(18)

Ms Wong has resigned as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the corporate governance and
compliance committee of the Company with effect from 3
February 2021;

Mr Kwong has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 9 February 2021;

Mr Kwong has resigned as a non-executive director of
Planetree International Development Limited (613.HK) with
effect from 17 February 2021;

Each of Mr Kwong, Mr Au, Mr Tschirner, Mr Ma and Mr
Giles retired from office and was re-elected as a director
of the Company at the March SGM;

Mr Kwong has ceased to act as the Hospital Governing
Committee member of Tai Po Hospital with effect from 31
March 2021;

Mr Kwong has been appointed as the non-executive
chairman of the Company with effect from 1 April 2021;

Mr Sam has been appointed as an executive director, the
vice chairman and a member of the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the share
repurchase committee of the Company with effect from 1
April 2021;

Mr Lau has been redesignated from the chairman to the
vice chairman, China of the Company and has resigned as
a member of the remuneration committee, the nomination
committee and the share repurchase committee of the
Company with effect from 1 April 2021;

the remuneration of Mr Au payable by the Company has
been increased from HK$35,000 to HK$75,000 per
calendar month with effect from 1 April 2021 pursuant to
a letter of appointment;

the remuneration of Mr Tschirner payable by the Company
has been increased from HK$70,000 to HK$125,000 per
calendar month with effect from 1 April 2021 pursuant to
a letter of appointment;

(12)

(15)

(16)
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(22)

(23)

(24)

the director’'s fee of Mr Leung has been adjusted to
HK$20,000 per calendar month and he will not be entitled
to receive any additional director’'s fee for joining any
board committees of the Company with effect from 1 April
2021;

Mr Lau would not be entitled to receive any additional
director’s fee for joining any board committees of the
Company with effect from 1 April 2021;

the remuneration of Mr Kwong payable by the Company
has been increased from HK$125,000 to HK$250,000 per
calendar month with effect from 1 May 2021 pursuant to a
letter of appointment;

Mr Sam retired from office and was re-elected as a
director of the Company at the May SGM; and

Mr Lau has resigned as an executive director of the
Company and has been redesignated from the vice
chairman, China to the chief executive officer, China of the
Company with effect from 17 May 2021.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULES 13.20
AND 13.22 OF THE LISTING RULES

(1)

)

Advances to entities

As at 31 March 2021, advances to entities did not
individually exceed 8% under the assets ratio as defined
under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

Financial assistance and guarantees given to
affiliated companies

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of the
financial assistance provided by the Group to its affiliated
companies (as defined under Chapter 13 of the Listing
Rules) did not exceed 8% under the assets ratio as
defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules. As at 31
March 2021, there was no guarantee given by the Group
for facilities granted to its affiliated companies.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report

@2)

(24)

B2021F481H#E RAEEZEFBEE
AR A EEE 20,0008 T 0 #1458 ERR
MAXRREMNEERE B g WEEME
INEEMD

H2021F4 81 8#E  JLEBEERMA
ARREMNEERZESWITMEINE
==l o

RIEEZTEK B2021F5 A1 HEANARE
B 2 H W A &= EE A 125,000/ 7T
0 & 250,000 TT,

LAEENSARRERN A® ERE - A E
BEER/ARAESE K

2 £ G201 E5 A7 BB TR A 7%,
TEETHARRTREREFAT A+
Bl @17 A -

BECLE TR B 5 13.20 & 13.22 %
fEH &

(1

(2

MEERRHER

R2021F3A31H MEBEREREREZERE
KA A TR A FE14.07(0) & AT R
FEELLERZ8% -

RTHBLARAZUBERER

M2021F3H31H AKEBEGL THEHBE R
AIUE(EMMBNBIBEZAT) 2K E
B & I A mC £ R A E14.07(1) 1§
FrREEELXZ28% 1202143 H 31
B ASEMEREBERAAER 2H#HE
RUEER-



PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s bye-laws provides that the directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which may incur or sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of any wilful negligence, wilful default, fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any directors. Directors’ liability
insurance is in place to protect the directors against potential
costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against the
directors.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
of approximately HK$5,000,000 (2020: HK$724,000).

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties held for development and/or
sale and for investment purposes are set out on page 304 of
the annual report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 April 2021, the Group subscribed convertible bonds
issued by Imagi Brokerage Limited in the principal amount of
HK$100,000,000 which bears interest at the rate of 5.5% per
annum. Further details of the subscription were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 13 April 2021.

On 21 April 2021, the Group subscribed convertible bonds
issued by Co-Lead Holdings Limited in the principal amount of
HK$100,000,000 which bears interest at the rate of 6% per
annum. Further details of the subscription were disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 21 April 2021 and 4 June
2021.
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On 1 June 2021, the Group has received an irrevocable and
unconditional assignment of the voting rights of a block of
approximately 10% shareholding (the “Voting Rights”) in Paul Y.
Engineering Group Limited (“Paul Y. Engineering”) from an
independent third party at nil consideration. As the date of this
report, the Group holds approximately 48.23% of the entire
issued shares of Paul Y. Engineering. Upon accepting the
assignment of the Voting Rights, the Group is entitled to
exercise a total of approximately 58.23% voting rights at any
general meetings of Paul Y. Engineering’s shareholders and
thus obtained control of Paul Y. Engineering. Further details of
the Voting Rights assignment were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 1 June 2021.

Apart from the above, there were no major subsequent events
occurred since the end of the reporting period and up to the
date of this report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31
March 2019 and 2020 were audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, while those for the year ended 31 March 2021 were
audited by Crowe (HK) CPA Limited who shall in the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

A resolution to re-appoint Crowe (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of
the Company and to authorise the directors of the Company to
fix its remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Marc Andreas Tschirner
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF BLUE RIVER HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS PYlI CORPORATION LIMITED)
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Blue
River Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 130 to
302, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties
Refer to Notes 3(e), 4 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to its significance and the significant degrees
of management estimations involved in the valuation.

As described in Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 March 2021, the investment properties
amounted to approximately HK$784,733,000 with a decrease
in fair value of HK$408,285,000 recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 March 2021.

In order to support their estimation, management took reference
to independent qualified professional valuations in respect of
the investment properties. Management is required to make
estimates in certain inputs in valuations. For determining fair
values of investment properties, it involves significant judgment
and estimations including valuation methodology and certain
costs to be expended for completion of land development.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
We performed the procedures in relation to valuation of
investment properties including:

° Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the independent qualified professional valuer;

° Discussed with the management, valuer and our internal
valuation expert for the latest updates in relevant property
market, status of investment properties and methodologies
and assumptions adopted in the valuations;
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° Assessed the appropriateness and reasonableness of the
valuation methodologies and the key assumptions and
inputs used in the valuations, by comparing them to, on a
sample basis, the comparable market transactions and
based on our knowledge with the involvement of our
internal valuation expert; and

o Checked the reasonableness of further costs to
completion for the land under development by comparing
the anticipated completion costs to the actual
development costs of the formed land.

Assessment of net realisable value of stock of properties
Refer to Notes 3(g), 4 and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We identified the assessment of net realisable value of stock of
properties as a key audit matter due to its significance and the
significant degrees of management estimates involved in the
assessment.

As described in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 March 2021, properties under development for sale and
completed properties held for sale amounted to approximately
HK$560,159,000 and HK$349,669,000 respectively with a write
down of stock of properties of approximately HK$640,781,000
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 March 2021.

As described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
in order to estimate the net realisable value of stock of properties,
management took reference to the independent qualified
professional valuations. The assessment is dependent on certain
key assumptions that require subjective assumptions and
significant management estimates, including adjustment factors
on comparable market transactions used in valuation of properties
under development for sale and completed properties held for sale
and, further costs to be expended for the development of properties
under development for sale, sales and development cycle, selling
costs and discount rate used in net present value calculation of stock
of properties.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the procedures in relation to management’s
assessment of the net realisable value of stock of properties
including:

o Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the independent qualified professional valuer;

° Discussed with management, valuer and our internal
valuation expert for the latest updates in relevant property
market and methodologies and assumptions used in
arriving at the net realisable value of stock of properties;

° Assessed the appropriateness and reasonableness of the
valuation methodologies and the key assumptions and
inputs used in the valuations, by comparing them to, on a
sample basis, the comparable market transactions and
based on our knowledge with the involvement of our
internal valuation expert; and

° Checked the reasonableness of further costs to
completion for the properties under development for sale
by comparing the anticipated completion costs to the
actual development costs of completed properties; and
comparing future selling costs to historical data.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYGHBERES

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report
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° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2021

Chan Wai Dune, Charles
Practising Certificate Number PO0712
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

mellER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A31ALFE
2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt iF FE T FET
Revenue WA
Sales and services income SHE &R WA 6 229,141 303,820
Interest income PSRN 6 44,796 54,471
Others Hty 6 3,350 5,638
277,287 363,929
Cost of sales 55 AR (155,700) (221,426)
Gross profit EF 121,587 142,503
Other income Hfb g A 8 6,678 5,921
Administrative expenses TREA (114,492) (159,828)
Distribution and selling expenses DHEHKRHEER (36,539) (45,372)
Other gains and losses Eo b Wy o & B 1B 9 38,756 (25,592)
Fair value changes of financial assets BRATEEFAERE
measured at fair value through ([BAFEEZABEE]D
profit or loss (“FVPL”) ZEMEEZAFEBEED 10 959,445 (223,766)
Other expenses Hi & A 11 (18,382) (28,745)
Impairment loss on financial assets, net TREEREERFE 12 (252,472) (166,135)
Write down of stock of properties MEFEZRMENR 27 (640,781) (18,233)
Finance costs B & AN 13 (17,609) (24,005)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB ARz W 45 140,487 88,573
Loss on winding up of subsidiaries MEAREEZEE 44 (8,695) —
Fair value changes of investment properties IREME 2 A FEBEEH 21 (408,285) 46,663
Share of results of associates BN L RRIEE 65,377 (94,166)
Share of results of joint ventures BiEeaehEER (7,776) (5,341)
Loss before taxation BT Al & 18 15 (172,701) (5607,523)
Taxation 18 16 222,161 (57,432)
Profit (loss) for the year F 2 A (E18) 49,460 (564,955)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: ITATEEFERT (EE):
Owners of the Company RRAGHEA A 151,290 (572,268)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R HE (101,830) 7,313
49,460 (564,955)
HK cents HK cents
Al &AL
(restated)
(FeE5)
Earnings (loss) per share BRERN (EE)
Basic and diluted EXREE 18 13.7 (51.8)
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

The Board considers that the prior year’s presentation of “Gross
proceeds from securities trading of the Group” and “Share of
revenue of associates and joint ventures” in the consolidated
income statement caused confusion on the Group’s
consolidated revenue. Therefore, such information is not
presented in the consolidated financial statements for the year.

In addition, write-down of stock of properties is presented in a
separate line item in the consolidated income statement in view
of its materiality in the current year. Accordingly, the write-down
of stock of properties of approximately HK$18,233,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2020 is reclassified from the cost of sales
to conform with the current year’s presentation.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.

mEwlER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
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mEETERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A31ALFE
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$000
THET FAT
Profit (loss) for the year FE=F(EE) 49,460 (564,955)
Other comprehensive income (expense) Huzmkz(Fx)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 1T & E# 7 E A= HH
Change in fair value of financial assets BAVEEFZAEMER R RE
measured at fair value through other (ERAFEEFAEMEE
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), WHHhzemEEZ AFEE
net of tax FE) (R TE %) (81,061) (61,551)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to IR AEBEFH D IEAEw 7 HH
profit or loss
Exchange differences arising from translation BMEFINERMEEZ
of foreign operations fEHER 133,041 (153,229)
Share of exchange differences of associates BEBmE AR RAEELEY
and joint ventures VEH =% 11,970 (27,849)
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of HEWNB AR ZEF N ERHE
subsidiaries 36,854 8,584
Other comprehensive income (expense) for FEHEM2EWE(FAX)
the year 100,804 (234,045)
Total comprehensive income (expense) for FE>EKF(FAX)®E%
the year 150,264 (799,000)
Total comprehensive income (expense) for UTATEREFEZERK S
the year attributable to: (P %) #B5E
Owners of the Company KRARER A 221,035 (768,235)
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR 2R (70,771) (80,765)
150,264 (799,000

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial BEEIMTRZEMBRER 2EKE S -

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mETBIRRE

As at 31 March 2021

H202143A31H

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt et FET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y NS 19 318,147 157,731
Right-of-use assets FREEE 20 66,623 64,904
Investment properties EME 21 784,733 1,109,706
Project under development BERFAIEAE 22 177,919 163,950
Intangible assets mEEE 23 2,811 2,832
Interests in associates iR RN B - e 24 564,898 294,698
Interests in joint ventures EEDEERS 25 108,837 108,261
Financial assets measured at FVOCI EAFEEGAEMEZRE
Wz emEE
— Investments in equity instruments —REFITEKE 26 239,905 313,966
Loan receivables FE W E K 28 15,200 —
2,279,073 2,216,048
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Stock of properties MEGFE 27 909,828 1,522,775
Inventories of finished goods BREE 1,380 2,835
Loan receivables JE W B K 28 56,520 150,119
Amounts due from associates JE IR B & N R I 29 - 68,552
Amount due from a joint venture Bl —HEAEERE 30 1,196 3,335
Amounts due from former subsidiaries in FEUGER P RIB AT RIE
liquidation 44 1,130,151 —
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b e YR 5k 31 451,312 154,160
Financial assets measured at FVPL BRATFEEFABEREZ
TREE
— Investments in debt instruments held —BEEEEKIARKSE
for trading 32 223,896 248,335
— Investments in equity instruments held —BIrEEER T AKE
for trading 33 1,337,806 191,668
Pledged bank deposits B IFIRITIE K 34 7,012 11,528
Short-term bank deposits MHERIT 34 10,901 48,959
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFE AR 34 171,370 295,617
4,301,372 2,697,883
Assets classified as held for sale DEABELHEZEE 35 - 753,412
4,301,372 3,451,295
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POS.I-:;_“ N

mEMBMRRR
As at 31 March 2021
H202143A31H

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ot aF FE T FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables B5REMEBEMER 36 149,962 124,180
Contract liabilities AHaE 37 637 47,472
Lease liabilities HEAE 38 6,772 7,778
Amounts due to former subsidiaries in FER S &P RN E A F KA
liquidation 44 1,130,151 —
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAT IEFE I ME ZE FR A 39 103,565 96,132
Taxation payable FE B IR 3,505 2,305
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMER 40 229,349 190,781
1,623,941 468,648
Liabilities associated with assets classified ENMEABELE ZEE
as held for sale EEzB8E 35 - 195,709
1,623,941 664,357
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 2,677,431 2,786,938
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRDEE
LIABILITIES 4,956,504 5,002,986
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Bank and other borrowings #RIT R H M {8 5K 40 171,361 201,091
Lease liabilities HEBRE 38 12,476 12,201
Deferred tax liabilities FREFIEEE 41 539,861 736,905
723,698 950,197
NET ASSETS EEFRE 4,232,806 4,052,789
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBMRRE

As at 31 March 2021

H202143H31H

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ot aF FHB T TETT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXK#E
Share capital N 42 110,392 551,958
Reserves & 3,788,502 3,125,901
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR & # B A 7 FE{5 3,898,894 3,677,859
Non-controlling interests FIEE AR M = 56(b) 333,912 374,930
TOTAL EQUITY HRER 4,232,806 4,052,789

The consolidated financial statements on pages 130 to 302 ;N E130E302H 216 M EWME B R2021F
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 6A20REZE=Fix g KTERZE  Wh 5

Directors on 29 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: EERREERFE:
Au Wai June Marc Andreas Tschirner
g% Marc Andreas Tschirner
Executive Director Managing Director
HITESE B

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial HE WA RZEVBHERE AN -
statements.
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REREEBER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE2021F3A31HIEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

AAREEANZ B ER

Investment Non-
Share Share Capital  revaluation Other Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve  reserves reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total equity
(note i) (note i) (note i) (note v)
BE FezR
BRA ROEE BEREE EHEE AoEE EAHE RBER Nt Ba BERARE
(Bati)  (Wati)  (Wav)  (Fav)
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000
THEr TExT T THr FTExT FTAx  FTExT  FTExX  FExT  TEx
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 A1 8 551,958 544,511 (95,368)  (317,510) 60,345 57,176 3,644,982 4,446,094 863,482 5,309,576
Exchange differences arising BEBNERT
from translation of foreign EEVERZR
operations - - - - - (115,151) —  (115151)  (38078) (153,229)
Share of exchange differences # 15 ¥ & RN & & A
of associates and joint EOEZERES
ventures — — — - — (27,849 — (27,849 — (27,849
Reclassification adjustment ~ HEMHE QT 2
on disposal of subsidiaries ~ EH A EHE
(Note 45) (Ftitas) - - - - - 8,584 - 8,584 - 8,584
Change in fair value of BRAFEERA
financial assets measured ~ Hi 2 EKF 2
at FVOCI, net of tax SREELRT
BEZHMKR
Bek) - - - (61,551) - - - (61,551) — (61,551
(Loss) profit for the year EE(BE) & - - - - - —  (572,268) (572,268) 7313 (564,955)
Total comprehensive expense 4 & % B 7 #4258
for the year - - - (61,551) —  (134,416) (672,268) (768,235)  (30,765)  (799,000)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR
(Note 45) (Hfi#45) - - - - (11,546) - 11,546 —  (484,995)  (484,995)
Acquisition of assets through 1 38 Uk B ff /&8 2 7
acquisition of subsidiaries ETCEENE
(Note 46) (Hii#46) - - - - - - - - 1,366 1,366
Contribution from FERERLE
non-controlling interests — — — — — — — — 25,842 25,842
At 31 March 2020 #K2020F 3 A31H 561,958 544,511 (95,368)  (379,061) 48,799 (77,240) 3,084,260 3,677,859 374,930 4,062,789
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEESBR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
ARARBAZELRS
Investment Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Capital ~ revaluation Other Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium surplus  reserve reserve  reserves  reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests equity
(notei)  (noteii) (note iii) (noteiv)  (note v)
RE& FER
BRA RHHEE EBEHBRH® BEARGHE EfRE HtRE ELRE REEF Nt BE BREEH
(Hiati) (Kt (Wgii)  (Biiv)  (B&Ev)
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THET T#Ex TExr TFiExn THEx TExr TEx FiEzx TExr TEx TFiEzx
At 1 April 2020 R202054A1R 551,958 544,511 - (95,368) (379,061) 48,799 (77,240) 3,084,260 3,677,859 374,930 4,052,789
Exchange differences arising ~~ RIAE 5 £ K
from translation of foreign E E7ERESR
operations - - - - - - 101,982 - 101,982 31,059 133,041
Share of exchange differences of H{EBE DRI R AL
associates and joint ventures LEZER % %E = = = = - - 11,970 - 11,970 - 11,970
Reclassification adjustmenton  HEHE LA 2 £
disposal of subsidiaries 2BERAE
(Note 45) ( VEZY) - - - - - - 36,854 - 36,854 - 36,854
Change in fair value of financial ¥ A (& ﬁ Hity
assets measured at FVOC, 2EME Z % i
net of tax BEZR
BEZ (TD B
Hetk) - - - - (81,061) - - - (81,061) - (81,061)
Profit (loss) for the year FERT (EE) - - - - - - — 151,200 151,290 (101,830) 49,460
Total comprehensive income 4 T i e ()
(expense) for the year = = = = (81,061) — 150,806 151,200 221,035  (70,771) 150,264
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 45) & it & A @]
(Hiitas) = = = - - (32,323) - 32,323 - (3247) (32471)
Contribution from non-controlling  3F 12 iR 1 25 1 4
interests - - - - - - - - - 62,224 62,224
Capital reorganisation (Note 42) B AR E4 (ff7£42) (441,566) - 441,566 - - - - - - - -
At 31 March 2021 202153 A318 110,392 544,511 441,566  (95,368) (460,122) 16,476 73,566 3,267,873 3,898,894 333912 4,232,806
notes: B e -

(i)

(i)

(v)

V)

The contributed surplus represents the balance arising from the reduction
of share capital of the Company which took place during the year ended
31 March 2021.

The capital reserve represents the difference between the fair value and
the carrying amount of the underlying assets and liabilities that are
attributable to the additional interests in subsidiaries acquired by the
Group as defined in Note 3. The amount would be transferred to retained
profits upon disposal of interests in the subsidiary or the relevant assets,
whichever is earlier.

The investment revaluation reserve represents the changes in carrying
amount of investments in equity instruments designated as FVOCI, net of
tax, since its initial recognition.

Other reserves mainly represent statutory reserve which is the
appropriation of certain percentages of profit after taxation of subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as pursuant to
the PRC regulations and share of other reserves of associates and joint
ventures.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASI-lk.‘F'LOWS
n _\éiﬁﬁﬁii

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A31ALFE
2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FET FE&ET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BESEE
Loss before taxation b 5 B E5 18 (172,701) (507,523)
Adjustments for: BELTRYIE B #ETTRE
Finance costs Bh & A 13 17,609 24,005
Loss on disposal of property, plant and BEWE BHMEEES
equipment B8 9 407 15
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets EEFRAEEE 2 K& (5) -
Share of results of associates BB ERREE (65,377) 94,166
Share of results of joint ventures BhaEbEES 7,776 5,341
Amortisation of intangible assets BEEE#®HE 15(a) 92 476
Depreciation of property, plant and MWW REEITE
equipment 15(b) 29,284 41,446
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEECTE 15(c) 11,711 10,244
(Gain) loss on changes in fair value of 7 {’E BEEE ﬁ“ TAREZ
investments in debt instruments held for NEEEEZD (W)
trading JES B 10 (26,458) 58,384
Net unrealised exchange (gain) loss REFE N (W) B8
s am (16,678) 13,043
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE B A 4 Wz 45 (140,487) (88,579)
(Gain) loss on changes in fair value of = {’EE? EfmTLAKRE Y
investments in equity instruments held for NEEEEF (W)
trading 58 10 (932,987) 165,382
Fair value changes of investment properties & &% ¥ N FBEEE 21 408,285 (46,663)
Bank and other interest income HRITRH M E HSU\ 8 (3,417) (3,191)
Impairment loss on property, plant and M - e R R ZRE
equipment 518 19 1,280 —
Impairment loss on intangible assets mPEECRERE 23 62 —
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets TREEE CRERE 9 7,825 —
Loss on winding up of subsidiaries MEBAREE ZERE 44 8,695 —
Impairment loss recognised on loan ERE R 2 REEBERER
receivables 12 130,399 124,003
Impairment loss recognised on amounts JiE W Bk &8 X RIFRIE 2 R B
due from associates E 1B R 12 73,452 7,350
Impairment loss recognised on trade and B MHE ﬁﬂ FEUBR K 2
other receivables 1A 5 B 12 48,621 34,782
Write-down of stock of properties ) %77 &R E OB 27 640,781 18,233
Operating cash flows before movements in =~ KT ZEE S E B 51 2 L&
working capital (XBHeRE 28,169 (49,080)
Decrease in stock of properties L/EXER 3-%5)332 A 72,633 4,528
Decrease in inventories of finished goods EHREE Jﬂ & 1,697 8,970
Increase in loan receivables FEURE SR N (52,000) (43,800)
Increase in trade and other receivables B5 K Ei\ ﬁﬂ i3 HﬂZ 3R SR IE 0 (278,421) (25,100)
Increase in amounts due from associates JRE L B & X R FRIRE 0 (4,900) (5,181)
Decrease in amount due from a joint venture & Uk — & & & 1> 2 ZIE R/ 56 —
Increase in investments in equity instruments 5 1E & B #E 25 T A& & 50
held for trading (213,151) (47,100)
Decrease (increase) in investments in debt  HEBEEH T AL ERH D
instruments held for trading ($ 1n) 50,897 (7,478)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other B 5 & H A FE BRSO A)
payables #n (21,010) 740
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities X aECRD)E N (50,880) 51,176
Net cash used in operations s i WEFA (466,910) (112,325)
Income tax paid, net = H FrigBilE - F & (2,007) (7,296)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ARRETH 2H S FEE
ACTIVITIES (468,917) (119,621)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
F = Iﬁa%l}lb%ﬂj—%

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt &t FET FE&ET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEETH
Payment in relation to property, plant and A % ¥ BWEEEZ
equipment N (134,342) (98,192)
Acquisition of assets through acquisition of 3% 38 U BE BT & 2~ Al 1T 2
subsidiaries BEEWE 46 - (27,225)
Increase in pledged bank deposits B I SR 1T 17 3R N (7,012 (11,528)
Additions to investment properties "EYEL N (2,208) (1,609)
Capital contribution to a joint venture H-HeEhEEE (1,200) (1,200)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries H & i B X & 23R &K A
pg-c] 45 582,181 208,155
Bank and other interest income received B U SR 17 & E A FE U A 3,420 3,192
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant B E YE - MR RESE
and equipment RIE 187 2,636
Repayment from joint ventures BEEDEENR 2,367 1,236
Release of pledged bank deposits FABREERBITHER 11,528 117
Net cash outflow from winding up of WEBARBEEB RS RS
subsidiaries FEE 44 (8,597) —
Acquisition of associates Uk BE Bt 2 D | (209,800) —
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REREFBHZ2HESFEE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 236,524 75,582
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B ESE
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERITRAMER (340,375) (1,251,605)
Interest paid BRFE (26,906) (46,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE (10,803) (6,364)
New bank and other borrowings raised FTI% AR 1T I H th 18 K 320,258 1,200,108
Contribution from non-controlling interests ~ FE+% B4 25 ,éf 62,224 25,842
Advance from non-controlling interests FEPE AR M 2 B K — 1,179
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) B (AR)REEH 2R L
FINANCING ACTIVITIES FE 4,398 (76,840)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HeRHEBESEEERARD
EQUIVALENTS et (227,995) (120,879)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE N\ EZRQ &S &E
CHANGES 22,481 (9,464)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReRHEESEEEREA
BROUGHT FORWARD 387,785 518,128
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HeRHBESEEHEBLESE
CARRIED FORWARD 182,271 387,785
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCESOFCASH BeRHEBREZEEHEHE&
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS o
Short-term bank deposits RERITE R 10,901 48,959
Bank balances and cash WITEFRES 171,370 295,617
Bank balances and cash included in assets Ba&RoBEAFIEHE 2
classified as held for sale BEZRTHEFER® 35 - 43,209
182,271 387,785

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial EH M RZEMBRR AR -
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWk

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE2021F3A31HIEFE

1.

GENERAL

Blue River Holdings Limited (formerly known as PYI
Corporation Limited) (the “Company”) is an exempted
company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability. Its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information”
section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
principally engages in investment holdings, land and
property development, investment in association with
ports and infrastructure development and operation of
ports and logistics facilities, securities trading and
investment, and provision of loan financing services. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures are set out in Note 56.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA?”) for the first time in the current year:
Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKAS 39, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendment to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the Related
Amendments®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 22

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions'

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 20212

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and Related
Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transactions®

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use*

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract*

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020*
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipated that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments and investment properties which are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
Services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Asset”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated income statement from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3. FEEBEM)

REEE (@

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (a)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in the relative
interests on the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEWI-ENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company and any non-
controlling interests. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEXHHZE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Business combinations

(b) XHKEH

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at
fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair values, with certain exemptions.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEXHHZE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Business combinations (Continued)

(b) X#%E 6t ()

148

When a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control),
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement
period (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date), and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Acquisition of a subsidiary not
constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to
the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress as described below) are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
pasis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEXHHZE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (d % #HEREGE)

150

Construction in progress includes property, plant
and equipment in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Construction in progress is
classified to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties include land held for
undetermined future use, which is regarded as held
for capital appreciation purpose, and land under
development for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values, adjusted
to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income. Gains or losses arising from changes in the
fair value of investment property are included in profit
or loss for the period in which they arise.

If a property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed as evidenced by end
of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the
property, the relevant revaluation reserve will be
transferred directly to retained profits.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property carried at fair value is
transferred to properties for sales when there is a
change in use evidenced by commencement of
development with a view to sale of the relevant
properties. The fair value of the property at the date
of transfer is the deemed cost of the property for its
subsequent accounting in accordance with HKAS 2.

Land under development for rentals and/or capital
appreciation as investment properties are recognised
and classified as investment properties upon the
commencement of land leveling process after the
intended purpose of the land development can be
determined and transferred from project under
development. Construction costs incurred for
development are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the land under development. Land under
development is measured at fair value at the end of
the reporting period. Any difference between the fair
value of the land under development and its carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Project under development

Project under development are carried in the
consolidated financial statements at cost less any
impairment loss. Cost of project under development
includes, where appropriate, relevant development
costs and borrowing cost capitalised. No
depreciation is provided for project under
development.

Project under development are transferred at the
carrying value to stock of properties under
development for sale or property, plant and
equipment or investment properties, as appropriate,
when the intended purpose of the land development
can be determined upon commencement of land
leveling process.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Stock of properties

Stock of completed properties is stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value and stock of
properties under development for sale is stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value less
anticipated costs to complete. Cost of stock of
properties is calculated using the weighted average
cost method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated costs of completion (if any)
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Net realisable value is determined by reference to
sale proceeds received after the end of the reporting
period, or, if not yet sold after the end of the
reporting period, by management estimates based
on prevailing market condition. The relevant costs
include acquisition costs, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct costs
attributable to such properties.

Properties under development for sale are
transferred to completed properties held for sale
upon completion.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
and joint ventures are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate or
joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless
such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing the relevant interest in the associate or
joint venture is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore,
if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal
or partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint
venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or an investment in a
joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

(i

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate or
joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are
not related to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will
be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group)
and its sale is highly probable. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified
as held for sale when the criteria described above
are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain
a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

@)

Non-current assets held for sale
(Continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of
an investment, in an associate or joint venture, the
investment or the portion of the investment that will
be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the
criteria described above are met, and the Group
discontinues the use of the equity method in relation
to the portion that is classified as held for sale from
the time when the investment (or a portion of the
investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell, except for financial assets within the scope of
HKFRS 9 which continue to be measured in
accordance with the accounting policies as set out
in respective sections.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. Alternatively, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)

(k)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried
at cost less any subsequently accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected from
use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the
asset is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories, including liquefied petroleum gas (‘LPG”)
and compressed natural gas (“CNG”) for sales, are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined using the
weighted average cost method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers”.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at FVPL) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented
as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognhised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at FVOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVPL, except that at the date of initial recognition
of a financial asset, the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term;

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI/

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the other
income in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or
designated as FVOCI are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset held for
trading.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including amounts due from former
subsidiaries in liquidation, associates and a joint
venture, trade and other receivables, loan
receivables, pledged bank deposits, short-term bank
deposits and bank balances) and financial guarantee
contracts which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant and credit-
impaired balances and/or collectively with
appropriate groupings by common risk
characteristics.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STA'I;IEMENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition.
assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In making this

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
the impairment. In assessing whether there has
been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of financial guarantee
contracts, the Group considers the changes in
the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for
example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used
in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of
a default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for
which the effective interest rate cannot be
determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the
risks that are specific to the cash flows but only
if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken
into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis
or cater for cases where evidence at the
individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped
based on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(vy Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of
the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over
the guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and other receivables,
amounts due from former subsidiaries in
liquidation, amounts due from associates,
amount due from a joint venture and loan
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset
and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on initial
recognition to measure at FVOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss,
but is transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity instruments in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, amounts due to former subsidiaries in
liquidation and non-controlling interests and bank
and other borrowings) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability
A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and
the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEXHHZE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(m) Leases (m) HE

174

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application or arising from business
combination, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate standalone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for
acquisition of ownership interests of a property
which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot
be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of assets that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3. FEEBX)

(m) Leases (Continued)

(m) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group recognises
right-of-use assets at the commencement date of
the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Except for those that are classified
as investment properties and measured under fair
value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

impairment losses,

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which it
is located or restoring the underlying asset to
the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEXHHZE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(m) HE (&)

(m) Leases (Continued)

176

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property and stock
of property as separate line items on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The
right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-alone
price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. FEEBEM)

(m) HE (&)

FEEERBEAHEA (E)
HESE(E)
HMERNRBEE:

e RBEEMNK(BREELMZEEM
KR W HE B

« BATEEIREMEZTEA
B3 05 6 B R B B
ZEBEFETE

s BEERZMSBEEMBITEX
NzedE:

s AFAEEAEMETEBEEE

BZITEE R

o KIEHEE A Z SR (K 7E
RRASKEITERILERE) -

RRERS A% RS ERE S
55 B 3 A 2

o

HEEE
fHBRATER  NEEHHEEE
ER—REFNHEELETAR:

o  REEIRBEMNGEHR—HER
ZBERBEEZENEREE
HE: K

e MHEREBRBMN BNESHEMEE
RBEBAZEBER MY Z
EEERELARREES D
BRZEMEERE -

EMZERAERAT 202148 177



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEXHHZE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(m) HE (&)

(m) Leases (Continued)

178

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of incidental ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset.
Other than investment properties measured under
fair value model, such cost are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Leases (Continued)

(n)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to
allocate consideration in a contract to lease and
non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of
their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, considering any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a goods or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEXHHZE (&)

(CONTINUED)
(n) Revenue from contracts with customers (n) REEFEFEHNZWA (&)

(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is WRFE A TN H e —IHE4E - B4 6| 5

recognised over time by reference to the progress BERF B MU ARIZRBTERET

towards complete satisfaction of the relevant HERBNETZEE MERBER

performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and . NAEBRBLHE  BFEEBER
consumes the benefits provided by the BUYEAAEERNFIERZ
Group’s performance as the Group performs; &S

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances e XEBEBZBHAELENREA A
an asset that the customer controls as the EBE MZBEEERAEBRE
Group performs; or W BEELZES ok

e  the Group’s performance does not create an o AEFEVEAHAVAREEZALAS
asset with an alternative use to the Group and EERABRCEE BXS
the Group has an enforceable right to payment BEHZSERKBHN ZNHEA
for performance completed to date. BRI o& HIERIT R -

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time HH WM AREZEFREEARSE SR

when the customer obtains control of the distinct FEInhfE 7 RFE B RER -

goods or service.

A contract liability represents the Group'’s obligation A BEEREAE B MR P W E
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which KREBE(HCNHZRELRE) MAMR
the Group has received consideration (or an amount REEZERIABRBEZEE -

of consideration is due) from the customer.

Contracts with multiple performance BEZHEHBHNEF (BEIEX
obligations (including allocation of BEB)Z2EH

transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one MEE—HUALBOEEZEH
performance obligation, the Group allocates the T AKE ?izﬁ”ffﬁiﬁéﬂiZiﬁﬁfa
transaction price to each performance obligation on EE T FGEBINEEZHELNE (T -

a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price) (Continued)

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct goods or
service underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the
price at which the Group would sell a promised
goods or service separately to a customer. If a
stand-alone selling price is not directly observable,
the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to
any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining goods or services promised under
the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or
services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEXHHZE (&)

(CONTINUED)

(n) Revenue from contracts with customers n) REEFEHNZWA (&)
(Continued)
Variable consideration AEAE
For contracts that contain variable consideration MBS ERECGEDHEBERB WK
(income from port related services), the Group AN ZEHME NEBEEHER
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will FEAETEBERENER KBS -

be entitled using the expected value method.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is AEREZGA S AT HE - H
included in the transaction price only to the extent {% MR UL 2R 7 B 18 T K 7] 8% (X B2 7]
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will BREME I ETCEAxHEBER
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the SRIMERE AW AER -

future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group NEHEHITAER  NEBE HFH (Gt
updates the estimated transaction price (including XHB(EEEHERATERBEE
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of EEYRELEZTH) LAEEXME
variable consideration is constrained) to represent R & H 52 ,Zﬁ BEEZBRNUNER
faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the WMEHAZIBERED -

reporting period and the changes in circumstances
during the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

The Group recognises revenues on the following
basis:

Income from port related services

Income from port related services is recognised over
time in which the benefits of the services are
received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer as the Group performs. Revenue is
recognised based on the price specified in the
contract, net of the estimated volume discounts.
Where the contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to
each performance obligation based on the stand-
alone selling prices. Accumulated experience is used
to estimate and provide for the discounts using the
expected value approach, and revenue is only
recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal will not occur. A contract
liability is recognised for advance from customers
with contracts while a refund liability is recognised
for volume discount, if any.

Sale of LPG and CNG products

Revenue from distribution of LPG and CNG is
recognised when the goods are delivered and titles
have passed. A contract liability is recognised for
advance from customers with contracts.

Revenue from sale of properties

Revenue from sale of properties developed for sale
is recognised upon the execution of binding sales
agreements and delivery of the properties according
to the contract, which is the point in time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use of the
property and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits of the property. A contract liability is
recognised for advance from customers with
contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

(p)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Any specific
borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalised rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for
which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Retirement benefit costs

(r)

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes including Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense or
capitalised in contracts in progress, where
appropriate, when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other
employee benefits

long-term

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided
by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes
in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from
service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in
the cost of an asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit/loss
before taxation” as reported in the consolidated
income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3. FEEBEM)

BiE ()

(s) Taxation (Continued) (s)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, interests in associates and joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to
the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease
payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Taxation (Continued)

(t)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax are also recognised
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from initial accounting for a business combination,
the tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.

in other

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign
currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement
or an associate that includes a foreign operation of
which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint
arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

(u)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in equity under the heading of translation reserve
through other comprehensive income.

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted
at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period/recognised as an expense in
full at the grant date when the share options granted
vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based payment reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest based on assessment of
all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates during
the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to share-based payment reserve. When the share
options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If
such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there
is an indication that they may be impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or a group of cash generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEXHHZE (&)

194

(CONTINUED)

(v) Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgment in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgment, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

(a) Deferred tax liability recognised in respect of
fair value adjustments on investment
properties
As described in Note 3, for the purpose of measuring
deferred tax for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted.

Based on the above basis, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios
and concluded that the deferred tax consequences
in respect of investment properties are assessed
based on the best estimate of the tax consequence
upon sale of the properties directly or sale through
entities holding these properties or consume
Substantially over time.

For the leasehold land and buildings which were
classified as investment properties, these properties
are held under a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the
Group’s deferred taxation on the leasehold land and
buildings, the directors have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of the
leasehold land and buildings measured using the fair
value model are recovered entirely through sale is
rebutted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT 4. FE€HYUERIFEEMLIS>
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION FERE(E)
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgment in applying accounting EREtBRE 2 EEHE (&)

policies (Continued)

(a) Deferred tax liability recognised in respect of (a) BREYEZLAFEEAETE
fair value adjustments on investment RAZEEHEEEE (&)
properties (Continued)

Deferred tax consequences in respect of the FHERABLIHERER I ZE
developed land and land under development are EFIEERE EERNYEELED
assessed based on the best estimate of the tax ¥ BABLERTEZREWECEE
consequence upon sale of the properties directly or BAEERIEER 2 &EME - ¥k
sale through entities holding these properties. For EEANHER DR L 8 (E
those properties which would be subject to the PRC (Tt EEHR ) 2 mEFEE
Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) upon disposal, FEEZHMNECHRBREZ8E
deferred tax on the temporary difference between BRI ER M EAMEH -

the tax base and their carrying amounts would
include PRC LAT in addition to enterprise income

tax.
The relevant amount of potential PRC LAT had been BEPH I WIZEER ZEESED
recognised as a deferred tax liability based on the P ERARERIESRE - X
above judgment. The amount of PRC LAT of 20213 H31H » B # i K&k
developed land and land under development as at Pt PR IS ERSE AL
31 March 2021 is approximately HK$154,552,000 154,552,000 7T (2020 : 252,938,000
(2020: HK$252,938,000). BIT) °

(b) Project under development b)) BEHIEH
Development costs of project under development HRPEBEBZEERABE(WNE
include, where appropriate, relevant development F)HBEERRAREBERERZIEE
costs and borrowing cost capitalised. Upon KA THERBEZBTHEZITR
commencement of land leveling process, the TP EEFHEEEE BEEER
intended purpose of the land development can be BRERKABZERES IERZ(1)
determined and relevant project development costs FEREPYWE(EZWERER—
will be transferred at the carrying value to (1) MEBBEPHE) QW K
properties under development for sale if the RBE(EZMEBEER)  HEOK
properties are for sales purpose during the ordinary B (EZWERBTELERR
course of business; (2) property, plant and BARLBEE) o

equipment if the properties are for own use; or (3)
investment properties if the properties are held for
rentals and/or capital appreciation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

(a) Fair value measurements and valuation
processes
Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating
the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
an independent qualified professional valuer to
perform the valuation. Management of the Company
works closely with the valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include
inputs which are not based on observable market
data to estimate the fair value of certain types of
financial instruments and investment properties.
Notes 21, 26 and 47(c) provide detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair
value of various assets.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(b) Write-down of stock of properties

In assessing the net realisable value of stock of
properties, the management took reference to the
independent qualified professional valuations. The
assessment is dependent on certain key
assumptions that require subjective assumptions
and significant management estimates, including
adjustment factors on comparable market
transactions used in valuation of completed
properties held for sale and properties under
development for sale; further costs to be expended
for the development of properties under development
for sale by reference of development costs expended
for formed land; sales and development cycle; selling
costs; and determines discount rate used in net
present value calculation of stock of properties.

The Group recognises write-down of stock of
properties according to net realisable value of the
stock of properties. Write-down of stock of
properties is required when the net realisable value is
lower than the carrying value. Recognition of net
realisable value involves judgment and estimation.

If the result of new estimation differs from current
estimation, such difference will impact the carrying
value of stock of properties for the corresponding
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

PRC LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC which has
been included in income tax expense of the Group.
However, the Group will only finalise its LAT returns
with the tax authorities when the disposal happens
in its property development projects. Accordingly,
significant judgment is required in determining the
amount of land appreciation and its related taxes
when considering the deferred tax impact. The
Group recognises these liabilities based on the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover the carrying amount of its assets.

Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made. As at 31
March 2021, the carrying amount of LAT provision
(included in deferred tax liabilities) was approximately
HK$265,882,000 (2020: HK$430,438,000).

Deferred tax asset

At 31 March 2021, no deferred tax asset in relation
to unused tax losses of HK$415 milion (2020:
HK$1,039 million) and deductible temporary
differences of HK$444 million (2020: HK$130 million)
has been recognised in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position due to unpredictability
of future profit streams of those subsidiaries. In
cases where the actual future profits generated by
those subsidiaries are more than expected, a
material deferred tax credit would be recognised in
the consolidated income statement in the period in
which the tax losses and deductible temporary
differences are utilised.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(e) Provision of ECL for financial assets
measured at amortised costs
The Group estimates ECL for financial assets which
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. Except
for financial assets with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired which are individually
assessed for ECL, the Group collectively assesses
the ECL of financial assets, including trade and other
receivables which consist of large number of debtors
with common risk characteristics.

The assessment of ECL is based on historical
observed default rates and adjusted by forward-
looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. The
provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL on the Group’s
financial assets is disclosed in Note 47(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of the
borrowings disclosed in Note 40, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and various
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and their associated risks thereto. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATE ENTS

e MR RMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HILFE
6. REVENUE 6. WA
Revenue is analysed as follows: WAZDIAT
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T THETT
Sales and services income: HE KR UA -
Sale of properties HE M 119,319 25,621
Sale of LPG and CNG products HEREABAKR
JBE 48 R AR RUEE 88,176 114,654
Income from port related services 7 O A8 B AR 75 M A 21,646 163,545
229,141 303,820
Interest income: A EUWA :
Interest income from loan receivables W E R 2 F B U A 21,160 27,049
Interest income from financial assets BAFEEFAEBREZ
measured at FVPL SREBEZFBRWA
— investments in debt instruments held — B EESEKITAKRE
for trading 23,636 27,422
44,796 54,471
Others: HAt -
Property rental income EHES WA 982 2,863
Dividend income from financial assets ERAFEEFABRZEZ
measured at FVPL SRBEZREBA
— investments in equity instruments —HEEERETAKRE
held for trading 2,368 2,775
3,350 5,638
277,287 363,929

Revenue from contracts with customers are derived from
the PRC, which include (i) revenue from sale of properties
under property segment and sale of LPG and CNG
products under ports and logistics segment that are
recognised at a point in time and (i) income from port
related services under ports and logistics segment that is
recognised over time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The operating segments of the Group are determined
based on information reported to executive directors, the
Group’s chief operating decision makers, for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment.

The information focuses more specifically on the strategic
operation and development of each business unit and its
performance is evaluated through organising business
units with similar economic characteristics into an
operating segment.

Upon the completion of the disposal of the subsidiaries (see
Note 45 for details) in the current year, the Company
restructured its internal organisations. The ports
development, which was previously separate reported,
was grouped as part of the ports and logistics segment,
while “Treasury” segment was renamed as “Financial
services”. In addition, current management considers that
Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited (“Paul Y. Engineering”)
is an associate of the Company and engineering is not the
principal business of the Group, and the information
reported by Paul Y. Engineering is not used for the
purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment for the current year. Accordingly, the Group’s
share of Paul Y. Engineering’s results and assets are not
accounted as segment results and segment assets in the
segment information for the current year. Subsequent to
the reporting period, the Group obtains control of Paul .
Engineering which becomes a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group as detailed in Note 57. As a result,
Paul Y. Engineering’s results and assets will be accounted
as segment results and segment assets in the segment
information in the coming financial period/year.
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e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7.

The operating and reportable segments for the current
year are changed as follows:

Ports and logistics —  Ports development, operation of
ports, LPG, CNG and LNG
distribution and logistics
businesses

Property —  Development, investment, sale
and leasing of real estate
properties, developed land,
land under development and
projects under development

Securities — Investment and trading of
securities
Financial services —  Provision of loan financing

services, financial related
services and cash
management

In preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the
segment information for the year ended 31 March 2020
has been restated to conform with the current year's
presentation.

The Company assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of loss or earnings before
interest expense and tax (“LBIT” or “EBIT”) and loss or
earnings before interest expense, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (“LBITDA” or “EBITDA”).

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report

7 HE R (&)

REFRERAREDMEEMT ¢

ARD /N — BOERE - -BD Rt
AHA - BERAR
B RAR D8
AR mER 2
i

% - BHENE CHE
T FER
FEARIER 2%
RE HEMEE

Fol
3
|
Foid
NS
o
X
i
i

T B AR 7% — REHERBE RS -
T R AE B AR 75 M
ReEHE

KRB E B REE - B E2020%F3 A
STHIEFENDBERBLES > LAER
FEMEY B

RRAREREREF B X R IEARE
B & A (TLBIT) sK[EBIT]) K & & Fl &
MY BB ERBHEMEBEBEXRT
([LBITDAJ K [EBITDA]) 2 5T £ FF{EH &
KED 2 RE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:-v_\éﬁji%ﬁi M;J.%I

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 7HER (&)
Segment revenue and results DB AREE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segment:

ATRAREBRAREERKEEMAHRE

DEE D2

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE2021F3A3BLEFE

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics Property  Securities services consolidated
BOR aEWEE
I LS 25 SRR kizE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
THET THERT TERT THERT THERT
Revenue A 109,822 120,301 26,004 21,160 277,287
EBITDA (LBITDA)* EBITDA (LBITDA)* 168,979  (1,041,401) 980,871 (232,664) (124,215)
Depreciation and WE REH
amortisation*™* (27,946) (3,267) (347) (347) (31,907)
Segment results — DEEE —
EBIT (LBIT) EBIT (LBIT) 141,033  (1,044,668) 980,524 (233,011) (156,122)
Share of results of BEREREEEE
Paul Y. Engineering 67,449
Corporate and other 1> % % H i 5
expenses*™* (114,744)
Net exchange gain P& 5 U558 48,325
Finance costs B & AN (17,609)
Loss before taxation Bk 7% A /&5 18 (172,701)
Taxation A 222,161
Profit for the year F R F 49,460
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STAT\I::E'-“ ENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

7. ZEHER A

2R K EE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2020
B E 20203 A31HILFE

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics Property Securities services  consolidated
BAOR DEE R
iR ES 7 75 CRR% Riz&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FAT TAT TAT
Revenue A 278,199 28,484 30,197 27,049 363,929
EBITDA (LBITDA)* EBITDA (LBITDA)* 157,103 16,978 (196,387) (137,602) (159,908)
Depreciation and mEREHE"
amortisation™ (43,276) (2,231) (594) (594) (46,695)
Segment results — DEEE —
EBIT (LBIT) EBIT (LBIT) 118,827 14,747 (196,981) (138,196) (206,603)
Share of results of BIEREZEEE
Paul Y. Engineering (106,934)
Corporate and other 7> % & H 4t B 5 =~
expenses™* (144,404)
Net exchange loss b 5 B8 F 5 (25,577)
Finance costs BA AR (24,005)
Loss before taxation Bk 5 A 5 18 (507,523)
Taxation I (67,432)
Loss for the year FEEE (564,955)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$140,487,000
(2020: HK$88,573,000) has been recognised in the ports and
logistics operating segment during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Hx

Includes depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets and amortisation of intangible assets.

Represents mainly unallocated administrative expenses and

includes unallocated depreciation expenses of approximately
HK$9,180,000 (2020: HK$5,471,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by operating and reportable segment:

R B IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

7 HE R (&)

THEERAER
LWTAASEEERABREEERTRE

DEE D2

At 31 March 2021
M202153A31H

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics Property Securities services consolidated
BOR aEWEF
L LS BH <l R kizE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THET THERT TERT THERT THERT
ASSETS BE
Segment assets DHEBE 501,189 2,426,286 1,793,521 313,883 5,034,879
Share of assets of BEREREEE
Paul Y. Engineering 366,965
Unallocated assets* APEBE" 1,178,601
Consolidated RAEBEE
total assets 6,580,445
LIABILITIES 8&
Segment liabilities DEBE 66,651 984,953 103,374 41,726 1,196,704
Unallocated liabilities* Ko B & &* 1,150,935
Consolidated ReEBAaE
total liabilities

2,347,639
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEWI-ENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A31HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. oHER(E)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEEREE(E)

At 31 March 2020
20203 A31H

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics Property Securities services  consolidated
O R nEAast
iR ES 7 75 CRR% Riz&
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TERT FET FET TET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets DEEE 1,256,233 3,204,966 449,007 389,126 5,299,332
Share of assets of BIGCREZXEE
Paul Y. Engineering 294,698
Unallocated assets AOBEBE 73,313
Consolidated REREE
total assets 5,667,343
LIABILITIES =L
Segment liabilities DHEEE 247,894 1,298,271 487 37,130 1,583,782
Unallocated liabilites XA A& E 30,772
Consolidated FEBEAE
total liabilities 1,614,554
* Unallocated assets include amounts due from former subsidiaries * AOMREEBEEWSEPRINHEB AT
in liquidation of approximately HK$1,130,151,000 (Note 45) (2020: 15 #91,130,151,00038 7t ( H#f 3£ 45) (2020 :
Nil), while the unallocated liabilities include amounts due to former i) 51{ B R ER B IEEN IS B A
subsidiaries in liquidation of approximately HK$1,130,151,000 (Note E X T8 491,130,151,00078 7T ( #f 572 45)
45) (2020: Nil). (2020 ﬁﬁi)
Segment assets and liabilities comprise assets and o E8E E & BEPEMRERAE Y MBEL
liabilities of the operating subsidiaries, as well as certain AR B T ZEENBE UEKET
interests in associates, joint ventures and investments in BeE N Na A2 PENMEGIEREZE
equity instruments that are engaged in relevant segmental Hotit  PEEETRIEHINRERE
businesses. Accordingly, segment assets exclude share of BENIFEEETRITEFLES 848
Paul Y. Engineering’s assets and corporate assets which CEED ERREENEMEBRERZ

are mainly certain bank balances and cash, interests in
joint ventures, right-of-use assets and other receivables,
and segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which
are mainly certain other payables and lease liabilities.

CEEE MOBAEBEUNIAEBREEIERSE
THENEIREERABZEXAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. DEHER(E)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEEREE(E)

For the purpose of resources allocation and assessment BENEBRIELSBRETEHZEL

of segment performance, deferred tax liabilities are REMEBEEBERIEZESEEE  BHEH
allocated to segment liabilities but the related deferred tax MIEEHEBERA STHEITIEADIPES
credit/charge are not reported to the Managing Director of AKX DR ARNRBRER -

the Company as part of segment results.

Other information H {th & B
The following is an analysis of the Group’s other TERAEREERAIRED I RAERH
information by operating and reportable segment: &R Z M7

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZ202153831HLEE

Ports and Financial
logistics Property  Securities services Unallocated  Consolidated
BOR
Wi /S FF SREH RAE o)
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TEx TEx TEx TEx TET FEx
Amounts included in the FAPBEERS D
measure of segment results EEFEZFIE !
or segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets  1E I RENE E
other than financial (&R T AR
instruments 18,619 162,043 - - 12,216 192,878
Impairment loss recognised on B E R 2 HEEE
loan receivables R - - - (130,399) - (130,399)
Impairment loss recognised on & 5 [ E b JiE Ut 85
trade and other receivables ZREBEER (6) - = (46,205) (2,410) (48,621)
Impairment loss recognised on & U B & A A FUIE 2
amounts due from associates  REEEER - - = (73,452) = (73,452)
Write down of stock of properties #1 %77 € 7 J8 (B #i Al - (640,781) - - - (640,781)
Loss on disposal of property, BREWE  BHRE
plant and equipment RECEE (88) (127) (96) (96) = (407)
Impairment loss on property, ME - EREEEZ
plant and equipment HEFE - = = = (1,280) (1,280)
Impairment loss on right-of-use  {F BEAE 2
assets RERE - - = = (7,825) (7,825)
Bank and other interest income  $817 [ E i F S U A 335 764 1 2,297 20 3,417
Interests in associates AN - - - 197,933 366,965 564,898
Interests in joint ventures AELEER - 88,807 - - 20,030 108,837
Share of results of associates ~ #1EHE& D R ¥ 45 - (5) = (2,067) 67,449 65,377
Share of results of joint ventures  #{FA S £ E£E - (3,738) - - (4,038) (7,776)
Gain on changes in fair value BEEERATA
of investments in equity REZAFEE
instruments held for trading RN & - - 932,987 - — 932,987
Gain on changes in fair value BEEBEEHKIA
of investments in debt REZAFEE
instruments held for trading RN g - - 26,458 - - 26,458
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZ20219F3 A31HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 7HER (&)

Other information (Continued) HaE ¥ (HF)

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BZE2020F3A31BEFE

Ports and Financial
logistics Property Securities services  Unallocated Consolidated
EOR
iR ES FHE 2RRE AAH Fa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FHEL FHEL FHEL FAEL FEL
Amounts included in the FAPHBEER DD
measure of segment results ~ EEF B ZFHIE
or segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets  EE IR B E E
other than financial (R I AR
instruments 30,123 52,138 — — 17,170 99,431
Impairment loss recognised on  JEUE 3 7 B E 1B
loan receivables, net BREE - - - (124,003) - (124,003)
Impairment loss recognised on & 5 [ E i JiE U BE &
trade and other receivables ZREEBERER (906) - - (33,876) - (34,782)
Impairment loss recognised on ~ EM L AR RIB 2
amounts due from associates  JFi B BB # R - - - (7,350) - (7,350)
Write down of stock of properties #1317 & 2 il 8 HUR - (18,233) - - - (18,233)
Gain (loss) on disposal of BEME WKk
property, plant and equipment 5% 7 Iz (5518) 59 (74) - - - (15)
Bank and other interest income R 17 J2 £ ft F| B U A 930 235 - 2,009 17 3,191
Interests in associates AUNSI - - - - 294,698 294,698
Interests in joint ventures AR ERER - 85,393 - - 22,868 108,261
Share of results of associates #1544 A R £ 45 12,768 - - - (106,934) (94,166)
Share of results of joint ventures B & & DN EEE - (1,531) - - (3,810) (5,341)
Loss on changes in fair value BEEEREZIA
of investments in equity REZNFEE
instruments held for trading EHEE - - (165,382) - - (165,382)
Loss on changes in fair value BEEEREKIA
of investments in debt REZNFEE
instruments held for trading EHEE - - (68,384) - - (68,384)
Assets classified as held for sale D #AFEHE 2
A& 753,412 - - - - 753412
Liabilities associated with assets 9 8 AR EHE 2
classified as held for sale BERBzEE (195,709) - - - - (195,709)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 7HER (&)

Geographical information i & & #

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong
and the PRC.

AEBZEBIEMNETERPHE-

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by
geographical market based on location of customers,

TERA/AEEBRARMETSE » (RE
EPHMAEME - T Edm/ R RRH)

irrespective of the origin of the goods/services: i
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
Hong Kong B 47,164 56,062
The PRC Fh 230,123 306,683
Others H i _ 1,184
277,287 363,929
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non- LTAEIERHEE (TBHE TE)EM

current assets excluding financial instruments, analysed

by the geographical location of assets:

BEREEZMENERE D

Non-current assets excluding
financial instruments

FNRBDEE(TEFEEMITA)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

F#& T FET

Hong Kong S 591,301 333,599
The PRC 3 1,432,667 1,568,483
2,023,968 1,902,082
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATI::E;-"

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 March 2021, there are two
customers from property segment contributed the revenue
to approximately HK$44,725,000 (2020: Nil) and
HK$38,522,000 (2020: Nil), respectively. In addition, there
is a customer from ports and logistics segment
contributed approximately HK$36,131,000 (2020:
HK$44,045,000) to the revenue. These contributions are
over 10% of the revenue of the Group.

ENTS

7 HE R (&)
FTEEFZEHR

HZE2021F3A31IHILLFE MEKRED
52 BP9 pE A 444,725,000
70 (2020 © ## ) 138,522,000 7T (2020 :
M) fbih —BRBBORMEDHZ
= B {5 W A 4936,131,0007% 7T (2020 :
44,045,000 7T) - ZEBEREAEE 2 I
AHEE10% ©

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HWA
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FET
Bank and other interest income RAT R M F B A 3,417 3,191
Rental income from short-term leasing REAEEFTE2HS WA
of stock of properties 1,325 1,727
Dividend income from financial assets BAFBEGAEMEEKES
measured at FVOCI ZERMBEZRBERA
— investment in an equity instrument —ERITEKE 1,180 —
Sundry income T8 U A 756 1,003
6,678 5,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

9. HitlhmREE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
Net exchange gain (loss) FE W e (B 18) F & 48,325 (25,577)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and BEEYE W NMRE BB
equipment (407) (15)
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - MW EREZREEIR
equipment (1,280) —
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FHAREEZREER (7,825) —
Others Hp (67) —
38,756 (25,592)

FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF FINANCIAL 10. R ATV EEFS AEBEERZSH
ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL EEZAYEESH
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Gain (loss) on changes in fair value of BIEEBEEBILAKREZ
investments in debt instruments held ~EEEEHKE(BE)
for trading 26,458 (568,384)
Gain (loss) on changes in fair value of BIEEBEET LAKREZ
investments in equity instruments held NEBEBEESH W (BB)
for trading 932,987 (165,382)
959,445 (223,766)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATE ENTS

e BHRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE
11. OTHER EXPENSES 1. Hitt & A
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Acquisition-related costs for potential U BAEIE B B 2 A
projects 17,349 22,721
Net development expenses for resort PREEBREECHEERTE
project in the PRC 1,033 6,024
18,382 28,745

12. IMPAIRMENT LOSS RECOGNISED ON 12. 28 EC RABEEGERIEH

FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET

2021 2020
HK$’000 HIK$'000
FTET FAETT
Impairment loss recognised on loan W E R R EEBRER
receivables 130,399 124,003
Impairment loss recognised on trade and BN EMERRRZEE
other receivables (including interest FEEER (B IEEWKA L)
receivables) 48,621 34,782
Impairment loss recognised on amounts JE W EE & A R FUIE 2 R E E R
due from associates "R 73,452 7,350
252,472 166,135
Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note BAB RS F BN K E47(0)

47(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
EHZE2021F3A31HIEFE
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. @& B &
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FE&ET
Borrowing costs on: BERA:
Bank borrowings RITHE N 26,985 31,520
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JE A5 FE 4% P 4 2 BRTE — 3,969
Imputed interest expense on other payables H b fE R 2 #HEF 85 % - 193
Imputed interest expense on lease liabilites BE&BEBEZHEEN SR X 961 590
Other borrowings H At 18 5% 549 4,538
28,495 40,810
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of B BIEBERME - W&
construction in progress (included in BEBANIERIRER
property, plant and equipment) 2 HEE (10,189) (2,771)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIEBERMEFEZ
properties under development for HHEEEYWEERZ
sale (included in stock of properties) Bl (697) (9,646)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIEREZERREMEERR
investment properties under 2 EEE
development = (4,388)
17,609 24,005
The capitalised borrowing costs represent the borrowing BABEAZEEREAEEEREEREL
costs incurred by the entities on borrowings whose funds TIEERA MEXNEBEBEESETIRE
were specifically invested in the project and properties RIEE R -

during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 14. EE-EE5TBRAEREE#MS
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s (@) ESBRBEETHRAEMS
emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the BB+ —% (2020 K& )E
eleven (2020: six) directors are as follows: EEAZMEMT
None of the directors has waived any emoluments EAMEFTRNEERNEZETHES
during the year (2020: Nil). (2020 : ) -
Retirement
benefit
Discretionary scheme
Name of directors EEHE Fees Salaries bonus* contribution Total
BIKEF

ik M BEEAa sT8IfHER &5t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FERT FTERT TERXT TER

2021
Executive directors HITES
Lau Tom Ko Yuen 25 R 462 6,068 506 556 7,592
Marc Andreas Tschirner (note i) Marc Andreas Tschirner

(Kt i) 172 - - - 172
Au Wai June (note ii) (& & (Wi 77 i) 126 = = = 126
Sue Ka Lok (note iii) BRR 4 (M i) 346 - - - 346
Wu Yan Yee (note iv) WA (K ativ) 107 530 - 15 652
Non-executive directors EHITES

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (note v) BBES & (4755 v) = = = - -

Independent non- executive B FHITEE

directors

Chan Shu Kin (note vi) FeR 5t B2 (JfY 5 vi) 732 - - — 732
Wong Lai Kin, Elsa (note vij) =B (Wit vii) 527 - - - 527
Leung Chung Ki RINE 179 - - - 179
Ma Ka Ki (note viii) 5 52 5 (B 22 viii) 38 — - - 38

William Nicholas Giles (note ix) ~ William Nicholas Giles
(K &Eix) 38 - - - 38
2,727 6,598 506 571 10,402
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 14. EE - BS5THAEREEM S

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

(&)

() ESRESTHRAEME (F)

Retirement
benefit
Discretionary scheme
Name of directors EEHA Fees  Salaries bonus*  contribution Total
RIRREF
we M BIEEA BERaT At
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAET FAT THET
2020
Executive directors HITEE
LLau Tom Ko Yuen 2= R 462 6,068 10,506 607 17,643
Sue Ka Lok BRR 4 409 - - - 409
Wu Yan Yee A TR 4 126 624 - 18 768
Independent non- executive directors B EHTES
Chan Shu Kin IR 151 B2 865 - - - 865
Wong Lai Kin, Elsa HEER 623 — — — 623
Leung Chung Ki PINE 179 — — — 179
2,664 6,692 10,506 625 20,487

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
are for their services in connection with management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above are
for their services as directors of the Company.

Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen was also the Chairman and
Managing Director of the Company (which was
equivalent to Chief Executive) and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered
by him as the Chairman and Managing Director.

EXFRRERITEZIE  RERER
ERARNAEAEEEBREHENR
BimfEH

EXRIERITEE MBI
TESME  RESER/RARAES
PR A AR A o

FRREEMB/ARBTFERAE
(HERZSTTHRAR)  EXMEE
BeMeBRRBEEFERIFRAEIIRE
TR ZME -
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A M ERARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3 31

HIEFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’

and Chief Executive’s

emoluments (Continued)

notes:

0)

(i)

(vi)

(vil)

(viil)

()

Marc Andreas Tschirner was appointed as managing
director and executive director on 18 January 2021.

Au Wai June was appointed as executive director on 18
January 2021.

Sue Ka Lok resigned as executive director on 3 February
2021.

Wu Yan Yee resigned as executive director on 3 February
2021.

Kwong Kai Sing Benny was appointed as non-executive
director on 9 February 2021.

Chan Shu Kin resigned as independent non-executive
director on 3 February 2021.

Wong Lai Kin, Elsa resigned as independent non-executive
director on 3 February 2021.

Ma Ka Ki was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 3 February 2021.

William Nicholas Giles was appointed as non-executive
director on 3 February 2021.

The discretionary bonus is an incentive based on individual
performance which has been determined and approved by
the remuneration committee.
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14. EE BETRAEREEMS
(&)

() ESERESITRAEME (&)

et -

0] Marc Andreas Tschirner /2202141 518
BEZERBEFANTES -

(ii) fE R R2021F1 B1sHE LT A#H
TEE-

(i) FRLNV2021F2A3BBTHITE
E3 % N

vy BARAER2021F2A3B BITHITE

v BRI R2021F2A0B E LT Ak
HITESE -

(vi) PR ERR20219F2 A3 0 BT H I
WITEEBRE -

(i) EEER2021F2A38 BT3B 3k
HITEEB -

wii) HEHER2021F2A3HEZ T AB
HEHITESE -

() Wiliam Nicholas Giles 742021 %2 A 3 A
EZIRFRTES-

* B 15 72 4T 5 AR % (8 B R 3R 1 E 2 8
B TEHFHEESEERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 14. EE - BS5THAEREEM S

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (48)

(b) Employees’ emoluments b) EEMS
The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the KREBRARNFERAUZRSIHFAER
year included one director (2020: one director) of the EARANG —BEEHRNR: — K&
Company, details of whose emoluments are set out =) HMWEF B0 L XM 140 F0
in Note 14(a) above. & o
The aggregate emoluments of the remaining four (2020: HHpBEALEES 2 M4 (2020 : [

four) highest paid individuals, who are employees of VEREHFABEZEMESNT

the Group, are as follows:

i

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and other benefits FekEMER 11,654 13,684
Discretionary bonus BIE FEAT 838 52,319
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & (k3@ F 5+ 2 4t 2 131 315
12,623 66,318
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 14. B ESTHRAERESEMS
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (48)

(b) EEM = (H)
BEZMERIMT -

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

Number of employees

EEAH

2021 2020

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T & 2,000,000 7T 3 —

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T % 3,000,000 7T - 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 (note) 4,000,001 i 7T & 4,500,000 3% 7T, (#1 2%) — 1*

HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 (note) 6,500,001 % 7T & 7,000,000 % 7T, (#1 3) 1* -
HK$56,500,001 to HK$57,000,000 (note) 56,500,001 i 7T & 57,000,000 7T, (K 3F) - 1

4 4

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals and
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

note: For the year ended 31 March 2021, an aggregate amount

FR-AEEYEALIVESHAR
REEXNMEAERMAREE
R IMARNEE R 2 52 - RE R
Biw(E -

BfaE - & =2021F3A31H It F F - % B

of discretionary bonus to members of senior management
(excluding directors) of HK$434,000 (2020: HK$50,234,000)
had been determined and approved by the remuneration

ZECSETRME—FHBEAR
434,000 7T (2020 : 50,234,000 7T )
ZHBRATEREEERE (TR

committee. FE=E) -
# The above emoluments represent the remuneration paid/ # LS EEMESRAE D 2 ENS
payable to members of senior management (excluding ENEREEEBRE (TEEES)2

directors) classified by band of emoluments. B4 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRMTE
For the year ended 31 March 2021
EHZE2021F3A31HIEFE
15. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 15. FRB A1 B 18
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FE&ET
Loss before taxation has been arrived at Br i AT ES 12 E $BR ¢
after charging:
Amortisation of intangible assets EmEESE
(note (a) below) (T X Htit(a) 92 476
Auditor’s remuneration Z SR B &
— Audit services — ZE R 1,880 2,876
— Non-audit services — R E R 5,024 5,982
Cost of inventories recognised as an BRAEBRZIFEKAK
expense 59,334 81,126
Cost of stock of properties sold BEREMEFEZKRA 84,117 18,527
Depreciation of property, plant and ME KRR EZITE
equipment (note (b) below) (XX B9 2% (b)) 29,284 41,446
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEECZTE
(note (c) below) (T XK () 11,711 10,244
Staff costs (note (d) below) B TRA (T XK aE() 96,033 179,946
and after crediting: WEFA
Rental income from investment properties, E&W% LA - B 10
net of outgoings of HK$689,000 (2020: B 3% §5689,000% 7T (2020 :
HK$1,489,000) 1,489,000/ 7T) 293 1,374
Government grants recognised B 7 58 BT 48 B
(note (e) below) (T XKt (e) 6,383 7,320
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZ20219F3 A31HIEFE

15. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@) Amortisation of intangible assets

15. BR¥L AT 1B (&)
Bt

(@ EREEAE#H

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHEIT
Amount provided for the year FERER 92 520
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of properties 5 : B{EB R MEFEZHEE
under development for sale (included in EEMEEBRZHE
stock of properties) = (44)
92 476
()  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment () W HREEHEZITE
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amount provided for the year FEBER 29,385 41,475
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of properties i : BIEBERMEFE 2 HEERE
under development for sale (included in BYEERZHE
stock of properties) (10) (14)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIEBRESRE  BREEENR
construction in progress (included in ZHEEIRENZ 5
property, plant and equipment) (85) (10)
Amount capitalised in respect of investment BIEREP R EMEERN 2 HE
properties under development (6) ©)
29,284 41,446
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

15. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED) 15. BRB AT &5 18 (&)

notes: (Continued) Biat - (%)
(€  Depreciation of right-of-use assets © (FHEEAEZIE
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Amount provided for the year in respect of: FERMER:
— Leasehold land —FHELtH 2,511 4,916
— Land and buildings — i REF 8,642 4,991
— Motor vehicles —RE 558 545
11,711 10,452
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of B BIEBRESRYE W REER
construction in progress (included in ZHEEZIREARNZHEE
property, plant and equipment) - (208)
11,711 10,244
(d)  Staff costs d EBIKAK
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Directors’ emoluments (Note 14(a)) FEE2ME (Mt 14(a) 10,402 20,487
Other staff costs: Efh 8 TR :
Salaries and other benefits (including bonus) FEREMER (RIEILL) 96,178 165,825
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R KR R 5 B4 K 1,818 2,613
108,398 188,925
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of properties 5 : BE{ER SN MEFEZHEE
under development for sale (included in EEMEBARAZEHE
stock of properties) (964) (568)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIEBRESHRYE BREKEER
construction in progress (included in ZHEEIRERNZ 5
property, plant and equipment) (10,895) (8,113)
Amount capitalised in respect of investment BEHEPREMEE RN 85
properties under development (506) (298)
96,033 179,946
(e For the year ended 31 March 2021, the government grants of ) HE2021FEIABILFE HFMEELD
approximately HK$6,383,000 (2020: HK$7,320,000) mainly 6,383,000 7t (2020 : 7,320,000 7t ) * &
represent the government cash subsidies on operating cost of BEARSEEEEERANLRITHRER®F
ports and property businesses recognised in distribution and WEABFE A DO M2 EKKERANIRM
selling expenses and administrative expenses during the year. B IR & 2 8L o P U EN 2 BRI 2 Bh I £ R E K
There are no unfulfiled conditions or other contingencies attached e A s AREIE -

to the receipt of the government subsidies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATE ENTS

e BHRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE
16. TAXATION 16. B 18
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
Taxation charge (credit) comprises: WIS B (A B
Hong Kong Profits Tax: EEMNFM
Current year KEE = -
Overprovision in prior years BAEFEBERE = (19)
- (19)
Taxation arising in the PRC: mEELEZFRIE:
Current year KEE 33,019 32,680
(Over)underprovision in prior years MEFE(BERE BETR (205) 2,226
32,814 34,906
Deferred taxation (Note 41) EIEREIE (Kt 41)
LAT TR A (194,778) 13,684
Others Hi (60,197) 8,857
(254,975) 22,541
Taxation attributable to the Company and 7 2 & & & i 8 A 7] F& (h i 18
its subsidiaries (222,161) 57,432
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council 20183 H21 B » HAE A& M iB(2017
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 EMREUEET)(EB75) & B E =Y 1& 5
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates BZ|) Ho AMESE FERESE - F
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 P EZRMN2018FIA28HEEK B AR
and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two- REBBHEEFR - RIEM S TGRS
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of B - &EBEEERAY H2008 % TH A
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, iR T % 8.25% BA T - i iR #8200 & % 7T &Y
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. i B G R TR EA65%H I - T4 MR+
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two- FMERMERGEERZERETR 25 MG &
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at BT E — T F16.5% B M FL1E -

a flat rate of 16.5%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at a tax
rate 16.5% for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate for the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC is 25%
for both years.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the taxation arising in
the PRC included an income tax charge of approximately
HK$29,811,000 (2020: HK$28,065,000), which
represented the PRC income tax charged on the gain on
disposal of subsidiaries (see Note 45 for details). The
capital gain derived from equity rights transfer by a non-
resident enterprise, representing the difference between
the consideration and the cost of equity rights, is subject
to a tax rate of 10%.

According to the requirements of the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on LAT (Ff 2 A R AL FIE £ b 1% (E
HE1TEP]) effective from 1 January 1994, and the
Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on LAT (Ff 2 A R AL F1E £ b1 (E
HETEBIEHeAMA) effective from 27 January 1995 as
well, all income from the sale or transfer of land use rights,
buildings and their attached facilities in the PRC is subject
to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of
the appreciation value as calculated according to the
Provisional Regulations of the PRC on LAT and its Detailed
Implementation Rules.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

16. 18 (&)

ARPEERREEMEHFSHESZ
BRERNCBEEAVBEREAMS L
TER - MEAFEZEEMNEHRIRBE
16.6% &1 & °

RETBECEMEFE(TEEAEHRIZ])
NREEMSTEBRAR  NEBRF
Z M B AR WA FE B R R25% ©

HE2021F3HNBILEFE  FEEA 2
T IE B IE FT 15 B X 929,811,000 7T
(2020 : 28,065,000/ 7T ) * & 5t b & I B
NAENGERMEE45) 2 W 2 R BIFR
B —HMIERRLPEEBEREELCE
Az (IR EEREXANE 2 Z8E) BIR
LR 10% B H o

RIEHR1994F1 A1B B AR 2R #E A
REMBE I B EFRETIEA) - LA KA
10905F 1 27 BB £ M 2 (R #E AR £ H
Bl T ER T RO ERMAA) - B
REEENEERT T RE BEY
N B 3 58 b 2 A P9 B 4R 38 (B 5B (IR IR (P
EARLMBE T HZERG TGO RE
EMAIEE) AHA30%E60% T % 2 2
HE T R B £ (A R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

16. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The taxation (credit) charge for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before taxation per the consolidated income

16. 18 (&)

AERZBEFEAN) X HEER

PR AR Z BRI T -

statement as follows:

Yz K P

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Loss before taxation BB RTE B (172,701) (507,523)
Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable %275 B ) A # & i@ B 2 i f XK
in the respective jurisdictions HEZHIE (100,926) (50,355)
Tax effect of share of results of associates/ H{EH & AT,/ AL E
joint ventures ZHBEE (9,505) 14,834
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax & % 7% /5 T 1~ A #0085 Sz 2
purpose M2 8,385 11,976
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ERBHEBERBRKAZ
purpose BTS2 (10,221) (2,466)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FEERBMEEREBZHBETE 9,930 46,037
Tax effect of other deductible temporary R VEME SR E fh 0] 3055 Ba i = 28
difference not recognised 2 84,519 24,592
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BALARER B BEEE 2
previously not recognised MG (59,002) (1)
Tax effect of utilisation of other deductible ) F 5& Al 7 #E72 = £ b 7] 41
temporary difference previously not EREE BB E
recognised (6) (43)
Effect of LAT in respect of the fair value MEEMERNTFEEEZHER
changes in investment properties THIBER S E (116,091) 13,684
Effect of LAT in respect of the write down — St %7 & 2 wE Tfhﬂl R R
of stock of properties THEER R (78,687) —
Effect of LAT for stock of properties MEFEZ THIEE %R & 1,272 512
Tax effect of LAT TH IS ER BT R 48,376 (3,549)
(Over)underprovision in prior years BETFE(BRERBBEBETR (205) 2,211
Taxation (credit) charge for the year REEHEBE @A) H (222,161) 57,432

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report



17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DISTRIBUTION

No dividend was recognised as distribution during both
years.

The board of directors of the Company has resolved not
to recommend for shareholders’ approval the payment of
any final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
Nil).

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company for the year is
based on the following data:

17.

18.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

pai3

MERSENREFEAERRDIK

KABEERTHATES R EL EIRN
HZE2021F3A31 B IEFE 2T KPR
B(2020 : ) o

BRAEAN (ER)

ARBIFEAANBIEFEERELRAN (B
B) DA TEEAESH

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FAT

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to AUTESRERER (EiE)
owners of the Company for the purpose ZARDNBEEABGEEE

of basic earnings (loss) per share A (E1E) 151,290 (672,268)
2021 2020

Number of Number of

shares shares

vk g qE 4=

(restated)

(&%)

Number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic earnings (loss) per share

RAFESRERRN (EE)
ZE BB

1,103,916,114 1,103,916,114

The basic loss per share and number of ordinary shares
for the year ended 31 March 2020 have been adjusted to
reflect the impact of the Share Consolidation (as defined in
Note 42) which was effective on 30 October 2020.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share is equal to the basic
earnings (loss) per share as the Company does not have
any dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding for both
years.

RE ZE2020F 3831 HIEFEHEFREAR
BEREBRHEDHAE KB RKR2020
F10AS0R AW KM A H (E& R
A2) M E o

R 2 B R P E 4R 34 (TR B AT A S

MBEEEERAR  RERETRN (B
B)ESRERAN(ER) B -
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

19. 15 - R RE

LPG and Furniture,
Port CNG logistics Motor fixtures
infrastructure and  vehicles and
Plant and Port andrelated  distribution and computer Construction
Buildings machinery equipment facilities facilities ~ vessels equipment in progress Total
BILABRR RE-
101 BOEER BEXARY RER £EBR
BT R¥RE BEORE HERE ARIERE i EHRE HERIE it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TRT FEx TEn TEL TRT THx TR TEL THERL
Cost RA
At 1 April 2019 R20195F4 A1 217,007 8,245 159,150 600,885 206,794 118,672 49,857 361,137 1,811,747
Exchange realignment & 5,55 % (11,379 (540) (5,603) (27,168) (18,871) (5,358) (2,553) (11,399)  (82,871)
Additions NE — - 1,482 2,602 559 1,544 4,258 67,667 78,112
Transfers B - — 595 2,509 — 629 16 (3,749 -
Reclassified as assets ~ E¥1 D8 A E

held for sales HEZEE

(Note 35) (Fi7£35) (66,016) - (37,238) (284,418) — (14,333 (3,303) — (405,308
Disposal of subsidiaries i & ¥} B 2 @)

(Note 45) (Fi7t45) (66,976) - (116,803) (294,410) —  (42,644) (11,632 (337,435)  (869,900)
Disposal RE (2,221) - (1,583) - (22,419) (7,660) (715) — (34,599
At31 March2020and 202043 A31H

1 April 2020 202064 A1H 70,415 7,705 - - 256,063 50,850 35,928 76,221 497,182
Exchange realignment & % 3§ 5,964 657 - - 21,660 3,708 2,638 12,060 46,687
Additions RE = - - - 204 2,096 3,387 167,948 173,635
Disposal BE (1,087) - - - (4,946) (4,253) (2,989) - (13,275)
Winding up of subsidiaries ff & A &5 & - - - - - (735) (5,254) - (5,989)
At 31 March 2021 202153 A318 75,292 8,362 - - 272,981 51,666 33,710 256,229 698,240
Depreciation and HERRE

impairment
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 A1 8 58,650 7,420 38,064 57,693 248,453 56,773 35,779 — 502,832
Exchange realignment [ % 3% (3,379) (485) (1,472) 2,794) (16,137) (3,158) (1,842) — (29,263
Provided for the year REER 4,441 - 4,554 8,607 16,774 4,443 2,656 - 41,475
Reclassified as assets ~ E ¥/ 18 A5k

held for sales HEZEE

(Note 35) (Fi7£35) (8,096) - (12,661) (34,108) — (7,436) (2,589) — (64,890
Eliminated on disposal of 1 & }f B 2\ &) B

subsidiaries (Note 45) %14 (55 45) (12,847) - (27,93 (29,398) - (2,064) 6,512) - (78,756)
Eliminated on disposal 7 & B ¥ §4 (2,096) — (550) — (21,549 (7,085) (667) - (31,947
At31March2020and  F22020F3A31H

1 April 2020 20206418 36,677 6,935 - - 227,541 41,473 26,825 — 339,451
Exchange reaignment [ 3 F% 3,321 591 - - 19,740 3,073 1,922 - 28,647
Provided for the year KREEZHE 7,018 - - - 15,527 4,287 2,553 - 29,385
Impairment loss HEER - - - - - - 1,280 - 1,280
Eliminated on winding up  [ff BB 22 75 & i

of subsidiaries g = = = = = (735) (5,254) - (5,989)
Eliminated on disposal & & % %1 4 (1,087) = = = (4,899)  (4,068) (2,627) - (12,681)
At 31 March 2021 #2021 F3A31H 45,929 7,526 - - 257,909 44,030 24,699 — 380,093
Carrying values REE
At 31 March 2021 20215 3A318 29,363 836 - - 15,072 7,636 9,011 256,229 318,147
At 31 March 2020 202053318 33,738 770 - - 28,522 9,377 9,108 76,221 157,731
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

20.

(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
than construction in progress, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

19. W3 - WK RE (&)

M MR (ER TR MR AN E
BUAEGANE FEMT -

Buildings Over the period of the g MM E sk
relevant leases or 50 years, 50F (AR E &
whichever is shorter B %)

Plant and machinery 10% M K2 5% 10%

Port equipment 6% AR i) 6%

Port infrastructure and 2%-20% BOERZRBEBARE 2%-20%

related facilities
LPG and CNG logistics and 4%-10% bR RRRESE 4%-10%
distribution facilities RARIT R 5 38

Motor vehicles and vessels  2.6%-20% TE R A e 2.6%-20%

Furniture and fixtures 8%—20% RERESR 8%-20%

Computer equipment 20%-33"5% EN R 20%-33"/3%

RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS 20. FHAEEE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FAET

Leasehold land HEL 46,370 44,702

Land and buildings T NEF 19,454 19,7083

Motor vehicles HE 799 499

66,623 64,904
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS (CONTINUED) 20. FRAEEE (&)

230

LLeasehold land represents up-front prepayments made for
obtaining the land-use rights related to property and ports
and logistics operations in the PRC. In addition, the Group
has obtained the right of use of other land and buildings
as its offices and business premises through tenancy
agreements, which are typically negotiated for terms
ranging from 2 to 10 years (2020: 2 to 10 years) as at 31
March 2021.

Additions to the right-of-use assets amounted to
HK$17,029,000 (2020: HK$15,317,000) during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

The expenses related to short-term leases and leases with
lease term ending within 12 months from the date of initial
application for offices and business premises that are
exempted from recognition as right-of-use assets
amounted to HK$5,618,000 (2020: HK$7,190,000) and
the total cash outflow for leases amounted to
HK$16,616,000 (2020: HK$12,559,000) during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
offices and business premises. The portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.
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F(2020: MEE+F)TE -

H E202143A3IBILtFEE  FAHAESR
ERNE 4 B A17,029,0007% (2020 :
15,317,000 7T) °

HE21F3AMBILFEE ReBER
EFEREEEZRAZERERSMZE
HAEERAHAENERA BB 12(E
AR&BR2MERBE 2 X /5618000
7 71 (2020 : 7,190,000/ 7t ) MM & 2
I 4 % 4 %8 516,616,0007% 7T (2020 :
12,559,000/ JT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
21. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 21. REYE
Leasehold
properties in Developed Land under
the PRC land  development Total
ReBEZ
HEWME ERELHE PR 1t a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
(note fifita) (note ff7#b)
FAIR VALUE AV EE
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 A1H 269,288 464,061 591,132 1,324,481
Exchange realignment fE 5 A& (9,781) (30,779) (39,663) (80,223)
Additions NE - — 6,002 6,002
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AT

(Note 45) (ft it 45) (187,217) - - (187,217)
Net increase (decrease) in fair value W44 W & NIER

recognised in the consolidated ZATE/LEM

income statement CR ) %58 (3,151) 16,554 33,260 46,663
At 31 March 2020 and R2020F3A31 B &

1 April 2020 2020F4 A 1H 69,139 449,836 590,731 1,109,706
Exchange realignment fE 3 & 5,234 34,439 41,425 81,098
Additions NE = - 2,214 2,214
Net decrease in fair value REEE W ERAER

recognised in the consolidated ZRTFEERD

income statement Pk (19,817) (117,411) (271,057) (408,285)
At 31 March 2021 R202163H31H 54,556 366,864 363,313 784,733
notes: Wi -

(@  In prior years, the Group completed the reclamation of certain land @ RBEFERN AEBTHRARTELIGES
area and obtained the certificate of completion of land reclamation T 2B TR Wi E T &
(the “Certificate”) issued by qualified project engineering and (B &+ VRN ERAEREBE ILZLE
construction manager in respect of certain land area (the “Formed BB H T ERBAE LM EFE(ZEF
Land”) in Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Upon obtaining the Z]) PREBZLEER ZEFEEXREEZ
certificate, such Formed Land held for capital appreciation had BEFELHER UOBRKARABERED
been recognised and classified and accounted for as investment E
properties.

(b) In connection with the reclamation of certain land area in Jiangsu (b) MRAPEIHFASE T IR MR IE

Province, the PRC, the Group commenced, but not yet completed,
the land leveling process (mainly representing the sand filling work
to achieve leveling of the area) (the “Land Being Formed”). Upon
the commencement of land leveling process, the Land Being
Formed that held for rentals and/or capital appreciation as
investment properties had been recognised as land under
development and classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

mME AEEERMALHFBEIR(EE
BHRAVDETUFERERRR) (FEH L
1) B ARTEK . RIS T T E TR
B SHEREMEHRBER REREELZ
FREAIIHOHERBAE SR L UM
RABRIIEREDE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

21. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 21. RE&EW (&)

232

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March 2021 and 31 March 2020 have been arrived at on
the basis of valuations carried out as at those dates by
Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group. The
management works closely with the external qualified
professional valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
and inputs for fair value measurement and reports to the
board of directors from period to period.

In determining the fair value of leasehold properties in the
PRC, the highest and best use of the properties is their
current use. The comparison method is adopted under
which comparison based on information of recent
transacted prices of comparable properties is made.
Comparable properties of similar size, characteristic and
location are analysed in order to arrive at a fair comparison
of capital values.

In determining the fair value of Formed Land, the highest
and best use of the Formed Land is for tourist and resort
use, which correlates to the zoning of the area for tourist
resort by the government. The comparison method is
adopted under which comparison based on information of
recent transacted prices of comparable land is made, in
which the tourism industry and thus transactions of tourist
land have been negatively impacted due to COVID-19
pandemic public health measures and travel restrictions,
and this resulted in the decrease in the fair value of
investment properties. Comparable land of similar size,
characteristic and location are analysed in order to arrive
at a fair comparison of capital values. Certain costs,
including government levies and all necessary fees and
expenses associated with the change of the Formed Land
for tourist and resort use to be charged by the
government, which are the best estimate based on the
latest information available to the management of the
Company, have been considered in arriving the fair value
of the Formed Land.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

In determining the fair value of Land Being Formed, the
same highest and best use and the same comparison
method are adopted and valuation has been considered
for further costs to be expended for the development of
the Land Being Formed into Formed Land. Further costs
for completing the land levelling process and other
development works as at 31 March 2021 are estimated to
be approximately HK$480 million (2020: HK$432 million).

One of the key inputs used in valuing the investment
properties are the market price of comparable land and
properties, with an average comparable land price of
RMB509 per square metre (2020: RMB658 per square
metre) and average comparable property floor area prices
ranged from RMB7,000 to RMB7,500 per square metre
(2020: RMB9,700 to RMB10,300 per square metre), using
direct comparison approach and taking into account of
the difference in the nature, location and condition. The
increase in the market price per square metre of
comparable land and properties would result in an
increase in the fair value of the investment properties, and
vice versa.

One of the key unobservable inputs is the 20% of saleable
land discount on the comparable land applied by the
valuer in valuing the Formed Land and Land Being
Formed. A slight change in the saleable land discount
used would result in a significant change in fair value
measurement of the Formed Land and Land Being
Formed, while a slight change in the other unobservable
inputs in valuing the leasehold properties would have no
significant effect to their fair value.

21.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

REW* (H)

RETFER L AFEEE  KAHE
A kaERaRERLEE  RETT
HERTEEFEPIHFERAEFEL
HUFTE A R — PR AN o B T FET
BRHEAMERE TIE 28— PR AR2021 4
3831 HHFT 4 &4.801E % 7T (2020 : 4.32
BEIT) °

BREMEGERAZEF —BHIEHA
BEAUELR L EMEZTIHER -
TRt T B BT T K AR50
TL (2020 G AR ARMEGS8TT) - FH
AhEMEEIABEEEAETHRARYE
7,000 7T E A R#7,5007T (2020 : & F 77 %
AR #9700t = AR ¥ 10,3007T) + JH{&E
BEZLEE WEEEME - B Rk
MR -AIE R EMEZEEH
KMIBER LA BEREEMELTFE
BLEH RZIFR-

RREFEL MR FERLMEERAZ
HEP AT ERAEREABE R MG ER
RABRAIE LB L 2 20% A 5 & £ b 37
EoAHELHITREMEIKSEHD
FEI MR TR L AT EABAEL
REAZS MEEMEGLESHZHEMIE
AERBARBEMES B TIEHEQT
BEBRKERTE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

21.

22.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

There has been no change from the valuation technique
and methodology used in the prior year. The fair value
hierarchy of the measurement of the investment properties
as at 31 March 2021 is Level 3. There are no transfers into
or out of Level 3 during the year. The fair value
measurement is on a recurring basis.

For the Formed Land, the Group may have to obtain
certain appropriate certificates for the disposal. Based on
past experience, the directors of the Company consider
that there is no material impediment to obtain these
certificates for the Group.

PROJECT UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The balances as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 mainly relate
to a development project located in Jiangsu Province, the
PRC. Upon commencement of land leveling process, the
intended purpose of the land development can be
determined and relevant project development costs will be
transferred at the carrying value to properties under
development for sale, property, plant and equipment or
investment properties, as appropriate.
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HEFELHWNS AEERFIREET
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BEREH -

ZXETEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N B
For the year ended 31 March 2021
EHZE2021F3A31HIEFE
23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 23. BILEE
Motor
vehicles Club and
registration golf club Land Rights of Customer
marks memberships premium operation base Know- how Total
=05
"B ) ES:S
BB ees TR E F3=¥: 1 EFE®R HWRE “st
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
(note fifi#a)  (note fifztb)  (note fifitc)  (note fifzta)  (note fifzte)  (note ffif
Cost 2
At 1 April 2019 ®2019F 4818 1,168 856 15,290 42,546 2,406 2,490 64,756
Exchange realignment [ {3 % - (52) (823) (1,761) (99) (103) (2,838)
Write-off kT - - - (40,785) (2,307) 2,387)  (45,479)
Disposal of subsidiaries & fff & 2 7]
(Note 45) (HyiF45) - - 4,272) - - — 4,272)
At31March2020and 7202093 A 31
1 April 2020 20204818 1,168 804 10,195 - - - 12,167
Exchange realignment E H & - 63 868 - - - 931
Winding up of subsidiaries i & A &))8 - (62) - - - - (62)
At 31 March 2021 R2021 3831 H 1,168 805 11,063 - - - 13,036
Amortisation 6
At 1 April 2019 »2019F4A1H - 149 10,586 42,121 2,406 2,490 57,752
Exchange realignment [ i 3% - (10) (661) (1,744) (99) (103) 2,617)
Provided for the year REEFE - 44 68 408 - - 520
Write-off ik - - - (40,785) (2,307) (2,387)  (45,479)
Eliminated on disposal of 1 & [ff & /2 &) B
subsidiaries (Note 45) %144 ({31 45) - - (841) — — - (841)
At31March2020and 720203 A31 1
1 April 2020 20204818 - 183 9,152 - - - 9,335
Exchange realignment AR - 17 781 - - - 798
Provided for the year KEER - 45 47 - - - 92
Impairment loss RIEER - 62 - - - - 62
Eliminated on winding up  fff 8 2 818 & %
of subsidiaries Eogic! - (62) - - - - (62)
At 31 March 2021 20213 H31H - 245 9,980 - - - 10,225
Carrying values BREE
At 31 March 2021 R202163A318 1,168 560 1,083 - - - 2,811
At 31 March 2020 #2020 3 A31 8 1,168 621 1,043 - - - 2,832
ENZERARAR 2021 F &
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A M ERARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZ20219F3 A31HIEFE

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@

The assets have indefinite useful lives. The directors are of the
opinion that the motor vehicles registration marks are worth at
least their carrying amount.

For the club membership in Hong Kong which has indefinite useful
life, the directors are of the opinion that it is worth at least its
carrying amount.

For the golf club membership in the PRC, the amortisation is
provided on a straight-line basis over its useful life of 17 years.

The amount represents the land premium in Wuhan and Yichang,
the PRC, upon acquisition by the Group through the acquisition of
the relevant business and the amount is to be amortised on the
same basis as the related leasehold land recognised as right-of-
use assets over 33 to 70 years.

Rights of operation represented the fair value of rights to operate
LPG business in Wuhan, the PRC. The rights of operation were
amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the period of
estimated operation and the operation licence period of 50 years.

Customer base represented the fair value of customers relationship
acquired for LPG business through acquisition of business. The
amortisation was provided on a straight-line basis over 10 years.

Know-how represented fair value of technology know-how for
motor vehicles to use LPG as fuel. The amortisation was provided
on a straight-line basis over 10 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

24, BME N TRESR

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Cost of unlisted investments in associates & & I F F Bt & A 7] 2 5K 489,271 289,271

Share of post-acquisition profits, other BEOEKEZZS  EMcrm

comprehensive income and other Wk R EMEEE OB E WK

reserves, net of dividends received & B 75,627 5,427

564,898 294,698

The unlisted investments include:

(i)  48.283% (2020: 48.23%) equity interest in Paul Y.
Engineering, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
South Shore Holdings Limited (“South Shore”, stock
code: 0577.HK), which is engaged in building
construction, civil engineering, development
management, project management, facilities and
asset management services and investment in
properties;

(iy  27.29% (2020: Nil) equity interest in Galaxy Vantage
Limited (“Galaxy Vantage”), a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of Touyun Biotech Group Limited (“Touyun”,
stock code: 1332.HK), which is engaged in securities
brokerage, money lending, asset management,
financial services and securities trading business;
and

(i)  33.33% (2020: Nil) equity interest in Maxlord
Enterprise Limited (“Maxlord”), a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of Planetree International Development
Limited (“Planetree”, stock code: 0613.HK), which is
engaged in money lending business.

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates at 31 March
2021 and 2020 are set out in Note 56(c).

FLHmRERSE:

U

(i)

(i)

» R OE OB ¥ 248.23%(2020:
48.23%) R AR Z AT REES
BEERAR(BEEE] KRG
KRR :0577) 2 E2BEMBR A - #
ERFRE - LATR BFREE-
BHEEE REREEEERBED
XKE:

7 Galaxy Vantage Limited ([ Galaxy
Vantage|) # B 2 27.29% (2020 : #& )
B ZARBBELEYRIK
SEERAR(EZ] EFERMNK
% :1332) 2 EWB AR HE
BHEERL WME BEEERE 28k
BREHFEEEK K

REALCEERARA(BLEDESR
2.33.33% (2020 : £ ) R A # E - Z
RAABREERERAR QA (E
W] HAERMDNKR 0613) 2 k2 E
MEAR tBEREES-

KNEB & E B L QA R2021 F 2020
F3A31H Z#FBEH K E56(c) °

EmEZERAERLDA 2021 F 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The financial information in respect of Paul Y. Engineering
and its subsidiaries based on financial information
prepared by management in accordance with accounting
policies of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2021

and 2020 is set out below:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

24, BENT R (&)

EBRREZERHENB ARNEE20214F
20203 AB1 A IEFE 2 8 7% & B (&
REBRERRBAESESHBERE 2HE
ERD T

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
F& T FET

Financial position: B AR
Non-current assets EREBEE 383,908 383,829
Current assets MBEE 6,668,320 4,900,504
Current liabilities RBAE (6,224,653) (4,603,421)
Non-current liabilities FERBAE (66,711) (69,884)
Net assets attributable to the owners of BERNREEARBGEEFE

the associate 760,864 611,028
Reconciliation of its net assets to HEEFHEBRBE L AAER

the carrying amount of the interest BREEZHEE:

in the associate:
Net assets attributable to the owners of BN AE AEHEEFE

the associate 760,864 611,028
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 7 £ E (B & A 51 E B fERE S

in the associate Z B 48.23% 48.23%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AREBEB 2HBEANRERZ

in the associate BEmEE 366,965 294,698
Results of the associate: BeENTEE:
Revenue U A 11,373,258 10,982,285
Profit (loss) for the year FEHEM (EE) 139,849 (221,715)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FEEMEEmEE (FAX)

for the year 9,987 (10,945)
Total comprehensive income (expense) FE2ENE (FAX) B8

for the year 149,836 (232,660)

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report
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25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The Group shares loss of approximately HK$2,072,000
(2020: profit of HK$12,768,000) and carrying amount of
approximately HK$197,933,000 (2020: Nil), in aggregate,
are contributed from other associates that are individually
not material to the Group.

Prior written consent shall be obtained from the relevant
banks in case Paul Y. Engineering has dividend payments
over 50% of the net profit to its owners. Other than this,
there are no significant restrictions on the ability of
associates to transfer funds to the Group in the form of
cash dividends, or to repay loans or advances made by
the Group.

24.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

BE QT RER (B)

EREANMEEAEETTERNZEM
BEAR AREEBaHBEEREZEH S
N B 2 518 492,072,000 7T (2020 : 3 F
12,768,0007% 7T ) K& BR M {8 %9 197,933,000
75 7T (2020 © £E) ©

N,

HWAREZXRAEREA AN EEFHE
M50% M I B - RIZB BV HERTTH S 5L
EERE Rz BERRNURESK
EAAKESBREARENEELARH
FHZERRBRNE N L EZINERR
i o

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25 S ¥ERR
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures &R IF T A LB EK K 116,238 115,038
Share of post-acquisition profits and other — # {5 U1 2% M R E b 2 M
comprehensive expense, net of dividends B - 1Kk 2 WAR &
received (7,401) 6,777)
108,837 108,261

Particulars of the Group’s principal joint ventures at 31
March 2021 and 2020 are set out in Note 56(d).

The summarised financial information below represents
the consolidated financial information of /T XM EXH
FRAT] and its wholly-owned subsidiary, #/14c42 55
AR /A A], which is prepared in accordance with
accounting policies of the Group.

AKEEZ2EZE A E D ER2021F £2020
F3A31H ZF BN 5E56(d) ©

TX 2B BEER BN TIZHERBR
RAIREZE WD RN 88 B R 5
ERRABZHZAMBEN  ZEMBER
DIERAKRE ST BRERMA -

EmEZERAERLDA 2021 F 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

25. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25 &%z (E)

(CONTINUED)
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
F& T TFET
Financial position: B AROR -
Non-current assets IERBEE 195,766 195,847
Current assets MBEE 6,217 5,067
Current liabilities mEa A (7,778) (10,909)
Non-current liabilities ERnEBEE (16,592) (19,223)
Net assets of the joint venture AEEPEEEFE 177,613 170,786
Reconciliation of its net assets to HEEZEHAECERER
the carrying amount of the interest EREEZHE:
in the joint venture:
Net assets of the joint venture AEEPEEEFE 177,613 170,786
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest K&EE (S L EFE B EERS
in the joint venture sl 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest KEBZEELERTZ
in the joint venture BEmEE 88,807 85,393
Results of the joint venture: EELEEE:
Revenue U A 12,023 10,835
Loss for the year FEEE (7,477) (3,061)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FEEMmEEYE (FAX)
for the year 14,304 (12,089
Total comprehensive income (expense) FE2ENKE (%) 85
for the year 6,827 (15,150)
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25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

IN JOINT VENTURES

The Group shares loss of approximately HK$4,038,000
(2020: HK$3,810,000) and carrying amount of
approximately HK$20,030,000 (2020: HK$22,868,000), in
aggregate, are contributed from other joint ventures that
are individually not material to the Group.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of joint
ventures to transfer funds to the Group in the form of cash
dividends, or to repay loans or advances made by the
Group.

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT
FVOCI — INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS

25.

26.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

e ERED (B

ZRENMEEAEETAE R ZEM
EELE - AEEBEHELEREZSES
21> ¥ 1B 494,088,000 JT (2020 :
3,810,000 7T ) & Bk T 1& 4920,030,000 %
7T (2020 : 22,868,000 JT) °

EECEUREBRETAKRESERER
SEFEERAEBEEL 2ERIBRNEE
NAESZ BB KRR

RAFEEFSAHMEE WS
ZEMEE-HSETARE

2021
HK$’000
FER

2020
HK$’000
TAETT

Listed equity securities, at quoted market

ERERAES  BREEZ

price in Hong Kong e 3,219 4,260
PRC unlisted equity security (note) R IE TR A FE A (B AE) 236,686 309,706
239,905 313,966

note: The investment in unlisted equity securities represents the 9.9%
equity interest in Jiangsu YangKou Port Development and
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Yangkou Port Co”), which is engaged in the
business of development of port and related infrastructures. As at
31 March 2021, the investment is stated at fair value of
approximately HK$236,686,000 (2020: HK$309,706,000).

A reasonable estimate of fair value is determined by using valuation
techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each
investment. Valuation techniques used to support these valuations
include the asset-based approach which uses the fair market value
of its total assets minus its total liabilities, and the market approach
which uses prices and other relevant information generated by
market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or
businesses.

In determining the fair value of property assets of Yangkou Port Co
under the asset-based approach, the comparison method is
adopted under which comparison based on information of recent
transacted prices of comparable land is made. Comparable
properties of similar size, characteristic and location are analysed
in order to arrive at a fair comparison of capital values.

i RIELTRABHFZEEBREEARME
BERRMEREB LG FOBRER
BERRQR(EOBRA]) Z29.9%0% # -
M2021F3A3IH  ZWERAFEEY
236,686,000 7% 7T (2020 : 309,706,000 JT )
HIBR ©

AFEEZAEGFNDERABEREEZD
SRITEERZEETEETE - BRI FZ
EREZFHESNZREAEEREA(ERE
BAERERBBEZAFHE) RHHEUE
REERSEERALAELREELEDB
XSRS MELZAMEBEER) -

BBEEEEMEZEETFABERAAIMEEE
ZRFEERN AU ELRINZ &I
MREREM REEZ LEE  HmEiE 1T
AR BE A ELBWMEETON AU
HREREBEERAFLER -

EmEZERAERLDA 2021 F 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT

FVOCI —

INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

note: (Continued)

A key unobservable input being 20% of saleable land discount on
comparable land of Yangkou Port Co to discount the fair value of
properties by approximately HK$2,069 million (2020: HK$2,699
million), has been applied in valuing the properties. A slight
increase in the saleable land discount used would result in a
significant decrease in fair value measurement of the properties
and hence of the unlisted equity securities, and vice versa. A 5%
increase in the saleable land discount (i.e. revised to 25%), holding
all other variables constant, carrying amount of the properties
would decrease by approximately HK$517 million (2020: HK$675
million), and fair value of the Group’s investment in corresponding
equity instrument would decrease by approximately HK$15 million
(2020: HK$19 million).

27. STOCK OF PROPERTIES

26. BAFPEEFSAHMEZEKS
ZEHEE-REBETARE

(&)

e

(%)

MEGHERAZ -—BEE2FATERE ALY
BABRFOBAG A A LLE L 220%0]
HE TR AEMEZ AT EENELD
20.6918 % 7T (2020 : 26.9918 /8 7T ) » Al 4 &
THITEE R A S ER W ERIELD
BAFHZAFEEAZHEERARD Kk
IR o BRI E LI £ T 5% (BI{ER]
225%) MATEHMEBERFETE - AP
2 BREE R D #5178 7% 7t (2020 : 6.75
BAEALT)RASEERNBEEZTIAREZR
FEE &R A 41,5008 7% 7 (2020 : 1,900
BT -

27. MEEE

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Properties under development for sale (note a) £ EEE W (fita) 560,159 998,953
Completed properties held for sale (note b) DX ITHEHEME (Ki+b) 349,669 523,822
909,828 1,622,775

notes:

Properties under development for sale of approximately
HK$560,159,000 (2020: HK$998,953,000) are situated in Hong
Kong and Jiangsu Province, the PRC. They comprise (1) Land
Being Formed which is developed for future sale; and (2) Formed
Land which is also developed for future sale in the ordinary course
of business.

At 31 March 2021, properties under development for sale
amounting to approximately HK$315,727,000 (2020:
HK$345,778,000) are carried at net realisable value in which
wrote-down of stock of properties of approximately
HK$500,748,000 (2020: Nil) has been recognised during the year.

At 31 March 2021, properties under development for sale include
Formed Land of approximately HK$296,077,000 (2020:
HK$669,673,000) for which the Group may have to obtain certain
appropriate certificates for the disposal of the Formed Land. Based
on the past experience, the directors of the Company consider
that there is no material impediment to obtain these certificates for
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. STOCK OF PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

notes: (Continued)

(b) Completed properties held for sale are situated in Jiangsu
Province, the PRC. At 31 March 2021, completed properties held
for sale amounting to approximately HK$349,012,000 (2020:
HK$367,180,000) are carried at net realisable value which write-
down of stock of properties of approximately HK$140,033,000
(2020: HK$18,233,000) has been recognised during the year.

The write-down of stock of properties in aggregate of
approximately HK$640,781,000 (2020: HK$18,233,000)
recognised during the year are mainly attributable to the
decline in net realisable values of the Formed Land for
resort property development and completed resort
properties at Xiao Yangkou, Jiangsu province, the PRC, in
which the tourist resort property market is negatively
impacted by the tough economic condition and the
government’s property tightening measures.

The net realisable values of the properties under
development for sale have been arrived on the basis of
valuation carried out by Asset Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group. In determining the net realisable values,
the expected proceeds from the sales of properties are
deducted by the anticipated costs, including government
levies, construction cost and all necessary expenses
associated with the completion of property development
and applicable selling expenses, which have also taken
into account the discount factor of the lengthened sales
and development cycle under current regulatory and
economic circumstances.

The net realisable value for the completed properties held
for sale represents the sales proceeds estimated based
on the comparable properties of similar size, characteristic
and location under prevailing market condition, less
applicable selling expenses.

At 31 March 2021, stock of properties includes an amount
of approximately HK$821,571,000 (2020:
HK$1,328,135,000) which is expected to be realised after
more than twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

27. MEFE (&)

Kiat - ()

b) ETIBELEDEMRPEIHGS-
R2021F3A3IH  Ec LHIEHEDE
#9349,012,000 7% 7t (2020 : 367,180,000
B IR 2R FEE HRMERFE
Z B {E M B 49140,083,00078 JT (2020 :
18,233,000/ 7T) B A F NHER ©

FRBRZMETE Z R EMRBEL
640,781,000 7T (2020 : 18,233,0007% 7T )
FTEHRFREIHANTFOHERYEE
BZEFEIHWEERIZERDEZA
BIEFETHRAS  HARBMHLEMRDR
MEFHEERATEREEIREEZRE
EMSENTEBETE -

HEEEEYEZAZRFEERHENR
SEMEBERE s BIAEBERMAERMSD
HEBEFEBRRARARETZMHE
AHE-REBEEANRRFEE  BIIHED
ERERECNERERKRAN (B EBAE
B OREBEANECSKMEERABZ —
DB ERMERBZHEER) XEE
NZAREEMEEBRERIFERER
BRZFBRAERE-

EXTIHELEMEZAERFEEER
RmBRRATHERE  HE R
AELBMEZHEMSKEGLE LR
LFERAZHEERZ

M2021F3HA3IH MEGFEBEEH
MR EHTHEEBB T ZEARE
Rz & E 4821,571,0007% 7T (2020 :
1,328,135,000/8 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEWIENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

28. LOAN RECEIVABLES

28. B E

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
The amounts, net of allowance, include: SR (kR BE) B
Fixed-rate loan receivables (note a) FEWEEFEER (K ita) 71,720 132,944
Floating-rate loan receivables (note b) FEWOFE BRI R E K (M 7Fb) - 17,175
71,720 150,119
Less: Amounts due within one year or on B —FARIEESREETE
demand shown under current assets MBEE A (56,520) (150,119)
Amount due after one year — & B BB 15,200 -

notes:

() The gross amount of loan receivables of approximately
HK$189,800,000 (2020: HK$213,800,000), before netting off
cumulative loss allowance of approximately HK$118,080,000 (2020:
HK$80,856,000), are unsecured and bear fixed interest rates from
10% to 12.5% (2020: 10% to 15%) per annum. Except for an
amount of approximately HK$15,200,000 (2020: Nil) is repayable
after one year but within two years, other loan receivables are
repayable within one year.

(b) As at 31 March 2020, the gross amount of loan receivables of
approximately HK$68,700,000, before netting off cumulative loss
allowance of approximately HK$51,525,000, are unsecured, bear
variable interest rates from 5% to 6% per annum over the Best
Lending Rate of Hong Kong Dollar as quoted by The Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (i.e. 10% to 11% per
annum) and are repayable on demand.

During the year, the Group provided approximately
HK$130,399,000 (2020: HK$124,003,000) impairment, in
particular, specific loss allowance of approximately
HK$126,674,000 (2020: HK$122,697,000) for loan
receivables which have been default and considered as
credit-impaired.

As at 31 March 2021, gross amount of loan receivables of
approximately HK$144,700,000 held by former
subsidiaries in liquidation has been fully impaired and
deconsolidated from the Group. Impairment allowance of
approximately HK$88,450,000 (2020: HK$52,072,000)
has been recognised for the aforesaid loan receivables
during the year.
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(2020 : 80,856,000/% T ) Al 2 fE W B K 42
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BITERARZELREERBENENE
FrEZECE(AEFI0EE1E) 2 FHF
Rt B WEREREE -

FR- ALK EDE I 4130,399,000% T
(2020 : 124,003,000/ 7T) 2 B BB - H
PREBAORERATEEEREZER
B R E L E R &5 18 B 18 49126,674,00078 7T
(2020 : 122,697,000 7T) °

720213 A31H » BB AIK B A A #HF
B ’) #7144,700,0007% JT B JE W B FX 4B 58
EREBRE WRIERAEEBLGE AR
FRBEMEKRERE BRI ERED
88,450,0003% 7T (2020 : 52,072,000/ JT.) °



29.

30.

31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

As at 31 March 2020, the amount was unsecured,
repayable on demand and carried variable interest rate at 2%
over HKBLR (i.e. 7%) per annum. The amount was net off
with the cumulative loss allowance of approximately
HK$8,750,000.

As at 31 March 2021, amounts due from associates of
approximately HK$82,202,000 held by a former subsidiary
in liquidation has been full impaired and deconsolidated
from the Group as detailed in Note 44. Impairment
allowance of approximately HK$73,452,000 (2020:
HK$7,350,000) has been recognised for the amounts due
form associates during the year.

AMOUNT DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE

The amount is unsecured, repayable on demand and
carried fixed interest rate at 6% (2020: 6%) per annum
and is repayable within one year.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZ202143A31ALLEFE

29. FEUN & 1 B RIE

30.

20203 A31H  BRREAEKE -
BIRBEREERNBTREREENZ N
CEBN7TE) ZZFEFAEFE - BHEHE
W R 5t 5 18 % 5 498,750,000 JT AT K 84 °

MR2021F3A31H - —HEEF RN B
A A 19 4982,202,0007% 7T HY & U B
RIREETBERE  TRIEVRAEELLS
ABR (FH18 R M 7E44) o 6 A 3k FE Ui &
A FUIE B W 5RO (8 1 1 4973,452,000%8
(2020 : 7,350,000 7T) °

3F mE B
S o D

S

Bl —EaEtERE

ZARAREER  AREBLEEMN RRE
EEFIF6E (2020 : 6/E)5H B RAR—F
NEE -

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES M. EZRHEMEWERN
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Trade receivables (note) B 5 e WER I (K i) 66,924 25,295
Deposits and prepayments S B 42,847 49,002
Interest receivable & U B 4,136 13,725
Other receivables for ports and logistics 70 R T 2 E At FE U
business BR X 862 1,081
Other receivables for properties VHEZERREE 2 HER
development and sale 8RR 32,665 29,819
Other receivables for resort project RPBEERELS 2 EMER
in the PRC AR 8,891 6,904
Disposal consideration receivable JEWHE FHERE 65,879 —
Receivables from securities brokers REBHLLHE 2 EKERK 228,461 -
Others HAtb 647 28,334
Total @t 451,312 154,160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATIJ:E;-" ENTS

mEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31ALFE

31. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 1. ESREMEWRERNR(E)
(CONTINUED)
note: As at 31 March 2021, trade receivables from contracts with Kiat : R2021FE3A31H  KEBEFAHZE S5k

customers amounted to HK$64,960,000 (2020: HK$24,412,000).
The Group’s credit terms for customers normally range from 30
days to 90 days.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of allowance for
credit losses, presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period is as follows:

U BF X 464,960,000 7T (2020 : 24,412,000
BIL) AEBEPZEEH —MKAIAE
MANRE -

PBEEAMARE NREEBAERE
YU TS PR LYy T PN
mF -

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FERT FAET

Within 90 days 90H A 10,855 5,943
More than 90 days and within 180 days B0 HEMN180H N 7,205 13,526
More than 180 days HiB180 H 48,864 5,826
66,924 25,295

As at 31 March 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$59,965,000 (2020: HK$20,238,000) which are past due as at
the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$48,687,000
(2020: HK$10,464,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default as they have no history of defaulting
on repayments. The Group does not hold any collateral over the
balances.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 47(b).

M2021F3A3IH A&EE 2 & 5 E WK
TR I B T E 459,965,000 T
(2020 : 20,238,000 70) 2 FEW BE FX - B &
HERBEAHER B SR HEHRF
48,687,000 7T (2020 : 10,464,000 7T ) &
FIHIO0A A L  ERRZEEBT ETE
TENEHZTH RETRARD - A%
B ERZEERTE T MR-

BEF G F BRI E47(0)

32. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT 32. RAFEBEZAEBEZESH

FVPL — INVESTMENTS IN DEBT EE-EEEEKXIARKRE
INSTRUMENTS HELD FOR TRADING
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Listed debt securities, at quoted market FHEBES EhmiE
price in
Hong Kong a5 43,918 45212
Overseas Rl 179,978 203,123
223,896 248,335
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33.

34.

35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT
FVPL — INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS HELD FOR TRADING

The balances represent listed equity securities at quoted
market price in Hong Kong.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, SHORT-
TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to
banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group with maturity within one year from the end of the
reporting period and are therefore classified as current
assets.

The pledged bank deposits and short-term bank deposits
with maturity date of less than three months carry fixed
interest rates ranging from 0.11% to 1.35% (2020: 0.15%
to 2%) per annum. The bank balances carry prevailing
market interest rates ranging from nil to 0.3% (2020: Nil to
0.35%) per annum.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
AND LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 16 December 2019, the Group entered into conditional
agreements with independent third parties for the disposal
of its () 90% equity interest in Jiaxing International
Container Feeder Port Limited (“Jiaxing Port”), which is
engaged in the business of port operations, and (i) 100%
equity interest in Paul Y. Corporation Limited (“Paul Y.
Corp”), which holds a 40% equity interest in Jiangyin
Sunan, at a consideration of RMB373 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$414 milion) and RMB286 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$318 million) respectively,
subject to adjustments. The disposals were approved by
the shareholders in a special general meeting held on 5
February 2020 and were completed in July 2020 (see
Note 45 for details).

33.

34.

35.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

BATEESAERR2EHM
EE-RBFEEEZTARE

BERERREEAMSREZ LHRAE

BEARTER BHRAE
RRBTRERES

BEERARTEFRERERETAKE 2 —
REBTEEMERTRITZHENR EAR
HEHTEE-FAIMEE TEALKD
BRRPEE-

EEBBRTERLIBELIR=EAZ
RERITHEARWS T F011E £1.35E
(2020 : 015 E2[E) 2 EEFI K - $R1T45
FHESFETE03E (2020 : TE0.35F)
Z TG &K o

TEABELHEZEERED
g%%#&%ZﬁEHMZE
=

2019612 A16H - REBEEE v £ =
FEINEBERERZE AR EELEE()E
BN EFRERBBEBEAER AR (53815
] HUEBAOEEED) 290%0% #
RiREEBAERABR(REAR] &
BT EE 2 40%8% 1) 2 100% % & - 1%
BBl ABANRBIT3EIL(HER L4414
BAET)RAREK286E T(FHEN43.18
BHET) HEAEEHAE - HEFEERN
2020F2ASH BT IR RFRANE L&
REER AL - I 20204 7 A R (FE15 R A
F145) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATI;EK

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZ2021F3A31HILFE

35. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 35,
AND LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2020, the major classes of assets and
liabilities of Jiaxing Port and Paul Y. Corp after elimination
of inter-company balances are as follows:

ENTS

DPERFFEHEZEERES
BERARFELHECEENBZA
& (%)

M2020F3A31H » & A 7 [ & % ¥
% REGBEIREANEEREBGEZE
ZREAMT

2020
HK$’000
FET
Property, plant and equipment YD - M KRR 340,418
Right-of-use assets HREEE 107,795
Interest in an associate —EBE AR 2 ES 243,922
Trade and other receivables E 5K E MR 18,068
Bank balances and cash IRITHETFERIR® 43,209
Total assets classified as held for sale NEABIELECEERE 753,412
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMENIERR 24,305
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E A& 169,029
Deferred tax liabilities ERERBBRE 2,375
Total liabilities associated with assets HoyEARELEEERHB B ERE
classified as held for sale 195,709
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

36. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

36. E5 K HAMEMNKRMK

The following is an analysis of trade and other payables at BOMHMENERINBRERZTER 29
the end of the reporting period: T :
2021 2020
HK$’000 HIK$'000
FET AT
Trade payables ageing analysis based on % ZHE 7 B FENER 2
invoice date: R 9 T
Within 90 days 90HN 18,139 21,707
More than 90 days and within 180 days BB 90HEM180H N = -
More than 180 days HiB180H 2,174 1,795
20,313 23,502
Construction costs payables JEERREE YD WiN 32,061 2,161
Other payables for ports and logistics EREORMTREB 2 EMER
business BRI 17,068 3,489
Other payables for staff salaries, BI%N< BARREMERNZHEM
retirement and other benefits FEATBR 3K 7,545 8,468
Other payables for properties MEZRLKEEZEMENER
development and sale 29,292 36,693
Other payables for resort project REEERER 2 EMEMERER
in the PRC 12,122 12,257
Retentions held for construction works BEEEETIREREZFRES
and equipment 10,908 11,598
Others Hh 20,653 26,012
149,962 124,180
37. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 37. 6B E
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
Income from port related services 78 0 AR B AR S 4 A 488 345
Sale of LPG and CNG products HERELABARBERRXARE D 149 235
Sales of properties HEME - 46,892
637 47,472
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

37.

38.

39.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2021, revenue of
approximately HK$49,255,000 (2020: Nil) from sales of
properties, HK$165,000 (2020: HK$111,000) from sale of
LPG and CNG products and HK$363,000 (2020:
HK$3,716,000) from income from port related services,
were recognised that were included in the contract
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year.

All of the Group’s remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers are for periods of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

37.

BHNEEE

HZE2021F3A31IHILLFE ERRARE
EFVNEHNABERRNNBEEDEZERA
#949,255,0008 7T (2020 : #) - 35 & R (L
BB R M B R R R R E @ 2 WA 165,000
78 70 (2020 © 111,000 70 ) & 78 A 48 B ik
% U A 363,000% 7T (2020 : 3,716,000 %
TT) e

AEEREFPANZHBTHERNELSF
MR —FIAT - DEEZFAETAE
MZRBERBBEVHERE LR E155
PrERFM AT HRE -

LEASE LIABILITIES 38. HEAE
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHET FBT
Lease liabilities payable: EREERE:
Within one year —F R 6,772 7,778
In the second year F-F 5,722 5,460
In the third year to fifth year inclusive E-Z2FLF(EEMERELEN) 3,060 5,082
Over five years BiEAF 3,694 1,659
19,248 19,979
Less: Amount due within one year shown i : R —E N F|HW 5 A RE A&
under current liabilities 2B (6,772) (7,778)
12,476 12,201

AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and without
fixed repayment terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31ALFE
40. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 40. R1T R H M ERK
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Bank and other borrowings comprise: RIT R EMEREIE
Bank loans RITER 360,710 391,872
Other loan HMmER 40,000 —
400,710 391,872
Analysed as: ST A
Secured A 348,876 359,229
Unsecured 4 4K 1 51,834 32,643
400,710 391,872
The bank and other borrowings are RITRHMEREEBRRNT
repayable as follows:
Within one year or on demand —FRIFEEK 229,349 190,781
More than one year, but not exceeding two #2838 — 4 » (B T @ M &
years 38,816 43,620
More than two years, but not exceeding five #B3@B/ E - 1818 7 &
years 37,869 52,781
More than five years BEAF 94,676 104,690
400,710 391,872
Less: Amount due within one year or on S — AR IR E SRR A
demand shown under current TIEm B B E 2 FRIE
liabilities (229,349) (190,781)
Amount due after one year — F % BB k18 171,361 201,091
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40. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

The above bank borrowings include fixed-rate borrowings
of approximately HK$360,710,000 (2020:
HK$345,771,000) with approximately HK$189,349,000
(2020: HK$144,680,000) repayable within one year,
approximately HK$38,816,000 (2020: HK$43,620,000)
repayable more than one year but not exceeding two
years, approximately HK$37,869,000 (2020:
HK$52,781,000) repayable more than two years but not
exceeding five years and approximately HK$94,676,000
(2020: HK$104,690,000) repayable more than five years.
The fixed-rate bank borrowings are carrying interest
ranging from 4.35% to 6.85% (2020: 5.66% to 6.85%) per
annum.

The remaining bank borrowings of approximately
HK$46,101,000 (2021: Nil) for the year ended 31 March
2020 carried floating-rate interest ranging from 3.34% to
5.61% per annum.

The above other borrowing represents fixed-rate
borrowings due to an entity controlled by a substantial
shareholder of approximately HK$40,000,000 (2020: Nil),
which is repayable within one year and is carrying interest
at 12% per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

R1T R H b 15 3K (&)

£t 8R 17 & B 3 £9360,710,0007% T
(2020 : 345,771,0008 ) 2 E B AR - &
H #7189,349,0007% 7T (2020 : 144,680,000
BIT) AR —F N EE - 438,816,000
70 (2020 : 43,620,000 7T ) 7B 7 B # —
&7 im0 N E B - 4937,869,0007% TT
(2020 : 52,781,000/ JT ) 7B IA #8 B W F
1818 F A EE - 494,676,000 7T
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BE ZETEEBRITEREN T43BER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

41. DEFERRED TAXATION 41. EEB IR
The following items are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current
and prior years:

ATEBRAFERAEFECRRBZE
EEEHEAME  AREBBER -

Unrealised
fair value
change on
Fair value debt and
adjustment  Fair value Fair value equity
on adjustment adjustment on instrument
investment on stock of  project under held for
properties  properties  development Tax losses trading Others Total
BFIEEE
BEHR
REWNE W¥ERFE BE$HEA ERIAZX
ALEE LFEE AFERE SRALEE
AR AR AR BBEER LX) Hit mct
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FTET FTET THET FET THT THxT THE=x
(note ff:#a)
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 A1H 449,870 247,298 88,374 — — 24,727 810,269
Exchange realignment fE R (29,074) (16,182 (5,782) — - (816)  (51,854)
Charge to consolidated FERRERZXH

income statement (it 16)

(Note 16) 22,131 - - - - 410 22,541
Classified as held forsale DM A®ZELE

(Note 35) (Bt 5#35) - - - - - 2,375) (2,375
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB LR

(Note 45) (Hist45) (22,117) - - - —  (19559)  (41,676)
At 31 March 2020 and R2020F3A31A R

1 April 2020 2020F4A1H 420,810 231,116 82,592 - - 2,387 736,905
Exchange realignment [ 29,752 14,013 7,037 - - 129 50,931
(Creiit) charge to mehakz (BA)

consolidated income S (ftEE16)

statement (Note 16) (184,185)  (171,430) - (39,506) 142,391  (2,245) (254,975)
Charge to other HEezEWFEZIH

comprehensive income (KiFb)

(note b) = = = = = 7,000 7,000
At 31 March 2021 R202163A31H 266,377 73,699 89,629 (39,506) 142,391 7,271 539,861
notes: B it
(a) Included in the balance approximately HK$154,552,000 (2020: @ FF A& # 2 #)154,552,000% JT (2020 :

HK$252,938,000) represents LAT arising from the fair value on 252,938,000/ 7t) A EMEAFEBEEE
investment properties. 2 T HEER o
(o)  The deferred tax charged to other comprehensive income is offset b)) HBAHMEZARZMNEEREREMES

WamKPEEAFEESARM2E RS
NWERMEENEEATEEZDHEEE-

with the corresponding change in fair value of financial assets
measured at FVOCI in the statement of other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STAfEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

41. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED) 41, R IE (&)

254

At 31 March 2021, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$654,323,000 (2020: HK$1,038,738,000)
available to offset against future taxable profits. Deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of approximately
HK$239,433,000 (2020: Nil) of such losses. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams on those subsidiaries. The unused tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$443,582,000 (2020: HK$130,271,000). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary differences as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with undistributed
earnings of PRC subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised was approximately
HK$226,579,000 (2020: HK$577,461,000). No liability
has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax consequences in respect of stock of
properties arising from the transfer of Formed Land and
Land Being Formed from investment properties are
assessed based on the best estimate of the tax
consequence upon sale of the properties directly or sale
through entities holding these properties. For those
properties which would be subject to PRC LAT upon
disposal, deferred tax on the temporary difference
between the tax base and their carrying amounts would
include PRC LAT in addition to enterprise income tax.
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M- B E RS EERRET
MBEE REA2HBEETERM
e

=

"HREH LR AEE 2 AR
B = % A& #9443,582,0007% 7T (2020 :
130,271,000 7T ) ° H R E & JE R T A
AANEKETNREEEE 2 JREET
RN BAMLEGBEANRERREEER
REBIEEE -

RWERATER  FEFBE R EERD IR
BFEEMmMEAREREERIEAE R
By 2 24 5 A %9226,579,0007% 7T (2020 :
577,461,000 7T ) o B3 7 7N & B A 475 ) 5
ElZEhRBEERE o RE EZERKEER
BreEr B RATREE - B &t
ZEERERBE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRMTE
For the year ended 31 March 2021
EHZE2021F3A31HIEFE
42. SHARE CAPITAL 42, 7R
Number
of shares Value
RHEE Kok
HK$'000
FAET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at R2019F 4 A1H « 20204
1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 3H31H &2020%F4 A1H
1 April 2020 FR010E T2 iRk 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Share Consolidation f% 10 & B (8,000,000,000) —

Ordinary share of HK$0.50 each after

FA0.50/8 7T 2 & B

the Share Consolidation (1 & 6t18) 2,000,000,000 1,000,000
Share Subdivision R% 19 9 ¥ 8,000,000,000 —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each R2021F3H31H

at 31 March 2021 FH010B T 2 E B 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:

At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and #20199F 4 A1 H - 2020%F

1 April 2020 3H31H &2020F4 A1H 5,519,580,572 551,958
Share Consolidation B & B (4,415,664,458) —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.5 each after f%0.5% 7T 2 E @R

the Share Consolidation (D& 0H&) 1,103,916,114 551,958
Capital Reduction B& 2 ) 8 — (441,566)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at R2021FE3 A31H

31 March 2021 G010 T 2 L im K 1,103,916,114 110,392
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

42.

43.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to a special resolution for the capital
reorganisation of the Company passed in the special
general meeting on 28 October 2020, the Company
undertook a capital reorganisation which comprised:

(@) the consolidation of every five issued and unissued
existing Shares in the authorized share capital of the
Company of HK$0.10 each into one consolidated
share of HK$0.50 (the “Share Consolidation"”).

(b) the reduction of the issued share capital of the
Company by cancellation of the paid up capital of
the Company to the extent of HK$0.40 on each of
the issued consolidated shares such that the par
value of each issued consolidated share was
reduced from HK$0.50 to HK$0.10 (the “Capital
Reduction”).

(c) the subdivision of every unissued consolidated share
of HK$0.50 in the authorised share capital of the
Company into five adjusted shares of HK$0.10 each
(the “Share Subdivision”).

Upon the effective of the capital reorganisation on 30
October 2020, the reduced share capital of approximately
HK$441,566,000 has been transferred to the contributed
surplus account of the Company.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

On 10 September 2012 (the “Adoption Date”), the
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2012
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentive or reward to any employees, executives or
officers, directors of the Company or any invested entity
and any celebrity, consultant, adviser or agent of any
member of the Group or any invested entity, who have
contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group or any invested entity (“Eligible
Person”). The 2012 Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of ten years commencing after the
Adoption Date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, HK$1.00 is
payable by the grantee to the Company on acceptance of
the share option offer and an offer must be accepted on
or before a date as specified in writing, being a date not
later than 30 days after (i) the date on which the offer was
issued; or (ii) the date on which the conditions for the offer
are satisfied. The directors of the Company may at their
discretion determine the specific exercise period which
should expire in any event no later than the last day of the
ten year period after the date of grant of the share options.
The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company and will be at least the higher of: (i) the
subscription price as is permissible under the Listing Rules
from time to time; and (i) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares.

The maximum number of shares which may initially be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted
under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) adopted by the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company as at the Adoption Date, i.e.
455,849,357 shares. Subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting, the limit
may be refreshed to 10% of the total number of shares in
issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of the
Company in general meeting. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total
number of shares in issue from time to time. Pursuant to
an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meetings of the Company held in 2013, 2015 and 2017,
the 10% scheme limit was refreshed to 10% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at the
respective dates of such meetings.
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43.

44.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The maximum number of shares of the Company in
respect of which options may be granted to each Eligible
Person under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including
those exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of shares in issue from time to time unless such
grant has been duly approved by shareholders of the
Company at general meeting at which the Eligible Person
and his close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) (or
his associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) if the Eligible
Person is a connected person (as defined in the Listing
Rules)) abstained from voting. Options granted to a
substantial shareholder and/or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) in any 12-month period in
excess of 0.10% of total number of shares in issue and
have an aggregate value exceeding HK$5,000,000 must
be approved by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting in advance.

No share options were granted, exercised or cancelled
during both years. Also, there were no outstanding share
options granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme as
at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

LOSS ON WINDING UP OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year, the Group resolved to voluntarily wind up
three wholly-owned subsidiaries namely PYl Management
Limited, Excellent Prospect Holdings Limited and
Merchant Treasure Limited (collectively “former
subsidiaries”), in the course of restructuring its loss making
business. As a result of the liquidation and appointment of
liquidators, the Group lost control over these companies
and they ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company with
effect from 31 March 2021.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report

43.

44.

UBBXNREZRZ ()

PAER+ =@ B H R - R IK20124F B % 4
ETEIRARRDF M E bR AR & AT
FTEAERATCERBE(REDITE
WaABEREKRTEZERE) P RZA
REIRNEE  HETFBBETRKREET
RDBE 1% RIFWLBEHABREEE R
GERATREZEEHEBA(EER LT
BAD (e BERALAEA—BHEBAL:
AIEBMBEA(EER LR MELRE
ZRERS FEESAQARBREENRHE -
PEM+ @AM mEBRE R K
BUFRTESTARESGZ2AEMBEA
(EERETMRADBEEZEREmRMSRZ
BN EBBE BETIRMBEZ0.10%k 2 E
#8385,000,000/8 L QMW EELREBSEAR
AR R RS EHEE -

RREFEFEAN - SEEREERD 17
S B sE 8 o b oh - 20213 A31H K
2020F3 A31H » B R & 2012 4F 5 Ax #&
FFEIEEm B RITE 2 ERRE -

MEARIBRZER

FR AEBZACEHABMEKR
BR=-M2EWBAR  MREEH
&3 B R A A+ Excellent Prospect Holdings
Limited & Merchant Treasure Limited (£t 78 [ A1
MEARDERER BREEREMEE
BA H2021F3A31HE  "EEBKX X
HZEQARNEHEEZELRITBAR
NAIZMEB AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. LOSS ON WINDING UP OF SUBSIDIARIES 44,

(CONTINUED)

A loss on winding up of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$8,695,000 was recognised in the consolidated profit
or loss for the year ended 31 March 2021. Set out below
are the net carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of

the former subsidiaries at the date of derecognition:

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

MERREE ZER(E)

HZE2021F3A31HILLFE  WERAFSZ
B IE518498,695,000/8 L IR A B P IE
R TREINRRIEERBHAMMER A
BERBEZEDFE:

2021
HK$’000
TET
Net assets at the date of derecognition: R IERABEEFE
Interest in an associate — g E R R 2R 9,795
Bank balances and cash RITEGFRES 8,597
Trade and other payables E 5 REMEMNER (1,797)
Lease liabilities HEaE (7,900)
Total net assets wEEFE 8,695
Amounts due from former subsidiaries in FEWCER P RIEB AR IE
liquidation 1,130,151
Amounts due to former subsidiaries in & 5 E 8 oh BT MY B A B FRIE
liquidation (1,130,151)
Net assets at the date of derecognition PR IEERBEZ EEFE (8,695)
Loss on winding up of subsidiaries MEBARE®ERE (8,695)
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44,

45.

LOSS ON WINDING UP OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2021, the amounts due from/to former
subsidiaries in liquidation were classified as current assets
and current liabilities respectively as the Group does not
have a legally enforceable right to set off these amounts in
accordance with section 35 of the Hong Kong Bankruptcy
Ordinance. The amounts due to former subsidiaries in
liquidation are expected to be assigned to the Company
upon the completion of the liquidation process to set off
with the amounts due from former subsidiaries in
liquidation. Accordingly, loss allowances were made to
reduce the carrying amounts of the amounts due from
former subsidiaries in liquidation equals to the amounts
due to the former subsidiaries in liquidation, being the
gross amount of amounts due from former subsidiaries in
liguidation of approximately HK$2,733,832,000 less
cumulative loss allowances of approximately
HK$1,603,681,000. No future cash outflow is expected
from the set off of the amounts due from former
subsidiaries in liquidation against the amounts due to the
former subsidiaries in liquidation upon completion of the
liquidation process. Any distribution from liquidators in
future will be recognised as other income of the Group.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In July 2020, the Group completed the disposals of its
entire investment of (i) 90% equity interest in Jiaxing Port,
a sino-foreign joint venture enterprise registered in the
PRC and mainly engaged in the business of port operation
in Jiaxing, Zhejiang Province, the PRC, at a consideration
of approximately RMB374,334,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$410,005,000) and (i) 100% equity
interest in Paul Y. Corp, an investment holding company
incorporated in Hong Kong which held 40% equity interest
in Jiangyin Sunan, a sino-foreign joint venture enterprise
registered in the PRC and operates the container terminal
in Jiangyin Port, Jiangsu Province, the PRC, at a
consideration of approximately RMB294,181,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$325,349,000). The disposals of
Jiaxing Port and Paul Y. Corp resulted a gain on disposal
before taxation of approximately HK$83,344,000 and
HK$57,143,000 respectively. Upon and after the
disposals, Jiaxing Port together with its subsidiaries and
Paul Y. Corp ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group, while
Jiangyin Sunan ceased to be an associate of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

(CONTINUED)

45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 45,

At the end of June 2019, the Group completed the
disposal of its entire investment of 51% equity interest in
Yichang Port Group Limited (“Yichang Port Group”), which
was a sino-foreign joint venture enterprise registered in the
PRC and mainly engaged in operation of ports, at a
consideration of approximately RMB381,220,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$433,697,000). Yichang Port Group
and its subsidiaries ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group

upon and after the disposal.

HE KB LR (8

R2019F6ARE AEB TN EEERE
EENEBEREARA(EEEKE
ED51%kiEs2HBRE REROAR
# 381,220,000 7T (48 & 1A #7433,697,000 7
L) HEBBEBR A —RRNFPEGZMZ
FHONEEDRE FEREAOZEE-FE
EEBEERENBRAANEEZRRY

BIABREAEEZHMBAR -

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Net assets disposed of: EHEEEFRE:
Property, plant and equipment Y MW KRR 339,603 791,144
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 108,265 134,556
Investment properties "EYE = 187,217
Intangible assets mEE = 3,431
Interest in associates RN b 247,375 —
Finanical assets measured at FVOCI BEAFEBEGSAE M2 @K
LEmEE
—Investments in equity instruments — R TAKRE - 321
Other non-current assets HtERBEE = 81,946
Trade and other receivables B 5 LHEMEWERR 19,150 116,141
Bank balances and cash IRITHETFE LIRS 39,356 177,502
Trade and other payables B 5 K H b FE T BR X (17,362) (111,141)
Contract liabilities AHAEE - (7,494)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JE AT FE 4% P g 2 KB - (2,275)
Taxation payable &1 B 18 = (7,241)
Bank and other borrowings $R1T R H M fE K (164,294) (428,852)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE (2,408) (41,676)
Deferred income iR E WA - (73,882)
Other payables H A BER = (18,137)
Total net assets BEEFE 569,685 801,560
Less: non-controlling interests W FETE IR A (32,471) (484,995)
537,214 316,565
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BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

45. HEME 2 [ (&)

(CONTINUED)
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR 2 :
Cash consideration HeRE 735,354 433,697
Directly attributable costs and levies BEEEBEXNEARESE (20,799) (19,975)
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE (569,685) (801,560)
Non-controlling interests JEPE R = 32,471 484,995
Gain on disposal before taxation and release B %t N st B R R Al 2 &
of attributable reserve U %5 177,341 97,157
Cumulative exchange differences in respect 2k & %5 b} 8B A 7 2 15 4 i i
of the net assets of subsidiaries reclassified mMEREH|EIE=m 2B
from equity to profit or loss on loss of RAEEFBEARE RS
control of subsidiaries PEH ZRE (36,854) (8,584)
Gain on disposal before taxation BrAi AT 2 & W 140,487 88,573
Less: taxation (Note 16) B RIE (M AL 16) (29,811) (28,065)
Gain on disposal after taxation bRt 2 b E e 110,676 60,508
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: AHEMELEZRERAFR:
Cash consideration WeERE 735,354 433,697
Less: unreceived cash consideration W R A R GRIE 2
classified as other receivable K EIR R E (63,207) -
Less: income tax, directly attributable costs 5 : FT/8 % - B EE K A &
and levies BB (50,610) (48,040)
Net cash consideration received WIS REFE 621,537 385,657
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of & : B & 2 R1T47F KIR & (39,356) (177,502)
582,181 208,155

Jiaxing Port contributed approximately HK$20 million to
the revenue of the Group and approximately HK$6 million
to the net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2021. The revenue of the Group
and net profit attributable to owners of the Company
contributed by Paul Y. Corp for the year ended 31 March
2021 were not significant.
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45.

46.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Yichang Port Group contributed approximately HK$88.6
million to the revenue of the Group and approximately
HK$4.3 million to the net profit attributable to owners of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Other reserves in relation to the above subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$32,323,000 (2020:
HK$11,546,000) had been credited to the retained profits
upon the disposal.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
acquired a group of subsidiaries from an independent
third party at a consideration of approximately
HK$27,238,000. The group of subsidiaries was mainly
holding parcels of land in Hong Kong, that were classified
as stock of properties upon the acquisition. The
acquisition had been accounted for as an acquisition of
assets and liabilities. The effect of the acquisition is
summarised as follows:

45.

46.
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HE KB LR (8

HE20200F3A31BIFE EEBKE
BARNERZWABE #8808 L &
BARRNEESB AEL G R F R E B 49430
g8

HEREBEARBEBEZEMHEHRLY
32,323,0005# 7T (2020 : 11,546,000 7T ) 7
HEBFTARSBGR -

ZERRENBARETZEE
i k&

HE2020F3A31BILFE  R&EEH —
HE B = 5 AR (E 4927,238,0005%8 Tt U
BB AR ZEMNBRAAETERESE
BEAMIE ZEHWHRRKBEIEEY
¥FEE -2WBE ARIWE—BEENE
BUWEE - ZWE 2 ElnT :

2020

HK$'000

FHET

Net assets acquired: ERBEEEFE:

Stock of properties MEFRE 80,835
Prepayments 1814 5K 8 4
Bank balances and cash RITHETFRES 13
Other creditors and accrued expenses Hih e ER R ERR X (4,536)
Amount due to a non-controlling interest JE < FE 1R B A 2 k0B (7,712)
Bank and other borrowings R1T R EH A5 5K (40,000)
28,604
Less: non-controlling interest B IEIE AR AE RS (1,366)
Cash consideration paid ERNRERE 27,238

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of assets through

acquisition of subsidiaries:

EZReREFER:

AEBKBHBARET ZEAENBME

2020
HK$’000
TET

Bank balances and cash acquired
Cash consideration paid

BUBRTEFERES
ENRERE

13
(27,238)

Net cash outflow

BEmHFa

(27,225)

ENZERARAA

2021 % 7}
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e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 47. €T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments @ €MI A5
(i)  Financial assets () =MEE
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets measured at amortised cost Z# K At EZ S REE
— Loan receivables - EWER 71,720 150,119
— Trade and other receivables —E 5 REMEUERR 408,465 105,158
— Amounts due from former subsidiaries — EYCE BRI B
in liquidation UNGIE/Q":] 1,130,151 —
— Amounts due from associates — JEURES & R B 5k 0E - 68,552
— Amount due from a joint venture —Eh—HeEErE
FIE 1,196 3,335
— Pledged bank deposits - BEARTER 7,012 11,628
— Short-term bank deposits —BHRITER 10,901 48,959
— Bank balances and cash —RITBEERRS 171,370 295,617
1,800,815 683,268
Financial assets measured at fair value BAVFEBEFECEREE
— Investments in equity instruments at —RAFEEFARM
FVOCI PENE ERTA
wE 239,905 313,966
— Investments in debt instruments held —BRRFEEFA
for trading at FVPL BaBRoBEEER
BEIAEKE 223,896 248,335
— Investments in equity instruments held ~ — Z A FEE S
for trading at FVPL BRE s REEER
BETEKE 1,337,806 191,668
1,801,607 753,969
Total @Er 3,602,422 1,437,237
(i)  Financial liabilities (i) =@MEE
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost HREEK A EY ¢ a &
— Trade and other payables — B 5 RHEMER KRR 146,965 121,060
— Amounts due to former subsidiaries in — JEREEPRIHE
liquidation UNGIE/Q: 1,130,151 —
— Amounts due to non-controlling interests — JE IR AR ME 2R TN IB 103,565 96,132
— Bank and other borrowings —IRITREMER 400,710 391,872
Lease liabilities HEARE 19,248 19,979
1,800,639 629,043
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and
other receivables, loan receivables, investments in
equity instruments, investment in debt instruments
held for trading, investments in equity instruments
held for trading, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities, amounts due from (to) former subsidiaries
in liquidation/associates/a joint venture/non-
controlling interests, bank and other borrowings and
lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.

Market risk

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is
attributable to its financial instruments that are
subject to both variable rate and fixed rate.
Those financial instruments of variable interest
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. Details of the Group’s interest bearing
financial instruments at variable rates have
been disclosed in Notes 28, 29, 34 and 40.
Financial instruments at fixed interest rates
expose the Group to fair value interest risk.
Details of the Group’s interest bearing financial
instruments at fixed rate have been disclosed
in Notes 28, 30, 34, 38 and 40.

In order to mitigate the interest rate risk, the
Group adopts a policy of maintaining an
appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate
borrowings which is achieved primarily through
entering into different contractual terms of
borrowings. The position is regularly monitored
and evaluated by reference to anticipated
changes in market interest rate.
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e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposures to interest rate risk on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the rates
announced by The People’s Bank of China
arising from the Group’s RMB borrowings and
advance at variable rates and Hong Kong Inter-
bank Offered Rate and HKBLR arising from the
Group’s HK Dollars loan receivables, amounts
due from associates and borrowings at variable
rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for variable rate instruments at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel.

If interest rates are variable and had been 50
basis points (2020: 50 basis points) higher/
lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 March 2021, would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$Nil (2020: post-
tax loss increase/decrease by approximately
HK$188,000).

For loan receivables, amounts due from
associates and bank balances, the effect on
interest rate risk to the Group’s post-tax profit
is insignificant. Therefore, the effect is not
included in the sensitivity analysis above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value
of a monetary item will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. Certain
receivables and debt investments held for
trading of the Group are denominated in
foreign currencies such as RMB and United
States Dollars (“US Dollars”) and which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management
monitors foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Certain Hong Kong subsidiaries of the
Company also have certain transactions
denominated in RMB. RMB is not freely
convertible into other foreign currencies and
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government. The Group manages its
exposures to foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign currency receipts
and payments. The Group ensures that the net
exposure to foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEWIENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Currency risk (Continued)

All of the Group’s borrowings are denominated
in HK Dollars, US Dollars and RMB. The Group
mainly draws borrowings in the functional
currencies of the entities as management
considers the repayments can be sourced from
income to be generated in those currencies.

As HK Dollars is pegged to US Dollars, the
Group believes the exposure of transactions
denominated in US Dollars which are entered
by group companies with a functional currency
of HK Dollars to be insignificant.

The Group considers its foreign currency
exposure is mainly arising from the exposure of
RMB against HK Dollars. The Group regularly
reviews the balances of assets and liabilities
and the currencies in which the transactions
are denominated so as to minimise the Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities (excluding inter-company
balances), with exposure to foreign currency

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. €T A (&)
b) eREAKREEEERBE (E)

w45 B e (4E)

(i) E¥ERGE
7N 5 B DA SN R B8 A 30 T A0
KRR EKEEREKEBE
(TERERAAIHEGR) (ERBER
REREB)RNMERATHER ZE

risk which are considered as significant by BEEMT :
management, at the end of the reporting
periods are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
aE BE
2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
FE T FAT THET FAT
RMB AR 2,099 2,006 119,039 184
US Dollars ETT - — 254,786 300,336
In addition, foreign currency denominated BE AN - AN FHE 2 A R A A
intercompany balances, with exposure to BAXEEERBERZINE
foreign currency risk which are considered as B N EcEl 2315
significant by management, at the end of the ONE
reporting periods are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
afE BE
2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
FE T FAT THE T FAT
RMB ARE® 1,674 1,542 142,369 175,294
HK Dollars BT 74,011 71,983 — —
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

As HK Dollars is pegged to US Dollars, the
Group’s foreign currency risk exposure related
to US Dollars is not considered to be
significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
is presented for US Dollars against functional
currencies.

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase in RMB against HK
Dollars and 5% decrease in HK Dollars against
RMB. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates an increase
in post-tax profit/a decrease in post-tax loss
where RMB strengthen 5% against HK Dollars.
For a 5% weakening of RMB against HK
Dollars, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit (loss) for the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. €T A (&)

(b) mLEEEBFEREEGE

i 45 i ()

(i)

B E R (&)

HBEDH
MRBTEIXTAEE  KEE
EHEBET2INERR RS
EWMATBE - Bt WEHRE
TR ER 2 BURE DT -

TERFWAEERARE LB
TLEERB NN R BT AR
¥ [E R OF V5% HE 2 SRR E o
ERNEEZEIEREASERIN
BREBE - DEA%AHRE
tbE - HRESTEBRERT
BREWUAIINERENL 2 EEIE
B r-BERBREHTERINGE
R75%FEETHE - TR
EE8BERAREL BT EH5%
I i 1% i ) 38 0T 1 5 1BUR
Do AR W BT T 5% -
HERNRMN(EBB) 28TTE
R MEFRAR -

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FE&ET
Increase in profit/decrease in loss F W 38 o0, 85 18R A
for the year 13,846 10,183
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Other price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk from its
investments in equity instruments held for
trading. Management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group’s price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities operating in
new energy vehicle and financial services
sectors. The Group has monitored the other
price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined
based on the exposure to price risk for
investments in debt and equity instruments
held for trading at the end of the reporting
period.

If the prices or fair values of these respective
financial assets had been 5% or 20% higher/
lower, post-tax profit for the year ended 31
March 2021 would increase/decrease by
HK$65,201,000 or HK$260,804,000,
respectively (2020: post-tax loss would
decrease/increase by HK$18,370,000 or
HK$73,480,000, respectively) as a result of the
changes in fair value of investments in debt
and equity instruments held for trading.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
obligations by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
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HRBEEEEEAER TR
BREZRAFEEZS  WHEH
CHMEECERIATFEEL
Ft/ T B&5%5%20% * # = 2021
FIASNBIEFEMB GG
B Ft,/ T B# 65,201,000 7% JT 5%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 47. €@ T & (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

(b) mLEEEBFEREEGE

272

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk of the receivables,
management is responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. Credit sales are made to
customers with good credit history. Credit limits
attributed to customers and credit term granted to
customers on different business units are reviewed
regularly. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on debtor
balances individually or collectively with appropriate
grouping by common risk characteristics.

Loan receivables

The Group has a policy for assessing the impairment
on loan receivables on an individual basis. The
assessment includes evaluation of collectability of
the loan receivables based on management’s
judgment on creditworthiness, collateral and past
collection history of each borrower and forward
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In determining the recoverability of the loan
receivables, the Group will consider the change in
the credit quality of the loan receivables, if any, from
the date the loans were initially granted up to the
reporting date. This includes assessing the credit
history of the borrowers, such as past experience of
financial difficulties or default in payments,
background assessment and evaluation of financial
position and performance and forward looking
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding loan receivables to minimise credit risk.
The management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to the credit risk are monitored on an
ongoing basis. Impairment allowances on
outstanding loan receivables are determined by an
evaluation of financial background, as well as
financial condition of the borrower and the
anticipated receipts for that individual loan, at the
end of the reporting period.

Amount(s) due from associates/a joint venture
The credit risks of amount(s) due from associates
and a joint venture are managed through an internal
process. The Group actively monitors the
outstanding amount owed by each related party and
identifies any credit risks in a timely manner in order
to reduce the credit risk. Further, the Group closely
monitors the financial performance of associates and
the joint ventures. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on the
outstanding balances individually.

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost

The credit risk of other financial assets is managed
through an internal process. The Group closely
monitors the outstanding amounts of other financial
assets at amortised costs and identifies any credit
risk in a timely manner in order to reduce the risk of
a credit related loss. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 47. €@ T & (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives b) tREREEEEREE (&)

274

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Concentration of credit risk

The Group has concentration of credit risks in
relation to its bank balances that are deposited at
several banks. Management of the Group considers
that the credit risk on liquid funds which are
deposited at several banks is limited, because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings.

The Group had concentration of credit risk as the
total loan receivables as at 31 March 2021 is due
from five (2020: seven) borrowers.

The credit risk on investments in listed debt
securities is limited because the counterparties are
corporations of good reputation.

The Group does not have significant concentration
of credit risk on investments in listed securities as
counterparties are brokers of good reputation.

Other than the above, the Group has no other
significant concentration of credit risk, the exposure
of which spreads over a number of counterparties.
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Concentration of credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

R B IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. €T A (&)

(b) mLEEEBFEREEGE

1= B /21 B2 2 6t 18 A7 14 ()

FESEFER )
AEBzAFEERRIRFGEE

ELATER

Other financial

rating Description Trade receivables assets/other items
Httem&EE

REEEFR iR B 5 ERERER HE B

Performing The counterparty has a low to Lifetime ECL 12m ECL

Ruf moderate risk of default and its (not credit-impaired)

Underperforming

/A ES

Non-performing
TR

Write-off

credit risk has not increased

significantly since initial recognition.
RGEF7EHNRRBRBEES

BEEERR BV LBERAK

I MR E RN -

There have been significant increases
in credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed
internally or externally.

ANEHINEPAEERBREER
B HRBARD BEILM -

There is evidence indicating the asset
is credit-impaired.
EEBELZEELREERE-

There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.

EREBRELEBALBYERENRK
M AREETEERLERD

TRIA e

2HIRHGEEBR
(I EEERE)

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)

ZHITRHEEEIE
(FEEERE)

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)

>HEBEEER
(EERE)

Amount is written off

BEH SR MH

128 AFRMEEER

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)

EHBEHEREEE
(I EEERME)

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)

2 HEMEEEE
(EERE)

Amount is written off

B HREMH

S
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 47. €@ T & (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives b) tREREEEEREE (&)
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 8 7 B R 8 5F 5 (48)
(Continued)
The table below detail the credit risk exposures of TR AKRKEBN2021F3/8318 &
the Group’s financial assets (included those 2020F3 A1 HER{TTEMEEREE
classified as held for sale) as at 31 March 2021 and FEzemEEBREIEAFTEL
31 March 2020, which are subject to ECL EZERMEE)ZEERBFEE
assessment:
2021 2020
Gross Gross
Internal carrying carrying
Notes credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount amount
12EAR2HELN 2021 2020
M &E R 15 BRTR FEFE BRE A E RERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET
Loan receivables (note j) 28 Performing 12m ECL ) 52,000 108,800
JE B S () RF 1REAEBREEESE
Underperforming Lifetime ECL 15,000 -
RiE (not credit-impaired)
2HEBEEER
(EmiEERE)
Non-performing Lifetime ECL (credit—impaired) 122,800 173,700
R 2 HIE HH1 EEB
(FER )
Amounts due from associates 29 Performing 12m ECL ) = 7,302
(note ) RIF 12EAEREEEE
JE s B % B FROEL (T ) Underperforming Lifetime ECL (not credn impaired) - 70,000
R ZHEBEE
(T EEE U@@)
Amount due from a Jomt venture (note i) 30 Performing 12m ECL 1,196 3,335
e — & & b X 508 (1 iti) RUF 12EAEREEER
Trade receivables (noteig 31 Performing Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 66,924 38,113
B 5 BRI (W &l RIF ’\%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ&gﬁ@)
Non-performing Lifetime ECL (cFedlt impaired) 18,165 20,789
TR 2HEREEER
(EEmME)
Other receivables (note iij) 31 Performing 12m ECL ) 340,224 51,593
H i 8 WO BR SR (K atiin) RiF 1REAAEREEESE
Non-performing Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 28,177 78,502
TR ZHEBEEEE
(FERE)
Pledged bank deposits (note iv) 34 Performing 12m ECL 7,012 11,528
BEBRIFER (W T RUF 12EAEREEER
Short-term bank deposits (note iv) 34 Performing 12m ECL ) 10,901 48,959
RHRTER (W & iv) RIF 12EAEREEEE
Bank balances (note iv) 34 Performing 12m ECL 171,370 338,826
RITETT (M itiv) RF 1REAEREEESR
Amounts due from former subsidiaries in 44 Non-performing Lifetime ECL (credit»impaired) 2,733,832 -
liquidation TR 2HEHEEERE
EROEZ P AN B A FRE (EERE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

notes:

)

(i)

(v)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its borrowers on the
outstanding amounts. The ECL rates are estimated based
on its credit rating, past and current default record and
current past due exposure of the borrower of which the
average loss rate for not credit-impaired borrowers and
credit-impaired borrowers ranging from 5% to 12% (2020:
from 2% to 4.5%) and 60% to 100% (2020: 50% to 75%)
respectively. Loss allowance for the amount due from a joint
venture is insignificant based on 12m ECL.

The ECL Provision for significant borrowers are assessed
individually and determined by reference to the independent
professional valuer’s assessment in accordance with
HKFRS 9 by adopting its independently selected
parameters which contain credit rating portfolio similar to
the respective borrowers, also taking into account the
historical market default records and forward-looking
factors.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance on
lifetime ECL basis for performing trade receivables at 31
March 2021. Loss allowances for the performing trade
receivables are insignificant. The provision matrix for
groupings of trade receivables is based on debtors’
historical payment pattern taking into consideration of
quantitative, qualitative and forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses historical past due experience and forward-
looking information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. Loss
allowances for the performing other receivables are
insignificant. The ECL rates of credit-impaired other
receivables are ranging from 60% to 100% (2020: 50% to
100%).

Pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits and bank
balances were placed in the banks in the PRC and Hong
Kong governed by China Banking Regulatory Commission
and Hong Kong Monetary Authority, respectively. In view of
the stable bank system in the PRC and Hong Kong and the
high credit ratings assigned by international or PRC rating
agencies to these banks, the loss allowance is expected to
be very minimal and close to zero.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZ20219F3 A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 47. €@ T & (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives b) tREKREEEHEZREXK (&)
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 8 7 B R 8 5F 5 (48)
(Continued)
The following table shows reconciliation of loss TRIWREGERER  H @Jfé U BR
allowances that have been recognised for trade o EWNE R EEUCEEE AR RIE K
receivables, other receivables, loan receivables, FEW SRR PRI E A 7 R IE ,2 2 HE
amounts due from associates and amounts due RIEEREE 2HE-

from former subsidiaries in liquidation.

Amounts due
from former
subsidiaries

Trade receivables Other receivables Loan receivables Amounts due from associates in liquidation

ERESRS

HHEAR

€5 EURH EfERER ERER ERBEARDRE HE

Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime

ECL (not Lifetime ECL ECL Lifetime ECL ECL ECL ECL ECL ECL

credit- (credit- (not credit- (credit- (not credit- (credit- (not credit- (credit- (credit-

impaired) impaired) 12mECL  impaired)  impaired) 12mECL  impaired) impaired) ~ 12mECL  impaired)  impaired)  impaired)
2HEH 2HEH 2HREH 28RS

FEER  2HEH 128 REEE 2HEH 1A  GEER 2MES  12EA GEFR  2MEY 2HEN
(t&EE FEER RBEGE (LEGE  FEEE  ROFE (LEFE GEER RBEGE (LRFE FRER  GEGR
BE) (FERE) B& HE) (FERE) & HE) (FEEE) B& RE) (FEAE) (FERE)
HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKEO0O0  HKE000  HK$00D  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TEL TEL TEL TR TEL TR TEL TEn  TEx  TEn  TEx TEL

At 1 April 2019 W201954A18 17 20,146 1,800 30 12,214 8378 - - 1,400 - - -
Transfer a5 - - (1,800) - 1,800 6328) - 6328 (1400 1400 - -
Provided for during the year ~ F A& .2 08 879 10 - 17 33,876 1,306 - 122,697 - 7,350 - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (173) (2,189 - (@7 (616) - - - - - - -
Reclassified as held BHAE %

for sale BELE (800) - - - - - - - - - - -
Unwind of discount HRERE - - - - 3614 - - - - - - -
Exchange realignment EHHEE (23) (1,228) - - (179) - - - - - - -

At 31 March 2020 and 202043731 AR

1 Apri 2020 202054718 - 16,739 - - 50,115 3,356 = 129,025 = 8,750 = -
Transfer 8% - - - - - (3,356) 675 2,681 - (8,750) 8,750 -
Provided for during the year 4 Ay i1 2 508

(note) (H#) 6 - - - 48,615 2,600 1,125 126,674 - - 73,452 -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR ) - - - - - - - - - - -
Winding up of subsidlaries [ A 5 & - - - - (75,002) - - (44700 - - R -
Unwind of discount FRERE - - - - 2,210 - - - - - - -
Exchange realignment EHHRE - 1426 - - 922 - - - - - - -
Financial assets newly HESRAE

originated - - - - - - - - - - - 1603681
At 31 March 2021 W202153R318 - 18,165 - - 26,860 2,600 1,800 113,680 - - - 1,603,681
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

note: During the year, certain receivables from borrowers, debtors
and associates have past due and default in contractual
repayment of debts. In addition, some of the borrowers and
debtors were also considered as having significant financial
difficulties. As such, the corresponding loan receivables,
other receivables (including interest receivables) and
amounts due from associates were transferred from 12m
ECL/Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) to Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired), with additional loss allowances of
HK$126,674,000, HK$48,615,000 and HK$73,452,000
recognised respectively during the year ended 31 March
2021. The Group encountered difficulties in the recovery of
debts in default and determined to recover the debts
through liquidation. Any debt eventually recovered by
liquidators in future is expected to be distributed to the
Group in accordance with the relevant insolvency laws and
regulations.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. €T A (&)
b) eREAKREEEERBE (E)

1= B 2 B2 K L 18 7 1 ()

Hiet - MER  BETRKERA - BEHAR
MENRZHRECAEREREERE
A I BEFERAREBA
MR AEEREVREEH - Bt -
HEMEREZR  EtmERER(E
FEREWF B) K EWKEE AR KIEH
12@AEREEEE 2HBEHEE
BE(TEEERE) EREE2HEY
FEEEEBUEERME)  # 5202143
AS1BIEFE D RIEREINGIBEE
126,674,000 7T * 48,615,000/ 7T &
73,452,000 7T o A & B £ W = E# 4
EBHHEBIRE YATEREEK
EERS - KRB BRAZEWKE 2 F[
EHEHEREEBARELSEZEES
BLFALER -

EMEZERAERLDA 2021 F 3R

279



280

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. There are
unutilised banking facilities of approximately HK$20
million (2020: HK$247 million) and unutilised margin
account facilities of approximately HK$74 million (2020:
HK$21 million) available to finance the Group’s
working capital requirements. The Group relies on
borrowings as a significant source of liquidity.
Management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants. The Group will also consider the issue of
equity instruments so as to finance its investment
projects.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The tables include both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting
period.
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e MBRRME

47. €T A (&)
b) eREAKREEEERBE (E)

B &R

TEBERDESCRRKE  ASBEEXR
REBEBEERATAEEZERM
BERRERCRERDNTERR
AR MEREEEEEKFE - K
SEHARE A 2 R1THE 42,000
BB (2020 1 2.47BE L) MM AR B
BZRESEFPBETELNT4008E
7L (2020 : 2,100& B Jr) A] 1 & &
BESTFR ANEBEKBERBEKXN
RBELHR - BEBERBITHEK
2R BRETERZEZHETE -
REENHEA]ERETEZTR A
HIEEEBEENR

TRFEAEEZFTESHAR
ZERNFBRIHMA - ZRIREAE
ERgFExNz&xREHZE®
BEAMRRERERE -ZRER
NMERALBAERE -EMNBREFE
BAEZART  REEREBBRTI AR
THTEERZNEEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BmRMETE
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 47. €@ I B (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives b) tREREEEEREE (&)
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REELEE (&)
Liquidity and interest risk tables REBEERAERARR
Weighted More than
average Ondemand 90 days and Total
effective  or within within  More than undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 90 days 365days 365 days cash flows  amount
MEFHE RBEMH0 HBOAE REB
WA = B M35HA #A3H REREBLE HREE
%  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TERL TERT THE=R
2021
Non-derivative financial FTEEHAE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ZHREMEN @E,T/\ - 146,919 46 - 146,965 146,965
Amounts due to former EHEEDHHEA
subsidiaries in liquidation FE - 1,130,151 - - 1,130,151 1,130,151
Lease liabilties HEEE 5.97 1,937 5593 14,667 22,197 19,248
Amounts due to non-controlling [ it JF 1% [ 1 25 508
interests - 103,565 - - 103,565 103,565
Bank and other borrowings ~ $17 R E i fg %
— fixed rate interest bearing  — & 6.87 59,941 189,191 220,823 469,955 400,710
1,442,513 194,830 235,490 1,872,833 1,800,639
Weighted More than
average Ondemand 90 days and Total
effective or within within -~ More than  undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 90 days 365 days 365 days cash flows  amount
MEFHE RBAH0 BAWAR REHR
GRS BRI F35HA #iASESH Ren=4HE KEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TEL TER TAET TiER
2020
Non-derivative financial FTESRER
liabilities
Trade and other payables EHREMEMER - 120,896 164 - 121,060 121,060
Lease liabilities HEERE 4.98 2,786 5,590 13,575 21,951 19,979
Amounts due to non-controlling & ﬁ' 3H“ % 12 25
interests SR - 96,132 - - 96,132 96,132
Bank and other borrowings 81T R A 1E 5
— fixed rate interest bearing  — E & 6.46 43,700 117,812 258,496 420,008 345,771
— variable rate interest - 3B
bearing 3.87 36,162 10,237 - 46,399 46,101
299,676 133,803 272,071 705,550 629,043
The amounts included above for variable interest B F =B E)E PN RE TS
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities BT 2R EEEHTE - I
are subject to change if changes in variable interest IESTAE S %ﬁg =\ 1;;: rviZBe T ;i\ = A
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates v & %n] Pk

determined at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STA:TEMENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:

0]

(i)

Fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured

at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate
to their fair values.

The fair value of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis.

Fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at

fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The Group has no financial
liabilities measured at fair value. The following

47. €T A (&)

(c) EMIAZAFEENE

TREENERABZATFEER

MTHRER

() LHZEEEEUAFEE
HEZSMEERSHAM
ZAFEE

(ii)

EERR REAMBEHRRT
BRBHRAARZEREENR
cRAGBZHREERLQATE
BEME%E -

ZETREERERAGEZA
FEEDRABEBEAER
RREREDITMETE -

BREEBEEL N FEMEE
ZEREERETHEBZ R
FlEE

RESHMBPTHEE  AEEE
TemEENRTEAGE -
AEBUEARFEEFEZ
TRAE. TRIEH®REBNMA

table gives information about how the fair ErZEemEEZATER
values of these financial assets are determined. HE ¥ o
Fair value hierarchy Level 1 Level 3 Total
AFEEER E—® E=R BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 31 March 2021 ®2021%E3H31H
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVPL: BERFEEZGABEZRZ
EHEE
— Listed debt instruments —BEEEZ FTES
held for trading TA 223,896 - 223,896
— Listed equity instruments —BEESE 2 FTER
held for trading TA 1,337,806 — 1,337,806
Financial assets at FVOCI: B FEEZAEMEEH
Wz e EE -
— Listed equity instruments — FHmEERIT A 3,219 — 3,219
— Unlisted equity instruments — 3 FmfEZR T A - 236,686 236,686
Total financial assets BEREE 1,564,921 236,686 1,801,607
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 47. €@ T & (&)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial (c) EMIAEZAFEETE(E)

instruments (Continued)

(i) Fair value of financial assets and

(i) BREEEELRFEENE

financial liabilities that are measured at CEeHMEERSHEBZ A
fair value on a recurring basis FEEE)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy Level 1 Level 3 Total
AFEEER £ E=#& BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 31 March 2020 7202063831 H
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVPL: BRTFEEGAERBRKRZ
TEEE -
— Listed debt instruments —BHEBEECLWER
held for trading TA 248,335 — 248,335
— Listed equity instruments —RBIEEEz LT
held for trading TA 191,668 — 191,668
Financial assets at FVOCI: A FIEEFGAEMEEH
WeaszzFEE -
— Listed equity instruments —mERTE 4,260 — 4,260

— Unlisted equity instruments  — FE ETT#EZ T A

— 309,706 309,706

Total financial assets BEMEE

444,263 309,706 753,969

note:

Level 1:  The fair values of the financial instruments
traded in active markets are based on quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market prices used for financial
assets held by the Group are the current bid
price.

Level 3:  the fair values of the financial instruments are
based on Level 3 measurement (as detailed in
Note 3) using the valuation techniques described
in Note 26.

There were no transfers between the different levels of the
fair value hierarchy for both years.

et

F—H: EEBTHEBRZERT
A -HEAFEENRZHRHE
MER 2 TISMEREE - A
SEMFAEMBEEMRA
TS RERRITERME -

Bt
[
2

CeRMIAZATFEEDER
F=BFAE(FBEEMEI)
5 FA BT 5L 26 P it 2 1 (B £
o

HREFEME  ATFTEESER2ZE
BEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

(iii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

47. €T A (&)
c) EMI Az A FEEE(H)

(i) BT RAZE=R - FEHE

measurement of financial instruments FTEZHER
Unlisted
equity
instruments
kLR
I8
HIK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2019 R2019F 4 A1 H 360,889
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 45) HEMB QT (K E45) (321)
Loss on revaluation recognised in other R HE M2 E WS HER 2 EfLEE
comprehensive income (50,855)
Exchange realignment & % (7)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 202053 A31 H & 2020F 4 A1 H 309,706
Loss on revaluation recognised in other REME2EWFER ZEHER
comprehensive income (73,020)
At 31 March 2021 M2021F3H31H 236,686
Included in other comprehensive income is FAREMEERWSE 2 EGE

revaluation loss of HK$73,020,000 (2020:
HK$50,855,000) relating to unlisted
investments in equity instruments using Level 3
measurement held at the end of the reporting
period and is reported as changes in
investment revaluation reserve.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

48. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

48. MEEBHELE2REBEHK

TRAAGSERELTDELZABEDH
B BRASIFREEH RELHE
HZBEDNRASREIARAKBESRER
AEEGARERERTOIELARELD
BeRn8zBE-

activities.
Amounts due
to non- Bank and
Lease controlling other Interest
liabilities interests  borrowings payable Total
PE 1S FE1E R 48 RITR
HESE TR IE Hi g™ EARE M
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FAT
At 1 April 2019 201944 418 9,964 95,683 1,044,284 6,686 1,156,617
Financing cash flows BERESRE (6,364) 1,179 (51,497) (46,000) (102,682)
Finance costs capitalised # £ & 75 2 b & B 28 - — - 16,805 16,805
Finance costs (note) BER A (FF ) 590 — — 23,222 23,812
Addition NE 16,300 — — — 16,300
Reclassified as held for  E# 0 8 A#F1E
sale (Note 35) & (B 535) - - (169,029) - (169,029)
Disposal of subsidiaries & K B A &
(Note 45) (Wt 5 45) _ (2,275)  (428,852) - (431,127)
Acquisition of assets FEBUWEN B QA
through acquisition of #7172 & & W&
subsidiaries (Note 46)  (H1it46) - 7,712 40,000 - 47,712
Exchange realignment [ 5, 8 & (511) (6,167) (43,034) (60) (49,772)
At 31 March 2020 and 120203 A31H
1 April 2020 2020 4 A1H 19,979 96,132 391,872 653 508,636
Financing cash flows MERSRE (10,803) - (20,117) (26,906) (67,826)
Finance costs capitalised #{E& 7 7 & & B A& — — - 10,886 10,886
Finance costs BE KA 961 - — 16,648 17,609
Addition NE 17,029 - — — 17,029
Termination of lease RIEREAR
contracts (803) — — — (803)
Winding up of [(IPENEINEE S
subsidiaries (7,900) — — — (7,900)
Exchange realignment & i, 3 2 785 7,433 28,955 49 37,222
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31H 19,248 103,565 400,710 1,330 524,853

note: Finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2020 excluded
imputed interest expense on other payable of HK$193,000 (2021:
Nil).

Bt - B E2020%F3A3IBIEEE  MEXATE
5 E fth FE 5 BR 5% 2 H#E & R B 5 2 193,000
Je (2021 @ ##) ©
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49. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group joins defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes for qualifying employees. The assets of the
schemes are separately held in funds under the control of
trustees.

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the PRC government. The
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute a
specified percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is
to make the specified contributions.

The cost charged to the consolidated income statement
represents contributions paid and payable to the funds by
the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.
Where there are employees who leave the schemes prior
to vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions
payable by the Group may be reduced by the amount of
forfeited contributions in accordance with the rules of the
schemes in that jurisdiction.

At the end of the reporting period, there were no material
forfeited contributions which arose upon employees
leaving the schemes prior to their interests in the Group’s
contributions becoming fully vested and which are
available to reduce the contributions payable by the Group
in future years.

The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme
(“MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is registered with the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at the rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.
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49.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE
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49.

50.

51.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from
the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated income
statement represent contributions paid and payable to the
funds by the Group at the rates specified in the rules of
the scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total retirement
benefit scheme contributions charged to consolidated
income statement amounted to approximately
HK$2,389,000 (2020: HK$3,238,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITY
As at 31 March 2021, the Group has no contingent liability
(2020: Nil).

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as a lessor:

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of
investment properties and stock of properties are as
follows:

49.

50.

51.

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

iR k8 F 5T & (&)

A 9% T8 & 71 &) M 1F 2 R AR AE I FF &I 5K
BERAKMERMNEG  HER A KBRS
BRAFTHAZEEMESE N REMNZH#

B
N

HE2021FE3A3IBIEFEE  REAIWE
FATHZEREBEIAEHRAENA
2,389,000 7T (2020 : 3,238,000/ JT) °

FREE

R2021F3A31H  AEBEWELAEE
(2020 : #&) -

KREHERE

REBEEHHAA

BREMEIMEFEHEZBRREER S
I

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Within one year —F R 1,515 1,136
In the second year B F 866 927
In the third year E=F 394 329
In the fourth year Eiig:s - 104
2,775 2,496
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATE ENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

52. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 52.

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets
were pledged to banks and financial institutions to secure
the general credit facilities granted to the Group:

EEER

RmERTER - THNEECER TR
LEBHE  FRAKERGE —REER
BZEM:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Property, plant and equipment YD - M KRR 234,807 67,433
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16,997 8,867
Bank deposits RITHER 7,012 11,528
Stock of properties MEFE 277,587 405,146
Intangible assets BmRAE 1,083 —
537,486 492,974
53. COMMITMENTS 53. &I
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Expenditure contracted for but not provided FLUEEIA FEE EF] HE XD
in the consolidated financial statements in G & MR xR N EE 2 X -
respect of acquisition of:
— Property, plant and equipment — W M N R 27,499 114,761
— Investment properties —REWHE 3,692 2,469
31,191 117,230

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

54. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 54, BB ALRF K &sk

BALANCES

(@ Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated @ BKREeVBHRREMBIBKEE
financial statements, the Group also entered into the N R RNE B N EE T B
following significant transactions with certain related TRV TERRS -
parties during the year:

Class of related party Nature of transactions/balance 2021 2020
BEALZES RE/HEHHEE HK$°000 HK$’'000
TET FET
(i)  Associates of the Group Interest charged by the Group 4,900 4,965
RNEE 2B E R A 7N 52 E WELF B
(i) Entity controlled by senior Service fees charged to the Group 476 587
management (note)
ARERABEHCE REBXZNREE (M)
(i)  Entity controlled by substantial Interest charged to the Group 263 —
shareholder (note)
FTERRFHIER RNE B X R B (FaE)
note: These transactions constituted the de minimis connected Hfat - ; %; XHEK ETR EIJ E % %
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules. =K EA K e &
Other than the related party transactions set out in B F XM 5ES4@) FTE 2 BB A X
the Note 54(a) above, none of the related party S0 BME FXFE I BBALRS
transactions disclosed above constituted connected B ETRANMAEZEERS
transactions or continuing connected transactions HERERTS
as defined in the Listing Rules.

(o)  The remuneration of directors and other members of b) ZEFRKEM I E EREEXREZHE
key management, which is determined by the TDTHFMZESLX2ZEIAEZER
remuneration committee having regard to the W ETEEE ﬁﬁ?z T RN
performance of individuals and market trends, is as
follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FET

Short-term benefits % EAE A 15,729 19,619
Discretionary bonus B 15 TE 4L 939 60,739
Post-employment benefits RN F 589 838
17,257 81,196

(c) Details of the balances with associates and a joint (© MNBEHTER  BEE R Na K —FH
venture at the end of the reporting period are set out AR EZESEB Y BE M
in Notes 29 and 30 respectively. F29 %30 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

55. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 55 ZA TR AT R EE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries SR R/NCT I 56,985 56,985
Amounts due from subsidiaries & WY B A B FRIE 1,164,269 1,119,067
1,221,254 1,176,052
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE WP B A Rl IR 1,399,128 1,790,135
Amounts due from a former subsidiary in W — /BRI B QA
liquidation HIE 525,444 _
Other receivables H fth B AR 3K 764 1,366
Short-term bank deposits RERITER = 16,917
Bank balances and cash RITHESBR MRS 1,157 3,079
1,926,493 1,811,497
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H b FE AR 3K 4,133 2,743
Other borrowings — due within one year —F R B E 7 HE A& 40,000 —
44,133 2,743
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 1,882,360 1,808,754
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,103,614 2,984,806
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRFE
Share capital B& 2 110,392 551,958
Reserves (note) ®E ) 2,993,222 2,432,848
TOTAL EQUITY HMEER 3,103,614 2,984,806
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55. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 55,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

RDT 2 M BRI R R E

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (#8)
(CONTINUED)
note: B st -
Contributed
Share premium surplus Retained profits Total
% 17 3% B BB R R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2019 #H2019F 4 1 H 544,511 — 1,998,373 2,542,884
Loss for the year FEEIE — — (110,036) (110,036)
At 31 March 2020 and MR2020F3 A31 8 &

1 April 2020 20204 A1 H 544,511 — 1,888,337 2,432,848
Profit for the year FEHR — — 118,808 118,808
Capital reorganisation (Note 42) P& 7R B 48 (Hf 51 42) — 441,566 - 441,566
At 31 March 2021 ®2021F3 A31H 544,511 441,566 2,007,145 2,998,222
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 56. TEHEBAR BEARRS

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT EhEER
VENTURES
(@ Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at @ ARAEXENREBRTNR22021F &

31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 20203 HA31H ZFEHBWT ¢

Place of Percentage of issued
incorporation/ Issued and fully share capital/registered
registration/ paid up capital/ capital attributable to  Principal
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Group activities
gL/ BETRBRRA/ AEEREESRTREA/
WELRERE S/ B aZfER AMEREDL TEER
2021 2020
% %
Glory Well Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
BlEER A BN ordinary shares REER
10,0007 7T
)
Jiangsu Wanhua Real Estate  The PRC RMB70,000,000 75 100 Development, investment
Development Co., Ltd. F (2020: US$8,800,000)  (note (ii) (note () and sale of properties

registered capital below) below) MEER - HERHEE
(note (i) below) (FX (TX
AR¥70,0000007  KEEE() B ()
(2020 : 8,800,000% 7T)

(“Jiangsu Wanhua”)
IHSERMERE
ARRA(NI&HEE])

292

AfER
(T X 2 i)

Jiangsu Yangtong Investment  The PRC US$123,880,000 75 75 Development, investment,
and Development Co., Ltd. & (2020:US$100,000,000) sale and leasing of
(“Jiangsu Yangtong”) registered capital properties, developed

IHERRABEREARAT (note (i) below) land, land under
(ha-3=3 1) 123,880,000 & development and

(2020 : 100,000,000 projects under
E7) development
RRUE-¥ M BERELIH BEFR
(T Kt (i) T RAERER 2
RE RE HERME

Jiaxing Feeder Port Hong Kong HKS$1 100 100 Ports operation and
Investment Limited Bk ordinary share infrastructure investment

FERNTEREERAR 1B BOZERERRE

Ll

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report



56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)

(@)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows: (Continued)

R B IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

56. TEMR AR BEQIARSE

EREN (B

@ ARBEENEBRFNR2021F K&
20203 A31H ZFHBMT « (&)

Place of Percentage of issued
incorporation/ Issued and fully share capital/registered
registration/ paid up capital/  capital attributable to  Principal
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Group activities
AL BRTRBRRA AEEREESRTREA/
WEARER g/ EERY ZfER ZMERBD L TEEH
2021 2020
% %
Jiaxing International The PRC RMB262,800,000 - 90 Port operation
Container Feeder Port # registered capital  (note (iv) BO&E
Limited (note (i) below) below)
= E T BB R AR AR®262,8000000 (FXHE
BRRAE i E AR (iv)
(T i)
Nation Cheer Investment Hong Kong HK$1,200,000 100 100 Securities investment
Limited e ordinary shares BEARRE
SEREARAF 1,200,000 7T
LB G
Smart General Corporation ~ Hong Kong HK$1 75 75 Property Development
Limited 6 ordinary share MEERE
ERERAR 18T
il
Sunny Long Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 75 75 Property Development
EHARAA BE ordinary share MEER
18T
LR G
Paul'Y. Corporation Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Ports operation and
RESERRAA B ordinary shares ~ (note (iv) infrastructure investment
28T below) BO2ERERRE
Lakit (FXHF
(iv)
ENZERARAR 2021 F W
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

56.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)

(@) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows: (Continued)

EEHE A

EXER (H)

@ ARBEENEBRFNR2021F K&
20203 A31H ZFHBMT « (&)

Place of Percentage of issued
incorporation/ Issued and fully share capital/registered
registration/ paid up capital/  capital attributable to  Principal
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Group activities
AL ERTRBERE/ FEERECRTRE/
WEARER g/ EERY ZfER ZMERBD L TEEH
2021 2020
% %
Paul Y. Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
e ordinary shares RERR
2B
TR
PYI Investment (Wuhan) Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
Limited EB ordinary shares RERK
RERE(RE)ERAR 2B
eS8
PYI Management Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of management
REEEEEARATA e ordinary shares ~ (note (v) services
28T below) RETERY
Lkt (FXHZ
v)
PYI Min Sheng Investment Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Bk ordinary shares REER
REREREBRAT 2B
LER R
PY! Properties (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
REFEFB)ARAA BE ordinary share BREER
BT
TR D

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 56. T EMEAR HB2A7RE
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT EhEER(E)

VENTURES (CONTINUED)

(@)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows: (Continued)

@)

K7 E£EBHE QA R2021F K
20203 A31H ZFHBMT « (&)

Place of Percentage of issued
incorporation/ Issued and fully share capital/registered
registration/ paid up capital/ capital attributable to  Principal
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Group activities
ML ERTRARKE/ AEEEEERTRE/
WEAREE S/ B aZfER AREXAEIH TEER
2021 2020
% %
PYI Xingdong Properties The PRC US$20,000,000 100 100 Development, investment
(Jiangsu) Limited F registered capital and sale of properties
REARBE(IH) BRAA (note (i) below) MEER RERHEE
20,000,000% 1T
A AR
(FxHiz()
Treasure Capital Finance Hong Kong HKS$1 100 100 Provision of credit services,
Limited EB ordinary share securities trading and
BEREAUBERRA 18T investment
TR REEERE  BFEER
RE&
Hubei Minsheng Liquefied The PRC US$41,000,000 100 100 LPG, CNG and LNG
Petroleum Gas Limited F registered capital distribution and logistics
HERERBRIEIBRA (note (i) below) BILRHRE  BERARR
fl 41,000,000% 7T BAERARR D HRIR
(FxHiz)
W RERFERR The PRC US$61,483,282 100 100 LPG and natural gas
BRBERATF & (2020: US$18,950,000) technical research and
registered capital development
(note () below) RICEBRRRRARE
61,483,282 7T MAERkER
(2020 :
18,950,000% 7T
FAMER
(T HFg)
HRtLEEEEARRAR  ThePRC RMBA45,000,000 75 75 Development, investment
F registered capital and sale of properties
(note (i) below) MEER REREE
AR #45,000,0007T
FMER
(FXHF )
ENZRAERA T 20214 #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEWI-ENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)

(@)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows: (Continued)

K7 E£EBHE QA R2021F K
20203 A31H ZFHBMT « (&)

@)

Place of Percentage of issued
incorporation/ Issued and fully share capital/registered
registration/ paid up capital/ capital attributable to  Principal
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Group activities
ML ERTRARKE/ AEEEEERTRE/
WEAREE ot/ EEEY aZfER AREXAEIH TEEHR
2021 2020
% %
IE/NEOERFEEERAR The PRC US$14,700,000 51 51 Development of recreational
# registered capital facilities
(notes (i) and (ii) below) RERHEE R
14,700,000% 7©
AMEX
(T 2 6) % i)

All of the above subsidiaries are limited companies
indirectly held by the Company.

notes:

0] Being the wholly-foreign-owned-enterprises.
(ii) Being the sino-foreign equity joint ventures.
(iii) As at 31 March 2021, the registered capitals of Jiangsu
Wanhua and JT#/)\FFORRFAZEGR AT were paid up

to RMB69,778,163 (2020: US$8,800,000) and
US$14,700,000 (2020: US$10,000,000) respectively.

(v)

These companies ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company as a result of the disposals detailed in Note 45.

The Company lost control over the company as a result of
the liquidation detailed in Note 44.

296 Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report
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BEREZERRAA-

et
0) WERRRIEEEDE -

(ii) WERRRBFIIEELERE -
MR2021F3A31H » T & & 2= KT
HNFOBRAZRERAA ZEM
EA DR B # AR 69,778,163 T
(2020 : 8,800,000 7t ) K& 14,700,000
% 7.(2020 : 10,000,000 JT) B 7K °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)

(@)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows: (Continued)

Remark: Except for the subsidiaries as disclosed in note (iii), the
registered capital of all principal subsidiaries registered
in the PRC were fully paid up during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has
other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group.
A majority of these subsidiaries are engaged in
investment holding and corporate services, which
operate in Hong Kong and the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities at the end of the year.

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

56. TEMEBAGE BMERIAANRE
EhEEHR (&)

@ ARBEENEBRFNR2021F K&
20203 A31H ZFHBMT « (&)

Eat RN E BRI A
RPBEEMzEIZ2MELARE R
20216 2202043 A1 B L FERE
BREAMER -

RBEEHZER  ARBHEAEMY
AEEMETBERZHMBRR - Z
FHBARIABOREREZERR
EERE REERTPEZE-

14 B 2 ) 0 8 R B 17 £ 47 18
BES -

b AEBHEEEAFEREZZIIEZR

Group that have material non-controlling interests: B R AT 2 S
Principal Voting rights held by Profit (loss) Accumulated
place of non-controlling allocated to non- non-controlling
Name of entity business interests controlling interests interests
FEREREE IEEFERESR
EREB TEEXNBE ZRERE ZaA (BE) Rt FERER
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET TFER TER
Jiangsu Yangtong The PRC 25% 25%  (84,115) 1,856 292,496 305,798
LERF B H
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests (17,715) 5457 41,416 69,132
BRFERERZERNEER
LN
(101,830) 7,313 333,912 374,930

EmEZERAERLDA 2021 F 3R

297



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Group that have material non-controlling interests:
(Continued)

Summarised financial information in Jiangsu
Yangtong is set out below.

b AEEHEBEERFZEREBDZFER
BEMBRRZFE (B)

TEFBRZBAMBERDT

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Results of the entities: BEERREE
Revenue A 83,248 —
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to Z E 2% B A E(EFE (B1E)
owners of the entity el (336,462) 7,423
(Loss) profit for the year, attributable to LA T~ A+ FE(5 & [E (E18) % F
— owners of the Company i N/NCTE =N (252,347) 5,567
— non-controlling interests holding —BERERBIFERES
the entity (84,115) 1,856
(336,462) 7,423
Other comprehensive income (expense), LA T A =+ F& {5 H b 2 [ Uk 25
attributable to (AX)
— owners of the Company —RRFBIEB A 77,337 (63,988)
— non-controlling interests holding —BERERBIFERES
the entity 25,778 (21,329)
103,115 (85,317)
Total comprehensive expense, IWTALEGEZEMAS B
attributable to
— owners of the Company —ARREEB A (175,010) (58,421)
— non-controlling interests holding —BEZERBIFERES
the entity (58,337) (19,473)
(233,347) (77,894)

298 Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 56. TEHEBAR BEARRS

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT EhEER (F)
VENTURES (CONTINUED)
(o) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the b)) AEEHEBEAFEREZZIESR
Group that have material non-controlling interests: BB AR ZFFE - (8)
(Continued)
2021 2020
HK$’000 HIK$'000
FET AT
Financial position: BB -
Non-current assets ERBEE 942,027 1,234,818
Current assets MENE E 1,028,278 1,434,356
Current liabilities mEEE (339,929) (647,833)
Non-current liabilities FRBBEE (460,392) (798,149)
1,169,984 1,223,192
Equity attributable to T ATEAER
— owners of the Company —RRBIEB A 877,488 917,394
— non-controlling interests holding —BEZER IR ERS
the entity 292,496 305,798
1,169,984 1,223,192
Cash flows: BeRE -
Net cash outflow from operating LEEB 2R/ R FE
activities (28,033) (1,992)
Net cash outflow from investing WEES RS R FRE
activities (92,743) (2,818)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing Bt & &8 2 /&R A R L)
activities FE 130,656 (5,682)
Effect of foreign exchange rate INISTE Rpg B &
changes 2,841 (1,051)
Net cash inflow (outflow) RERAORH) F8R 12,721 (11,543)

ETZERAEMRAT 20214% 299



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 56. TEHEBAR BEARRS

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT EhEER(E)
VENTURES (CONTINUED)
(c) Particulars of the Company’s principal associates © ARFBEBEFEZIARAEERS

indirectly held by the Company at 31 March 2021 N B 2021 F K2020F3A31H 2

300

and 2020 are as follows:

HBEWMT

Percentage of

Issued and issued share
Place of fully paid  capital/registered
incorporation/ up capital/ capital attributable
Name of associate registration registered capital to the Group Principal activities
AEBMELS BT
& A 2 ERTRAZRE . REEMER
BHEARER & 11 3t B RIS Bak FTEEHK
2021 2020
% %
Paul Y. Engineering Group British Virgin HK$122,055,900 48.23 48.23 Investment holding in
Limited Islands ordinary shares companies engaged in
REREEBEGRAQA HKBELEE 122,055,900/ 7T L provision of comprehensive
% A% 17 engineering and property
related services
REFBRERHEZEL
BEDERBREZ A
A
Maxlord Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$225,495,157 33.33 — Money lending
HETEERAF B ordinary shares WE
225,495,157 % 7T & i
% A% 17
Galaxy Vantage Limited British Virgin HK$900,393 27.29 — Investment holding in
Islands ordinary shares companies engaged in
REBELESE 900,393 7T & 1@ securities brokerage,

% % 17 money lending, asset
management, financial
services and securities
trading businesses

REFBEREZFEL N
B-EEER ©®
REEEFEEEHKZ
NG
Jiangyin Sunan International The PRC RMB400,000,000 - 40 Port operation
Container Terminal Co., Ltd s registered capital  (note (ii) BOBE
IR B R R AG TS5 (note (i) below) below
BRERQE A B # 400,000,000 7T (FxX
HMER  HE ()
(FXHt ()
notes: Wit

(

) Being the sino-foreign equity joint venture.

(ii) The company ceased to be associate of the Company as a
result of the disposal detailed in Note 45.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HZE2021F3A31HIEFE

56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 56. TEHEBAR BEARRS

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT EhEER (F)
VENTURES (CONTINUED)
(d) Particulars of the Company’s principal joint ventures d ARAETELGZDFER20021F &
at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 20203 A1 H BT ¢
Percentage of
Issued and issued share
Place of fully paid capital/registered
incorporation/ up capital/ capital attributable
Name of associate registration registered capital to the Group Principal activities
AEBEELS BT
HEmRL ERTRAZKRE RE/EZMELR
BENE A8 o i 3th 24 iR N Bol FTEER
2021 2020
% %
MIEBEXBRAR The PRC RMB53,000,000 50 50 Investment holding
Gl registered capital & & ER
(note below)
A R #53,000,0007C
AfER
(FXHiaE)
N FESERHE B AR A A) The PRC RMB10,000,000 50 50 Property holding
H registered capital BEME
(note below)
A R %10,000,0007T
EERIEEWIN
(Fxhz)
note: Being the wholly-foreign-owned-enterprises. Kt - WE AR AEINEBEDE -
The above tables list the subsidiaries, associates and FtERAWABEEREAETITELELRE
joint ventures of the Company which, in the opinion FEXEBEREKARNER AL E
of the directors, principally affected the results for EFEZARANB AR  BE AT
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net EABCE -RNRDNAIEERE 575
assets of the Group. To provide details of other Hm B AR HEe nahashE
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures would, in Z7ERBSERBILE -

the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
excessive length of particulars.

ENZERAERAR 2021F® 301



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HIEFE

57. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 57. AfEHE2EE

302

PERIOD

On 13 April 2021, the Group subscribed convertible
bonds issued by Imagi Brokerage Limited in the principal
amount of HK$100,000,000 which bears interest at the
rate of 5.5% per annum. Further details of the subscription
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
13 April 2021.

On 21 April 2021, the Group subscribed convertible
bonds issued by Co-Lead Holdings Limited in the principal
amount of HK$100,000,000 which bears interest at the
rate of 6% per annum. Further details of the subscription
were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated
21 April 2021 and 4 June 2021.

On 1 June 2021, the Group has received an irrevocable
and unconditional assignment of the voting rights of a
block of approximately 10% shareholding (the “Voting
Rights”) in Paul Y. Engineering from an independent third
party at nil consideration. As at 31 March 2021, the Group
held approximately 48.23% of the entire issued shares of
Paul Y. Engineering and Paul Y. Engineering was
accounted for as interest in associates of the Group. Upon
accepting the assignment of the Voting Rights, the Group
is entitled to exercise a total of approximately 58.23%
voting rights at any general meetings of Paul Y.
Engineering’s shareholders and thus obtained control of
Paul Y. Engineering without transferring consideration.
Accordingly, Paul Y. Engineering becomes a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. The acquisition method of
accounting would be adopted and the financial statements
of Paul Y. Engineering would be consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group starting
from 1 June 2021. Because the acquisition of Paul Y.
Engineering was effected shortly before the date of
approval of financial statements, it is not practicable to
disclose further financial impact on the acquisition. Further
details of the voting right assignment were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 1 June 2021.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2021 Annual Report

MR2021F4A13 A E B U X & @
#5100,000,0007%% 7T 7 & Imagi Brokerage
Limited 217 F F| & 55.5% 2 A] R (& 5 o
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RIAEA2021F4A13A 2 RE -

MR2021 4218 REBEUAXE &
100,000,000% 7T # E& Co-Lead Holdings
Limited BT F FI K B6% 2 AT BRES - B
BAREEFENE —SPHBEEEERAAF
HEIA2021F4A21 B R2021F6 848 2

YN

R202166 A1 A5EEE —BEILE
SHEERES BREZENIO0NREZ
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A E R A g o PR2021 3 A31H -
AEBBFEREZEZBERTROZH
48.23% ' MRERFEW I AR A EE 21
ERAEDS RENEEZRREEE
AEBBEERREZETARRARAE LT
fF & £ 4958.23% 1% /- i AN & B LI &
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3ASIBLEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T T FET T FET THERT

RESULTS
Revenue

ES
YA

563,977 624,400 628,368 363,929 277,287

Profit (loss) before taxation
Taxation

B A5 A A1) (85 18)
BiIA

(22,701) 714,220 89,084 (507,523) (172,701)
(1,318) (212,461) (24,728) (57,432) 222,161

Profit (loss) for the year

F = A (B 1R)

(24,019) 501,759 64,356 (564,955) 49,460

Attributable to: FEAS ¢
Owners of the Company PiN/NESIE SN (34,143) 477,390 49,208 (572,268) 151,290
Non-controlling interests e AR = 10,124 24,369 15,148 7,313 (101,830)
(24,019) 501,759 64,356  (564,955) 49,460
At 31 March
M3H31H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FAET FAET FAET FAET FTHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERE®R
Total assets BEE 7,781,556 8,119,334 7,668,493 5,667,343 6,580,445
Total liabilities FER=Riy (2,972,950) (2,506,542) (2,358,917) (1,614,554) (2,347,639)
4,808,606 5,612,792 5,309,576 4,052,789 4,232,806
EQUITY ER
Equity attributable to owners &R E A 2
of the Company e = 4,009,174 4,711,814 4,446,094 3,677,859 3,898,894
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR S 799,432 900,978 863,482 374,930 333,912

4,808,606 5,612,792 5,309,576 4,052,789 4,232,806

EmEZERAERLDA 2021 F 3R
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL PROPERH'IE'”I{-ES

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWZ
Group’s
Location and area Existing use Lease term interest
rE
NEREE BEEAZR H Fi it #E %
0.88 sg km land located at the west of the outer Undetermined use Leasehold with 75%
gate of Yangkou Town, Rudong County, i® RORTE RS long term
Nantong City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC FHHEERE
BT &k & m A T A0 SR B OF O SR SN P R
0.88F 7 RE i
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER FREPREWE
DEVELOPMENT
Estimated
Stage of completion Group’s
Location and area Existing use completion date interest
CHECRS &g
NEREE BEEAR TETHER B Frit s
2 sq km land under development located at the  Undetermined use Land leveling March 2022 75%
west of the outer gate of Yangkou Town, i® RORTE g stage 202243 A
Rudong County, Nantong City, TR ER
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
A BT % & ma T A0 SR B OF O SR N 7 AR
2R ARBERHEP L
STOCK OF PROPERTIES MEEFEE
Group’s
Location and area Existing use Lease term interest
xE
NEREE REAR THHA Frib s
2.01 sg km developed land located at the west of Held for sale Leasehold with 75%
the outer gate of Yangkou Town, Rudong County, BEHE long term
Nantong City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC RHHEERS
FP BT AR A B iR T a0 R & ¥ DS SN P A
201 FFREERE LM
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